
  
 

APOPKA CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
December 05, 2018 1:30 PM 

APOPKA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
INVOCATION 
PLEDGE 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

1. City Council regular meeting November 7, 2018. 
 

AGENDA REVIEW 

 
EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION: 

 Ten Year Service Award – William A. Bryant, IV – Police /Communications 
 Ten Year Service Award – Matthew A. Brown – Fire/Suppression  

 
PRESENTATIONS: 

1. Lake Apopka Natural Gas District.  Monica Marlow, Director of Marketing & Business Development 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD:  

The Public Comment Period is for City-related issues that may or may not be on today’s Agenda. If you are here for a matter that 
requires a public hearing, please wait for that item to come up on the agenda. If you wish to address the Council, you must fill out an 
Intent to Speak form and provide it to the City Clerk prior to the start of the meeting. If you wish to speak during the Public Comment 
Period, please fill out a green-colored Intent-to-Speak form. If you wish to speak on a matter that requires a public hearing, please fill 
out a white-colored Intent-to-Speak form. Speaker forms may be completed up to 48 hours in advance of the Council meeting. Each 
speaker will have four minutes to give remarks, regardless of the number of items addressed.  Please refer to Resolution No. 2016-16 
for further information regarding our Public Participation Policy & Procedures for addressing the City Council. 
 
CONSENT (Action Item) 

1. Approve the appointment of a new Planning Commission member.   
2. Authorize an agreement to remove the lead from the Police range berm. 
3. Authorize a Decorative Street Lighting Agreement with Silver Oak Phase 1. 
4. School Concurrency Mitigation Agreement for Carriage Hill, Phase 2. 
5. Sewer and Water Capacity Agreement for Carriage Hill, Phase 2. 
6. Authorize the issuance of blanket purchase order for multiple departments.  
7. Authorize the purchase of budgeted police vehicles. 
8. Approve the purchase of a budgeted garbage truck for the Sanitation division.  
9. Authorize the purchase of budgeted heavy equipment for multiple divisions in the Public Services department.  

10. Authorize the transfer of two Apopka Police surplus police vehicles to be donated to the Springfield Police Department. 
11. Authorize the closure of roads for the annual Apopka Christmas Parade.   
12. Approve the serving of alcohol at the Festival of Trees at the Museum of Apopkans.  

 
BUSINESS (Action Item) 

1. Final Development Plan – Special Ops Tactical Site Plan            Jean Sanchez 
Project:  Property Industrial Enterprises, LLC  
Location:  Lake Gem Commercial Industrial Park, Lot 8 
 

2. Joint Planning Agreement – 3rd Amendment – Between City of Apopka and Orange County                              James Hitt 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION (Action Item) 

1. Ordinance No. 2645 – Second Reading - Comp Plan – Large Scale Amendment Phil Martinez 
Project:  Kent Greer  
Location:  South of West Kelly Park Road, East of Round Lake Road 
 

2. Ordinance No. 2670 – First Reading - Comprehensive Plan – Large Scale Amendment            Phil Martinez 
Project: Radam Investment, LLC  
Location:  North of South Apopka Boulevard, west of South Lake Pleasant Road 
 

3.  Ordinance No. 2676 – First Reading – Administrative - Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale Amendment   David Moon 
 
 

1



  
 

4. Ordinance No. 2677 – First Reading – Administrative - Change of Zoning                                                   David Moon 
Project:  Renuka Prasad  
Location:  North of West Orange Blossom Trail, west of S.R. 429 
 

5. Ordinance No. 2682 – First Reading – Administrative - Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale Amendment   David Moon 
Project:  Douglas and Jeri Bankson  
Location:  585 East Sandpiper Street 
 

6. Ordinance No. 2683 – First Reading – Administrative - Change of Zoning                                                        David Moon 
Project:  Douglas and Jeri Bankson  
Location:  585 East Sandpiper Street 
 

7. Ordinance No. 2684 – First Reading – Administrative - Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale Amendment   David Moon 
Project:  Bryan and Debbie Nelson  
Location:  1157 Oakpoint Circle 
 

8. Ordinance No. 2685 – First Reading – Administrative - Change of Zoning                                                                David Moon 
Project:  Bryan and Debbie Nelson  
Location:  1157 Oakpoint Circle 
 

9. Ordinance No. 2686 – First Reading – Administrative - Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale Amendment   David Moon 
Project:  William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust  
Location:  1163 Oakpoint Circle 
  

10. Ordinance No. 2687 – First Reading – Administrative - Change of Zoning                                                            David Moon 
Project:  William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust  
Location:  1163 Oakpoint Circle 
 

11. Ordinance No. 2688 – First Reading – Administrative - Comprehensive Plan – Small Scale Amendment   David Moon 
Project:  Carlos Verduzco  
Location:  1175 Oakpoint Circle 
 

12. Ordinance No. 2689 - First Reading – Administrative - Change of Zoning          Phil Martinez 
Project:  Carlos Verduzco  
Location:  1175 Oakpoint Circle 
 

13. Ordinance No. 2690 – First Reading - Comprehensive Plan – Large Scale – Future Land Use Amendment       Phil Martinez 
Project:  Carrol M. and Patricia A. Hamrick  
Location:  North of West Ponkan Road, west of Mount Sterling Avenue 
 

14. Ordinance No.  2691 – First Reading - Comprehensive Plan – Large Scale – Future Land Use Amendment           Phil Martinez 
Project:  Cantero Holdings LLC  
Location:  West of Golden Gem Road, south of West Kelly Park Road  
 

15. Ordinance No. 2692 – First Reading – Annexation (SR 429 Group A)                                                                       James Hitt 
Ordinance No. 2693 – First Reading – Annexation (SR 429 Group B) 
Ordinance No. 2694 - First Reading – Annexation (SR 429 Group C) 
Ordinance No. 2695 – First Reading – Annexation (SR 429 Group D) 
Project: 429 West 
 

16. Ordinance No. 2696 – First Reading – Annexation                                                                                              Jean Sanchez 
Project:  CHS Management Corporation  
Location:  3443 Plymouth Sorrento Road, Plymouth Sorrento Road 
 

17. Ordinance No. 2698 - First Reading - Code of Ordinances - Recodification.        Linda Goff 
 
18. Resolution No. 2018-25 – Deeding City Owned Property to the State Of Florida Department Of Transportation   Pam Richmond 

 
CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR REPORT 
 
MAYOR’S REPORT 

1. Attorney status. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 

2



  
 

MEETINGS AND UPCOMING EVENTS 

DATE TIME EVENT 

December 6-8, 2018 See brochure Festival of Trees – Museum of the Apopkans 

December 6, 2018 5:30pm – 8:00pm Food Truck Round Up  

December 8, 2018 10:00am – 12:00pm Apopka Christmas Parade 

December 10, 2018 6:30pm –  CONA Meeting – UCF Apopka Business Incubator 

December 11, 2018 5:30pm – 7:30pm  Planning Commission Meeting 

December 15, 2018 11:00am – 12:00pm  Cookies & Milk with a Cop – NW Orange/Apopka Library 

December 18, 2018 6:00pm – Code Enforcement Hearing  

December 19, 2018 7:00pm –  City Council Meeting 

December 24, 2018  City Offices Closed in observance of Christmas Eve 

December 25, 2018  City Offices Closed in observance of Christmas Day 

January 2, 2019 1:30pm – City Council Meeting 

January 3, 2019 5:30pm – 8:00pm Food Truck Round Up  

January 8, 2019 5:30pm – 7:30pm  Planning Commission Meeting 

January 12, 2019 9:00am – 4:00pm  Cops & Firefighters for Cystic Fibrosis – NW Recreation Complex 

January 16, 2019 7:00pm –  City Council Meeting 

January 19, 2019 11:00am – 12:00pm  Cookies & Milk with a Cop – NW Orange/Apopka Library 

 
Individuals with disabilities needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should contact the City Clerk at least two (2) working days in 
advance of the meeting date and time at (407) 703-1704.  F.S. 286.0105 If a person decides to appeal any decision or recommendation made by 
Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting, he will need record of the proceedings, and that for such purposes he may need to ensure 
that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 
Any opening invocation that is offered before the official start of the Council meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private person, to and for the 
benefit of the Council.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the City Council or 
the city staff, and the City is not allowed by law to endorse the religious or non-religious beliefs or views of such speaker.  Persons in attendance at the 
City Council meeting are invited to stand during the opening ceremony. However, such invitation shall not be construed as a demand, order, or any other 
type of command.  No person in attendance at the meeting shall be required to participate in any opening invocation that is offered or to participate in the 
Pledge of Allegiance.  You may remain seated within the City Council Chambers or exit the City Council Chambers and return upon completion of the 
opening invocation and/or Pledge of Allegiance if you do not wish to participate in or witness the opening invocation and/or the recitation of the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
  

3



CIITY OF APOPKA 

 

Minutes of the regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, at 1:30 p.m., in 

the City of Apopka Council Chambers. 
 

PRESENT:   Mayor Bryan Nelson 

Commissioner Doug Bankson 

Commissioner Kyle Becker  

Commissioner Alice Nolan 

Commissioner Alexander Smith 

City Attorney Cliff Shepard 

City Administrator Edward Bass 

 

PRESS PRESENT:  Teresa Sargeant - The Apopka Chief 

    Reggie Connell, The Apopka Voice 

 

 

INVOCATION: - Mayor Nelson called on Deacon Jim Shelley of St. Francis of Assisi, who 

gave the invocation. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Nelson introduced Harmony Collen, SGA President, 

Apopka High School, who said World War One ended at the eleventh hour on the eleventh day 

of the eleventh month in 1918. She then led in the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Mayor Nelson also recognized: 

Desiree Birriel, SGA Vice President and Homecoming Queen 

Dewey and Daisy Darter (Kameron Wade and Elena Korkes) 

Angels, (Dewey & Daisy’s body men - Abbey Bankson and Dianna McNeil) 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

1. City Council regular meeting October 17, 2018. 

2. City Council/Planning Commission joint workshop October 18, 2018. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to 

approve the minutes of October 17, 2018, and October 18, 2018, as presented.  Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith 

and Nolan voting aye.  

 

AGENDA REVIEW – City Administrator Bass advised Consent Agenda Item #4 was not in the 

electronic version. Each Commissioner received a copy and copies were on the table for any 

public that wanted to review.  Mayor Nelson advised people were present wanting to comment 

on Item #4 of the Consent, so this will be pulled as a separate item.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT; STAFF RECOGNITION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 

EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION: 

 Antonio Batista – Fire / EMS – Five Year Service Award. The Commissioners joined 

Mayor Nelson in congratulating Antonio on his years of service. 

4



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 2 

 Haley R. Lovell – Police / Communications – Five Year Service Award. Haley was not 

present and her award will be presented at another time. 

 Mandy E. Mathis – Fire / EMS – Five Year Service Award. Mandy was not present and 

her award will be presented at another time. 

 Donna L. Saladin – Police / Communications – Five Year Service Award. The 

Commissioners joined Mayor Nelson in congratulating Donna on her years of service. 

 Dylan C. Spencer – Fire / EMS – Five Year Service Award. The Commissioners joined 

Mayor Nelson in congratulating Dylan on his years of service. 

 Jason C. Watson – Fire / EMS – Ten Year Service Award. Jason was not present and will 

be presented his award at another time. 

 Dwight L. Ashton – Fire / EMS – Fifteen Year Service Award. Dwight was not present 

and will be presented his award at another time. 

 

PROCLAMATIONS: 

1. Recognition of Apopka as a Purple Heart City. 

Mayor Nelson invited Fred Robinson to come forward to introduce distinguished guests 

present. He introduced Ernie Rivera with the Military Order of the Purple Heart, Dana 

Galwin, and Retired United States Marine Corp General Arnold Fields. 

 

Mayor Nelson read a proclamation supporting Apopka’s military veteran population and 

proclaimed the City of Apopka as a Purple Heart City encouraging citizens to continue 

support of our military heroes.  

 

Fred Robinson presented Purple Heart Special Recognition plaque to the City of Apopka for 

the City’s dedication and support of wounded veterans and becoming a Purple Heart City.  
 

PRESENTATIONS: 

1. Waste Water Plant Expansion. 

Jay Davoll, Public Services Director, provide an update with background regarding the 

Waste Water Plant expansion. The old plant was a combination of two plants with a capacity 

of 4.5 million gallons a day. He reported the city is expanding to 8 million gallons a day and 

new technology to help reduce nitrogen and help the environment. Construction began in 

October 2016. He advised the east side is under substantial completion and they are working 

on the west side. He advised this should serve the city’s capacity through 2030. The project is 

around $65 million and funded through the State Revolving Fund. He stated they evaluated 

two options for this process and it was determined to add a second anoxic basin due to the 

proven efficient removal of nutrients and the long-term economic benefit. The environmental 

benefits are also improved through this. The plant location is at Cleveland and this site has 

been in use for more than 40 years and regularly maintained. He advised the loan will be paid 

through impact fees and customer payments.  He advised the project is currently 

approximately 85% complete. He stated the east side plant is substantially completed and 

they are fully working on the west side now, which is 33% complete. The entire project is 

estimated to be complete in April 2019. He reviewed aerial photographs of the Water 

Reclamation Facility.  

 

5



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 3 

In response to Mayor Nelson, Mr. Davoll advised that last year the City spent approximately 

$250,000 to haul off waste. This will now go through a drying process and utilized as 

fertilizer.  

 

2. Debt Overview Presentation 

Jamie Roberson, Finance Director, said that Angela Singleton, Assistant Vice President of 

Hilltop Securities will be presenting the debt overview. She advised this was not just in 

reference to the wastewater plant, but the current outstanding debt of the city as a whole. 

 

Ms. Singleton advised the city currently has General Fund, Sanitation System, and Utility 

System debt outstanding. The General Fund has approximately $10.7 million outstanding in 

bonds and bank loans. In addition, there is a $4.7 million in leases outstanding. The 

Sanitation System has $249,000 in bank loans outstanding. The Water and Sewer System has 

$80 million in debt outstanding and this includes the $14 million in bonds issues in 2012 and 

approximately $66 million in State Revolving Loan Funds for the wastewater system that 

was just discussed. She pointed out that all of this has not yet been disbursed.  The Utility 

System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, are the only ones with a Moody rating of 

Aa2 and she advised this is a high quality rating.  The City is considered a low credit risk. A 

copy of the presentation is on file in the Finance Department and the City Clerk’s office. 

 

Ms. Roberson pointed out that a draft policy for a potential Debt Management Policy and a 

Disclosure Policy were included in the packets.  She advised they were not requesting any 

action on these at this time, but after discussions with each Commissioner, they will bring 

back some modifications to these policies for approval in the near future.  

 

Public Comment: 

Helen Zanders said she was here from Zanders Funeral Home a family owned business that has 

been in the City of Apopka since 1970.  She said she was in the process of doing some 

remodeling and upgrading of the facility. Upon contacting the City she was informed that she 

would have to switch over to city sewer and would incur impact fees in the amount of $20,000.  

She stated she was in an existing building and not redoing the entire facility. The request was to 

tap the existing building to a location where plumbing was to be added. She said this put her in a 

stand still as far as receiving the permit for plumbing.  She does currently have city water and 

garbage.  

 

Mr. Bass advised the City has bond covenant that is restrictive and the impact fees we are 

required to collect because of this. He advised there were ways the City can work with them on 

payment of the impact fees and he would be willing to meet with her to go over and review 

various options. 

 

Mayor Nelson said she was in the CRA and there may possibly be programs available.  

 

CONSENT 
1. Approve the calendar year 2019 Floating Holiday.  

2. Authorize the presentation of service weapons to retired members of the Police Department. 

3. Authorize expenditures from Law Enforcement trust funds for investigative buys and 

undercover operations.  

4. Authorize the purchase of herbicide for Lake McCoy in coordination with Orange County.   

6



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 4 

5. School Concurrency Agreement with Apopka Farms. 

6. Sewer and Water Capacity Agreement with San Sebastian Reserve. 

7. Sewer and Water Capacity Agreement with Vista Reserve. 

8. Approve the first extension of two continuing service contracts for Geotechnical and 

Environmental Engineering Services.  

9. Approve the first extension of multiple continuing service contracts for Professional 

Engineering Services.  

10. Authorize a purchase for an emergency purchase of a mobile pump for the Utility 

Maintenance Division. 

11. Authorize the purchase of two new replacement pumps for sewer lift stations utilizing the 

Florida Sheriffs Association Contract. 

12. Authorize a purchase for an emergency repair at the North Shore Reuse Water Pump Station. 

13. Authorize the purchase of vehicles and equipment utilizing the Florida Sheriffs Association 

Contract. 

14. Authorize the issuance of blanket purchase orders for the Utilities and Sanitation Divisions.  

 

Consent Item 4 was pulled for separate discussion and action.  

 

 MOTION by Commissioner Smith, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to approve 

items 1-3 and 5-14 on the Consent Agenda. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor 

Nelson and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, and Nolan voting aye.  

 

Edward Bass, City Administrator, said the City was approached by Orange County in 2016 

regarding the possibility of an interlocal agreement to help with the Lake McCoy residents. 

He said Lake McCoy was a private lake with 55% of the citizens in Orange County and 45% 

in the City of Apopka. Since this is a private lake our Stormwater Assessment cannot be 

utilized. He stated the City’s legal team is working with the County on an interlocal 

agreement to where our citizens will be part of the MSBU which is administered by Orange 

County. He said this will give the Apopka residents in this area a say regarding the 

maintenance of this lake. He advised there was funding in the budget for this one-time 

expense to the City.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened public comment. 

 

Jack Cooper lives in the County and has been paying into this for 8-10 years. He said in 

2016, then Commissioner Nelson, got the County together and had the residents paying into 

their taxes for this. He stated they thought the City residents would automatically be paying 

into it as well, but they were not. He thanked Mr. Bass and Mayor Nelson for bringing this 

forward. He advised his assessment was approximately $230 a year on his taxes. He said 

Lake McCoy feeds north, across Sandpiper and goes up into Wekiva and is based on runoff.  

 

Dennis Wilcox said he has lived on Lake McCoy for 30 years now and he has seen the levels  

go up and down, have hydrilla and lilly pads in the lake. He declared it is in the worst shape 

than it has been in 30 years. He stated they had carp in the lake, but it appears that when the 

water level went up the carp fence was knocked down and water was rushing out, so nothing 

was attacking the hydrilla. He said at one time they went door to door for donations for 

herbicide prior to the MSBU.  

 

7



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 5 

Mayor Nelson advised he would be abstaining on this item since he has access to a dock and 

lives in the neighborhood.  

 

No one else wishing to speak, public comment was closed. 

 

 MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to 

approve Consent Item 4. Motion carried 4-0-1 with Commissioners Bankson, Becker, 

Smith, and Nolan voting aye, and Mayor Nelson abstained.  

 

BUSINESS 

1. UCF Incubator lease and renovations. 

Jim Hitt, Community Development Director, said this was a continuation of a discussion 

Council voted on last month regarding the UCF Incubator where funding was approved for 

$45,000 toward renovation of a building Florida Hospital/Advent Health owns at 205 North 

Park Avenue, along with an additional $5,000 toward the actual move. Today, there are four 

items being requested; 1) authorize staff to execute the agreement with Florida Hospital for 

the lease; 2) authorization for a sublease with UCF; 3) waive permit fees for the building 

renovation and inspections; and 4) authorize staff to coordinate with the contractor for 

renovations.  He pointed out on pages 6 and 9 there are references to the UCF Business 

Incubation program and those should be the City of Apopka in this case. He pointed out that 

page 1 references a month-to-month lease and the City will request a year lease with a 60 day 

out clause.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to approve 

the lease and renovations for the UCF Incubator with the noted corrections. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, 

and Nolan voting aye.  

 

2. Final Development Plan – 7-Eleven Rebuiild 

 Project: 7-Eleven Inc. c/o Craig Cornelison, P.E. 

 Location: 2229 East Semoran Boulevard. 

Jean Sanchez, Planner, said this request was to approve the 7-Eleven Rebuild Final 

Development Plan for the property located at 2229 East Semoran Boulevard. She reviewed an 

aerial of the property and advised this is for an additional square footage of 1,280 square feet. 

The project has been determined a redevelopment plan based on Section 6.07(A) Hardship 

Waiver, of the Land Develoment Code. A total of 33 parking spaces will be provided as 

required by code, one of which will be a handicap parking space. DRC recommends approval. 

The Planning Commission recommended approval at their October 23, 2018 meeting.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed the 

public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Smith, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to approve 

the Final Development Plan for 7-Eleven Rebuild. Motion carried unanimous with 

Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

8



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 6 

 

 

3. Final Development Plan – Apopka Business Complex Addition 

 Project: Little Brownie Properties, Inc.  

 Location: 1350 Sheeler Avenue 

Ms. Sanchez provided a review of the Apopka Business Complex Addition Final 

Development Plan. She reviewed the location of the project on an aerial map. The proposed 

building is 30,050 square feet in size and dedicated to light industrial flexible use space that 

includes product storage and private offices. She stated the applicant has requested a reduction 

of a 50-foot buffer to a 30-foot buffer with enhanced landscaping.  Access will remain via 

Sheeler Road. DRC and Planning Commission recommend approval.  

 

Steve Allen, Civil Engineer and representing the applicant, said they agree with staff 

recommendations and are present to answer any questions. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed the 

public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Becker, to 

approve the Final Development Plan for Apopka Business Complex Addition. Motion 

carried unanimous with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, 

and Nolan voting aye. 

 

4. Final Development Plan – Meadow View Apartments  

 Project: Allonde Development, LLC  

 Location: 1611 Vick Road 

Pam Richmond, Transportation Planner, said this was a request to approve the Final 

Development Plan for Meadow View Apartments, a 43-unit luxury multifamily apartment 

complex. She reviewed the location of the project on a map and the surrounding land uses. 

The plan is for five two-story buildings and the complex will be comprised of 4 one-bedroom 

units, 30 two-bedroom units, and 9 three-bedroom units with the minimum size of 771 square 

feet. The applicant meets the parking requirements with additional spaces for overflow 

parking. Upon review by the Planning Commission, they recommended one handicap parking 

space at each building. The applicant agreed to add two handicap spaces for this reason. There 

will be one access point near Vick Road. Condition of approval has been placed requiring the 

developer and future property owner to trim back the trees and shrubs located on the city 

right-of-way on the east side of Vick Road and to keep the line of site clear in the future. The 

applicant agreed to install a left turn lane at the entrance. DRC recommends approval and 

Planning Commission recommends approval with the two additional handicap parking spaces.  

 

Steve Allen, said he was the Civil Engineer for this project and available for questions. In 

response to Commissioner Becker, he advised coming from Welch Road to Vick Road, the 

buildings will be approximately 10-feet below Vick Road.  

 

Discussion ensued regarding the walls or fence. Mr. Moon advised the Land Development 

Code would allow up to 50% of the wall to be wrought iron style fence with pillars. Mr. Hitt 

advised the area directly across from Welch Road will require a solid wall due to the 

headlights from vehicles.  

9



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 7 

 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed the 

public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to approve 

the Final Development Plan for Meadow View Apartments. Motion carried unanimously 

with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye.  

 

5. Final Development Plan – Sterling Title 

 Project: Prograde Homes, Inc., c/o Bryan Blake  

 Location: 217 South Highland Avenue 

Ms. Sanchez reviewed the Final Development Plan for Sterling Title.  She reviewed the 

location east of Highland Avenue and south of Monroe Avenue. The location was reviewed 

on an aerial map.  This is the conversion of an existing residential structure with 1,337 square 

feet of area to an office use. There will not be any square footage added to the building and 

the ingress/egress will be via Highland Avenue. The applicant requested a reduction of 

required minimum length of a tandem parking space from 18 feet to 16 feet due to minimum 

space. She advised the landscaping plan meets the requirements of the Land Development 

Code.  Planning Commission recommends approval.  

 

Eric Lagassey, Linn Engineering, was present for any questions. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to approve 

the Final Development Plan for Sterling Title. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor 

Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye.  

 

6. Final Development Plan/Plat – Carriage Hill, Phase II Subdivision  

 Project:  JTD Land at Rogers Rd, LLC  

 Location: 1455 West Lester Road and West Lester Road 

Ms. Sanchez said this request was to approve the Carriage Hill, Phase II, Subdivision Final 

Development Plan and Plat. She reviewed the location stating it is a continuation of the 

subdivision. The Final Development Plan is consistent with the Preliminary Development 

Plan that was approved by Council on September 5, 2018. The Planning Commission 

recommends approval. The recommendation is to approve the Final Development Plan/Plat 

for Carriage Hill, Phase II.  

 

Chris Allen, Dewberry Engineering, was present to answer any questions.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to approve 

the Final Development Plan for Carriage Hill, Phase II Subdivision. Motion carried 

10



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 8 

unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and 

Nolan voting aye.  

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION 
1. Ordinance No. 2657 – Second Reading – Right-of-Way Vacate 

Project:  Mid-Florida Freezer Warehouse Ltd., c/o Pat Lee  

Location: South of U.S. Highway 441, East of Hermit Smith Road and West of US 441. 

The Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2657 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, TO VACATE A RIGHT 

OF WAY, KNOWN AS FRONDS ROAD LOCATED SOUTH OF U.S. 

HIGHWAY 441, EAST OF S.R. 429; IN SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 21, 

RANGE 27, OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA; PROVIDING 

DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, FOR SEVERABILITY, FOR 

CONFLICTS AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Pam Richardson, Transportation Planner, said there have been no changes since the first 

reading. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Bankson, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2657. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

2. Ordinance No. 2680 – Second Reading – Utility Easement Vacate 

Project:  Willie and Cynthia McInvale 

Location: 1541 Islay Court.   The Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2680 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, TO VACATE A PORTION 

OF THE EASEMENT AT THE REAR OF 1541 ISLAY COURT, LOCATED 

NORTH OF ISLAY COURT, WEST OF TOURNAMENT DRIVE; 

PROVIDING DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, FOR SEVERABILITY, 

FOR CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Phil Martinez, Planner, said there were no changes since the first reading.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

11



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 9 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2680. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

3. Resolution 2018-23 – FY 17/18 Budget Amendment.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-23 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, 

FLORIDA, AMENDING THE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2017, AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2018, 

PROVIDING FOR A BUDGET AMENDMENT.   

 

Jamie Roberson, Finance Director, reviewed Resolution No. 2018-23 and the associated 

budget amendments.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Becker to approve 

Resolution No. 2018-23. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

4. Resolution 2018-24 – FY 18/19 Budget Amendment 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-24 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, 

FLORIDA, AMENDING THE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2018, AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2019, 

PROVIDING FOR A BUDGET AMENDMENT. 

 

Jamie Roberson, Finance Director, reviewed Resolution No 2018-24 and the associated 

budget amendments.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Becker to approve 

Resolution No. 2018-24. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

1. Appointment of Brian Forman as the Recreation Director. 

 

Mr. Bass said he was seeking ratification of the appointment of Brian Forman as the Recreation 

Director. He said this position was advertised and there were several qualified candidates. 

Following interviews it was felt Mr. Forman was a good fit for our Recreation Department. He 

has 22 years of experience as a municipal recreation director, is a certified recreation 

professional and served in Apopka previously as Recreation Maintenance Manager. He currently 

serves the City of Bartow as Recreation Director.  

 

12



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 10 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to ratify the 

appointment of Brian Forman as Recreation Director.  Motion carried unanimously with 

Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

Mr. Bass said a few weeks ago discussion was held regarding temporary closing of Bradshaw 

Road for an emergency replacement of a generator for Lift Station 77. Public Services will be 

providing this closure on Tuesday, November 13, 2018, from 9:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. 

 

He reported DEO had been requested to approve the award to MIE, Inc. for construction of 

Alonzo Williams Community Center. He said we received approval and the preconstruction 

meeting will be held next week.  

 

CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

Before going into this matter, Commissioner Becker recognized that Apopka lost a great 

Apopkan in Ms. Bell Gillium.  

 

1.  Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance: Hours of Sale 

Commissioner Becker said he was not trying to change the Ordinance recently adopted, but 

he would like to revert to the time that was in the previous Ordinance language in terms of 

non-restaurant hours of operation. The previous ordinance allowed on premise sells to start 

at 9:00 a.m. for non-restaurant, but the change took it to 11:00 a.m.  The ability for a 

restaurant to serve mimosas or similar beverages is not allowed.  He would like to revert 

back to 9:00 a.m. that was in the previous language. He stated this did not seem to adversely 

or negatively impact any businesses.  

 

Commissioner Nolan said she would like to have more time to consider this.  

 

Mr. Bass advised if this were to change it would require an ordinance.  

 

Commissioner Bankson reported there was a meeting on the trip to Israel that is coming up 

in January. There were representatives there from the City and business representatives. 

This was very well received.  

 

Commissioner Nolan said there were many volunteers that worked on the Lodge and she 

appreciated all who came out.  

 

Commissioner Smith said he called the County regarding Michael Gladden Boulevard and 

possibly having four lanes. He said this started conversation regarding widening and the 

traffic issues. He announced that he was having a “Calling a Few Good Men” conference on 

Saturday at the VFW Post from 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. 

  

MAYOR’S REPORT –  

1. Framed 1951 Towne of Apopka Municipal Bond donated anonymously to the City of 

Apopka.  

Mayor Nelson said there was an anonymous donor at the John Land Trust Gala last week to 

donate a bond dated August 15, 1921. He stated they will be hanging this in City Hall.  

 

13



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on November 7, 2018, 1:30 p.m.  

Page 11 

Mayor Nelson reported and congratulated George Garcia and Curtis Johnson who just passed 

the Orange County Class-A Underground Utilities Pipeline contractor exam.  

 

Mayor Nelson said there was a group here from Sweden yesterday discussing our 

government and how we operate, as well as they were able to go to the VFW Polling site to 

see how our voting operates.  

 

Mayor Nelson thanked the Rotary Club for the amazing job at Kit Land Nelson Park. He 

thanked Recreation and Streets for their hard work getting this park ready. He reported the 

fly over is at 5:00 p.m. at Kit Land Nelson Park and the program starts at 6:00 p.m.  

 

ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business the meeting adjourned at 3:24 p.m.  

 

 

 

       ______________________________ 

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST; 

 

 
_______________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

 

14



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  December 5, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:           Community Development  

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        Application 

       OTHER:                             Resume 
  

 

SUBJECT: APPOINTMENT OF A MEMBER TO THE APOPKA PLANNING COMMISSION  

 

REQUEST: APPROVE APPOINTMENT OF A MEMBER TO THE PLANNING 

COMMISSION FOR A THREE (3) YEAR TERM 
  
SUMMARY: 

The City of Apopka’s Planning Commission is established as a citizen board to review and recommend to 

the City Council, approval or denial of development plans, amendments to the zoning map, amendments to 

the Land Development Code, proposed subdivision plats, proposed site plans, and future land use map 

amendments. 

 
In accordance with Florida Statutes, the Planning Commission serves as the City’s “Local Planning 

Agency” when reviewing and recommending to the City Council, any future land use amendments to the 

Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Map. 

 
There are seven members that are appointed by the Mayor and approved by the City Council. Members are 

appointed to three-year terms and must reside within the city limits. The Planning Commission normally 

meets on the second Tuesday of each month at 5:30 P.M. Additional meetings are scheduled depending on 

the subject or volume of applications. 

 
At this time one member is due for re-appointment in order to fill the place of Jose Molina who has 

resigned.   Mayor Nelson has appointed William Gusler, legal resident, to the Planning Commission for a 

three-year term ending December 5, 2021. Pursuant to §11.05.00 B.1., City of Apopka Code of 

Ordinances, this mayoral appointment requires approval by City Council. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve appointment of William Gusler as a Planning Commission Member for a three year term.  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

15



16



17



18



19



20



21



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  December 5, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Police Department 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:               Agreement  

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:  FIRING RANGE LEAD MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 

 

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE POLICE CHIEF TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH 

METALS TREATMENT TECHNOLOGIES, LLC (MT2) TO REMOVE THE 

LEAD FROM THE POLICE RANGE BERM AND RESTORE THE BERM TO ITS 

ORIGINAL CONDITION.  
  
SUMMARY: 

 

Metals Treatment Technologies, LLC (MT2) has provided a fixed price proposal to the City of Apopka 

for lead maintenance at the Apopka Police Training Range. MT2’s objectives are to provide firing range 

lead maintenance services that will support in mitigating potential physical, occupational, and 

environmental hazards associated with high concentrations of lead in the backstop berms at the range; as 

well as achieving compliance with various state and local entities for recommended firing range 

environmental Best Management Practices (BMPs). The costs for services are $59,500 for the contract 

and $2,000 for the soil to be provided by the city ($61,500). The recovered lead will be sold as a revenue 

source to off-set the overall cost of remediation.  

 

The proposal is on GSA contract (Professional Services Schedule 47QRAA18D00CS) as well as MT2 

being used on various local ranges with professional outcomes.  

  
FUNDING SOURCE (Various): 
 

General Fund   001.2230.521.6300  $36,900 

Federal Forfeiture 103.2291.521.6300  $12,300 

Abandoned Property 106.2220.521.6322  $12,300    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the agreement and purchase. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

22



 

Corporate Office: 14045 W 66th Avenue; Arvada, CO 80004    Ph: 303-456-6977 Fax 303-456-6998 
Offices Nationwide 888-435-6645 www.mt2.com 

 
November 162, 2018 
 
Deputy Chief Randy Fernandez      rfernandez@apopka.net 
Mr. Jeff Plaugher        jmplaugher@apopka.net  
City of Apopka  
112 E 6th St 
Apopka, FL 32703 
 
RE: PROPOSAL FOR FIRING RANGE LEAD MAINTENANCE  

CITY OF APOPKA TRAINING RANGE  
 
Dear Sirs:  
 

Metals Treatment Technologies, LLC (MT2) is pleased to present this firm fixed 
price proposal for lead maintenance at the City of Apopka Training Range 
located at 333 Snowden Road in Apopka, Florida. This proposal is submitted 
pursuant to information provided by the City of Apopka (City) including, an 
MT2 range questionnaire and telephone discussions, as well pictures, and soil 
samples provided to MT2 June 2018. MT2’s objectives are to provide firing 
range lead maintenance services that will support in mitigating potential 
physical, occupational, and environmental hazards associated with high 
concentrations of lead in the backstop berms at the range; as well as achieving 
compliance with OSHA, US EPA, State, and NRA and NSSF recommended firing 
range environmental Best Management Practices (BMPs). 
 

 
https://www.gsaelibrary.gsa.gov/ElibMain/contractorInfo.do?contractNumber=47QRAA18D00CS&contractorName=METALS+T

REATMENT+TECHNOLOGIES%2C+LLC&executeQuery=YES 

 
MT2 has unmatched firing range services credentials and capabilities:  

✓ MT2’s Liability Defender Compliance & Performance Promise: Your choice of a lead reclamation 
contractor could expose your range to US EPA hazardous waste fines up to $10,000 per day and 
potential criminal charges. A range owner ALWAYS retains responsibility for ALL lead waste and 
materials derived from their range even if it is their chosen contractor that improperly handles, 
transports, or disposes of the lead waste. MT2 has never received a US EPA violation, penalty or 
fine, and we have never left a project uncompleted. Our promise to you: MT2 is committed to 
stand with you and defend your firing range from the liability of lead hazards. We offer 
$10,000,000 environmental and pollution liability coverage to protect range owners from claims 
or occurrences of lead hazard violations, penalties and cleanup expenses.  

  

MT2 is the Nation’s #1 Firing 
Range Maintenance/Reclamation 

Services Provider  

• MT2 provides the most 
comprehensive liability protection for 
range owners in the industry  

• Over 2,500 firing range projects 
nationwide 

• Recovery of > 15,000,000 lbs of lead 

• Successful treatment of > 10,000,000 
tons of lead impacted soils 

• Credited > $5,000,000 to range 
owners from lead recycling 

Save time and procurement costs – order your firing range lead solution 
services directly using GSA’s pre-qualified contractor. 

 
GSA Advantage!® (www.gsa.gov/advantage) is the online shopping and ordering system that 

provides access to thousands of contractors and millions of supplies (products) and services. Anyone 
may browse on GSA Advantage!® to view and compare the variety of products and services offered. 

  
Click here to find Metals Treatment Technologies, LLC on GSA eLibrary. 

23



MT2 Proposal  
Firing Range Lead Maintenance 
Page 2 
 

Corporate Office: 14045 W 66th Avenue; Arvada, CO 80004    Ph: 303-456-6977 Fax 303-456-6998 
Offices Nationwide 888-435-6645 www.mt2.com 

✓ Lead Removal and Recycling Expertise: MT2 has performed lead removal and recycling 
nationwide using a variety of proprietary lead separation technologies to remove and recycle 
over 15,000,000 lbs. of lead. To maximize lead recovery, MT2 will use one of our proprietary lead 
separation systems. Each system utilizes a multi-tiered screening plant to separate lead from soils 
based on size and one of our proprietary pneumatic separation units (PSU) to “finish” the 
separation process by separating lead from like-size materials based on density. In addition, MT2 
maintains contracts with lead recyclers nationwide to ensure top dollar is returned for lead. 

✓ Experienced, Professional Contractor: MT2 is recognized as the nation’s leading provider of 
firing range lead removal, remediation and maintenance services. We maintain offices and crews 
nationwide, and with experienced crews ready to respond to fulfill the needs and schedule for 
your project. MT2 has completed over 2,500 firing range projects nationwide. A list of 
representative projects is provided in Section 4.0 MT2 Experience. 

✓ Staff Experience and Expertise: Our personnel have on average 24 years industry experience. 
This expertise saves time and money for our customers since there will be no learning curve that 
may be incurred by less experienced firms. MT2 field staff maintain applicable OSHA HAZWOPER 
certifications. 

✓ As the Nation’s leading provider of Firing Range Maintenance/Reclamation Services, MT2 is 
regularly sole-sourced based on our extensive experience and unique, proprietary lead 
reclamation and lead treatment technology. MT2 can provide example justifications which has 
been successfully utilized by other agencies, to contract MT2’s services via sole-source in order to 
expedite remediation activities. 

✓ MT2 offers a Guaranteed Solution at a Guaranteed Price leading to the most cost-effective and 
technically sound firing range maintenance.  

To discuss your project in further detail, please contact me at (888) 435-6645 or email: jbarthel@mt2.com. 

 
Sincerely Yours, 
 
 
 
James M. Barthel 
President and CEO 

 

24



 

MT2, LLC (MT2) has prepared this Proposal to address the specific requirements of the project referenced within this Proposal and 
contains proprietary and confidential information. This Proposal is the sole property of MT2 and must be returned upon demand. By 
accepting this Proposal, the recipient agrees to keep confidential the information and concepts contained herein or made in connection 
with any further investigation of the Company. Any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this Proposal for other than 
the above stated purpose is prohibited. By accepting this Proposal, the recipient agrees not to disclose copy, distribute or use this 
information for other than its intended purpose, as stated above, in whole or in part without the prior written consent of MT2. 

 
 

 

 

 

Firm Fixed Price Proposal 
Firing Range Lead Maintenance  
City of Apopka Training Range  
 
  

Prepared for: 
 

City of Apopka 
112 E 6th Street 
Apopka, FL 32703  

 
Prepared by: 

MT2, LLC 
14045 W 66th Ave; Arvada, CO 80004 
www.mt2.com   888-435-6645 
 

 
 
November 16, 2018 

25



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

 

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page i  

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

1.0 FIRING RANGE LEAD MAINTENANCE ................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Project Description ............................................................................................................. 1 

2.0 TECHNICAL APPROACH ......................................................................................................................... 2 

2.1 Mobilization, Site Set-Up, and Plan Preparation (applicable if marked ☒) ........................ 2 

2.2 Excavation, Screening, and Recycling ................................................................................. 3 

2.3 Optional ECOBOND® Treatment ......................................................................................... 3 

2.4 Range Restoration............................................................................................................... 3 

2.5 Final Report ......................................................................................................................... 4 

2.6 Optional Environmental Stewardship Plan ......................................................................... 4 

2.7 Project Schedule ................................................................................................................. 4 

3.0 UPDATED BUDGETARY PRICING ........................................................................................................... 5 

3.1 Pricing Assumptions ............................................................................................................ 5 

3.2 Contract Assumptions ......................................................................................................... 6 

4.0 MT2 EXPERIENCE .................................................................................................................................. 7 

5.0 OVERVIEW OF ECOBOND® TECHNOLOGIES ......................................................................................... 9 

 
 

 

26



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 1  

1.0 FIRING RANGE LEAD MAINTENANCE  

MT2 proposes to provide firing range lead maintenance services at the at the City of Apopka Training 
Range located at 333 Snowden Road in Apopka, Florida. All work will be performed in accordance with 
applicable Federal, State, and local safety and environmental regulations including US Department of 
Labor regulations as well as achieving compliance with OSHA, US EPA, State, and NRA and NSSF 
recommended firing range environmental Best Management Practices (BMPs).  
 
1.1 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Based on information contained in the range questionnaire completed by range personnel, backstop 
berms have not been subjected to lead reclamation since construction and soils consist of sugar sand. 
Based on reported range usage and typical usage at similar ranges, it is reasonable to expect 10-20 tons 
of lead may be recovered and recycled from the shooting range backstop berm and apron area soils. MT2 
has estimated soil quantities for processing pending final specifications. MT2 will excavate and process 
soil from the backstop berms until lead reclamation becomes economically infeasible and/or 80-90% of 
lead bullets and bullet fragments (measured as weight percent) are removed. 
 
Estimated Project Quantities  
 

Range/Berm 
Berm Width 

(linear ft)  
Berm Face 
Height (ft) 

Est. Cut Depth 
(avg. ft bgs) 

Est. Soil 
Volume (CY) 

Range 1 Backstop Berm Impact Zone  80 16 2 95 

Range 1 Backstop Apron Area 80’ x 10’ .5 15 

Range 2 Backstop Berm Impact Zone 100 10 2 148 

Range 2 Backstop Apron Area 100’ x 10’ .5 19 

 Total 277 
 

Facility Map: City of Apopka Training Range  

 

  

Range 1: Lead-
Impact Zone of 
Backstop Berm 

Range 1: Backstop 
Berm Apron Area 

Potential 
Processing 

Area 

Range 2: Lead-
Impact Zone of 
Backstop Berm 

Range 2: Backstop 
Berm Apron Area 

27



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 2  

2.0 TECHNICAL APPROACH 

   

Berm Excavation Lead Removal & Recycling Berm Reconstruction 

 
This technical approach for firing range lead maintenance includes:  

• Berm Excavation: Excavate soil from the operating backstop berms and apron area 

• Lead Reclamation: Separate lead bullets/bullet fragments from the excavated soils  

• Lead Recycling: Recycle recovered lead providing Customer 50% split of the value of recycled lead  

• Berm Reconstruction: Re-install processed soils back onto the firing range berms  
 
MT2 can provide the following optional services if requested; Section 3.0 provides pricing: 

☒ Optional: Installation and placement of Customer-provided sand/clay mixture -3/4” or ballistic sand mixture 
to supplement processed materials and/or raise he berm height (other specifications pending)  

☒ Optional: ECOBOND® treatment of processed range soils to achieve 5.0 mg/L TCLP concentration for lead 
prior to reconstruction of berm to meet USEPA Best Management Practices for Lead at Outdoor Shooting 
Ranges (USEPA, 2005) 

☒ Optional: Complete an environmental review of the range and prepare a range-specific Environmental 
Stewardship Plan (ESP) to support future range management and ensure compliance with USEPA BMPs 

 

2.1 MOBILIZATION, SITE SET-UP, AND PLAN PREPARATION (APPLICABLE IF MARKED ☒) 

 Tasks to be completed by MT2 

☒ Mobilize personnel and equipment mobilization to the project site  

☒ Prepare the following project plans 

 ☒ Work Plan ☒ Health & Safety Plan ☐ Waste Management Plan 

 ☐ SWPPP ☐ Erosion Control Plan ☐  

☒ Complete a site walk-over with Customer representative to identify excavation/processing areas 

☒ Establish temporary access, site access control, traffic control, and placing appropriate signage  

☒ Set up of processing area and equipment 

Tasks to be completed by Customer 

☒ Obtain necessary approvals/permits (with the support of MT2) 

☒ Ensure MT2 safe access to the range site 

☒ Complete utility locates 

☒ Vegetation removal, if applicable 
☒ Protect or remove knee walls, if applicable 
☒ Remove target stands/systems, if applicable 

 
  

28



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 3  

2.2 EXCAVATION, SCREENING, AND RECYCLING 

Tasks to be completed by MT2 

☒ Excavate estimated depth of 1.0-2.0 feet of soil from the backstop berms or deeper if 
concentrations of bullets appear economically feasible to recover at deeper depths 

☒ Remove 80%-90% or more (weight percent) of the lead bullets/bullet fragments greater than 
1/4“– 3/8” from the lead impacted range soils using one of our separation systems to remove lead 
from soils based on size and “finish” the separation process using one of our proprietary 
pneumatic separation units (PSU) to separate lead from like-size materials based on density 

☒ Containerize and securely store recovered lead for shipment  

☒ Coordinate and ship recovered lead to a licensed lead recycler 1/ 

☒ Provide Customer with lead transport documentation and Certificate of Recycling 

1/ MT2 will provide Customer a 50% split of the net value of the recycled lead  

 
2.3 OPTIONAL ECOBOND® TREATMENT  

Application of a lead stabilization reagent such as ECOBOND® to firing range soils is a US EPA BMP (US 
EPA Best Management Practices at Outdoor Shooting Ranges, 2005).  
 

Tasks to be completed by MT2 (if this option is selected) 
☐ Lead-Impacted Soil Treatment: Chemically treat lead fines remaining in screened soil with 

ECOBOND® to meet US EPA Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) hazardous lead 
Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure (TCLP) of 5.0 mg/L to significantly reduce leachability 
of lead (Pb) into surface soils and reduce the potential for lead (Pb) infiltration to groundwater as 
measured by SPLP (see Attached Overview of ECOBOND® Technologies) 

☐ Treatment Confirmation Sampling: Following a 12–24 hour post-treatment curing period, MT2 will 
take a 5-point composite sample from treated soil; sample(s) will be sent to a certified laboratory 
for TCLP Pb analysis. MT2 will provide TCLP results to Customer for review prior to returning 
treated soils to the backstop berms. 

☐ Guaranteed Treatment: Should sample results indicate a failure to achieve RCRA 5.0 mg/L TCLP 
Pb, MT2 will retreat the soil at no additional cost 

 
2.4 RANGE RESTORATION  

Tasks to be completed by MT2 

☒ Return screened fines to berm of origin 2/ 

☒ Replace oversize materials to range at a mutually agreed upon location 

☒ Place additional ☒ Customer-provided ☐ MT2 provided sand/clay -3/4” or ballistic sand mixture 
to the backstop berm at the Pistol Range (other specifications pending)  

☒ Perform general site cleanup 

2/ MT2 will utilize construction equipment to replace processed soils the backstop berms and rough grade these materials to 
conform to the original configuration of the range. Soil replaced to the backstop berm will be compacted using construction 
equipment to allow ongoing use; compaction testing will not be required or conducted.  

 

Tasks to be completed by Customer 
☒ Replace target stands/systems  
☒ Re-seed or re-vegetation of the site 

 
  

29



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 4  

2.5 FINAL REPORT 

MT2 will develop a range maintenance report to provide the Customer with proper record keeping as 
recommended by the US EPA, NRA, and NSSF.  

2.6 OPTIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP PLAN 

As an optional service, MT2 can develop an Environmental Stewardship Plan (ESP) to summarize range 
conditions and provide BMP recommendations pertaining to range maintenance and operations. This plan 
will assist the Customer in ensuring compliance with US EPA regulations, as well as shooting range BMPs 
over the life cycle of the range. It can be completed independently of berm maintenance services 
proposed above or performed in conjunction with either option. 
 
2.7 PROJECT SCHEDULE 

Estimated Schedule: approximately 3-4 days onsite to perform lead maintenance tasks as described 
above. An additional day maybe required should optional ECOBOND® treatment or optional addition of 
Customer-provided soils be requested.  
 
The project schedule depends on “dry” conditions prior to and during onsite operations. MT2 will 
coordinate a mutually-agreed upon schedule with the range and can mobilize within two weeks after 
receipt of “Notice to Proceed” issued by client. MT2 anticipates beginning this project Late Fall 2018, 
weather permitting. 

 

  

30



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 5  

3.0 MT2 FIRM FIXED PRICING  

The following is MT2’s firm fixed pricing for proposed lead maintenance services.  
 

Lead Firing Range Lead Maintenance Task Quantity Unit  Price 

1. Upfront Payment: Prepare Workplan, Safety Plan 
Mobilization, Site Setup and Preparation, Demobilization  

1 Lump Sum $6,000  

2. Lead Maintenance: Excavation, Lead Recovery, Lead 
Recycling, Replacement of Screened Soil to Berms, Berm 
Reconstruction 

Up to 300 
CYDS 

Lump Sum $31,000 

3. Option: Guaranteed ECOBOND® Treatment of Soils 1/ 
Up to 300 

CYDS 
Lump Sum  $11,000 

4. Option: Replacement of additional City-provided 
sand/clay -3/4” or ballistic sand to backstop berms to raise 
height an estimated 4-5’ at the Pistol Range (other 
specifications pending) 

500 CYDS Lump Sum $5,000 

3. Option: Environmental Stewardship Plan 1/ 1 Lump Sum  $6,500 

4. Potential Estimated Lead Recycling Credit to Customer 2/ 10-20 tons  $0.60/lb ($6,000 - $12,000) 

1/  Pricing for optional tasks are valid if performed at the time of lead maintenance tasks, no field investigations are included with the ESP 
preparation  

2/  MT2 does not guarantee the value or quantity of recycled lead. The actual value of recycled lead will be determined at the 
time of recycling. MT2 will provide Customer a 50% split of the net proceeds from lead minus 50% of the costs for containers, 
pallets, and transportation to the recycler. The Estimated Lead Recycling Credit is based on a reasonable estimate of the 
amount of recoverable lead and current lead recycle value per pound. The lead credit will be provided in Final Project Invoice. 

 
3.1 PRICING ASSUMPTIONS  

☒ Project schedule depends on “dry” conditions prior to and during onsite operations. MT2 will 
coordinate arrival with the Customer to identify a time when dry conditions exist 1-2 weeks prior 
to arrival and followed by anticipated dry conditions. 

☒ Pricing based on standard work days (0700-1700 M-F).  

☒ SWPPP ☐ is ☒ is not required. 

☒ MT2 will install erosion control and storm water protection measures such as waddles and hay 
bales to protect work areas, drainages and the environment  

☒ Others will remove vegetation and materials such as timbers, scrap piles, material piles, fencing, 
concrete slabs, asphalt, range equipment, and large debris from the lead-impacted soils area. 

☒ Upon arrival at the site, the Customer and MT2 will complete a site walkover and confer and agree 
upon the most efficient location of the staged soil piles and Processing Area and equipment access 
to work areas. 

☒ Customer will provide MT2 access to an adequate nearby water source (e.g. hydrant) and 
associated items such as permit/meter/hose as needed. MT2 will utilize an MT2 water truck or 
trailer to provide dust suppression sprinkling as needed during excavation and screening 
operations. 

☒ Pricing does not include management of live ammunition, only spent rounds. If live ammunition 
is discovered, it will be left onsite for Customer to manage. 

31



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 6  

☒ If applicable, MT2 will use appropriately-sized and/or rubber tire equipment and use caution to 
work around existing range appurtenances with limited access (e.g. backstop berm soils imposed 
by range knee walls, target systems, overhead baffles, and sidewalls). MT2 will not be responsible 
for damage to the range, range equipment, or appurtenances should damage occur during 
processing. 

☒ MT2 will place recovered lead into 55-gallon drums on pallets in or near the Processing Area. MT2 
will load and transport drums to a recycler. A certificate of recycling will be provided to Customer 
upon completion of recycling.  

☒ Measurement of quantities will be based field measurement each day; signed-off daily by MT2 
and Customer; and recorded in daily project log 

☒ MT2 will perform dry decontamination of equipment before demobilization.  
 
3.2 CONTRACT ASSUMPTIONS 

☐ MT2 pricing includes: 

☐ Prevailing Wage Rates ☐ Bonding ☐ Retainage ☐ Liquidated Damages  

☒ Customer will provide upfront payment prior to MT2 mobilization 

☒ Payment to MT2 due within 30 days of Client receipt of MT2 invoice (Net 30 days). MT2 invoice will 
be submitted to the Customer along with the Range Maintenance Report and Lead Recycling 
Certificates. 

☒ MT2 pricing is subject to MT2 review and approval of final contract terms and conditions. 

☒ MT2 pricing valid for 120 days. 

☒ Contractor, at its sole discretion, may offer Customer an opportunity to renew this Agreement for 
an additional four (4) one (1) year term(s). Customer understands and acknowledges that any 
future contracts or renewals are neither automatic nor implied by this Agreement. The continuing 
purchase by Customer of the Services set forth in this Agreement is subject to Customer’s needs 
and to Customer’s annual appropriation of sufficient funds in Customer’s fiscal year in which such 
Services are purchased. In the event Customer does not appropriate or budget sufficient funds to 
perform this Agreement, this Agreement shall be null and void without further action by Customer. 

 

 

  

32



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 7  

4.0 MT2 EXPERIENCE 

MT2 brings extensive experience in firing range lead removal, contaminated soil stabilization, 
environmental remediation, permitting, and project management for a broad range of government, 
commercial, industrial, municipal and engineering clients. Our key project personnel have an average of 
24 years of relevant experience. With a staff of engineers, chemists, scientists, technicians, equipment 
operators, supervisors, project managers and management specialists, MT2 delivers quality work 
completed safely, on time and within budget. MT2 personnel routinely deliver turnkey deployment, 
including baseline sampling and characterization, treatment optimization, field operations and 
management and final report preparation. MT2 project experience includes, but is not limited to, the 
following:  

Markham Park Target Range Firing Range Lead Reclamation 
and Re-Construction; Ft. Lauderdale, FL: MT2 was contracted 
to provide firing range environmental lead remediation at the 
Markham Park Target Range located Broward County, Florida. 
The range consisted of six trap and skeet houses approximately 
600 feet in length and a lake approximately 50 to 75 feet in 
width. MT2 project tasks included: 1) Mobilization& Site Setup; 
2) Site clearing (remove trees and vegetation); 3) Excavation of 
lead impacted soils; 4) Excavation and removal of sediments 
(including the clay targets) from the lake bottom; 5) Disposal of 
clay targets and other solid shooting wastes recovered from the lake; 6) Treatment of lead fines remaining 
in processed soils and lake sediments; 7) Re-installing processed and treated soils and sediments back 
onto the firing range to allow for continued range usage; and 8) Preparation of project reports (Work Plan, 
H&S, QA/QC, Final Report) and conduct project meetings as required. MT2 provided construction 
management including coordination of all project activities, multiple subcontractors, and client 
representatives. MT2 processed over 70,000 cyds of soil and sediments and recovered over 1,100,000 lbs 
of lead for recycling. 

Orange County Sheriff’s Department Firing Range 
Remediation and Closure – Orlando, Florida: Orange County 
Florida wanted to properly close its inactive firing range. To do 
so, 10,000 cubic yards of lead-contaminated soil required 
screening and treatment to bring the property into compliance. 
Lead levels in the soil were in excess of 25,400 ppm following 
20 years of shooting. MT2 was hired as Prime Contractor and 
deployed its proprietary ECOBOND® lead recovery and 
treatment technology to recover lead/brass and to treat soils 
into a non-leachable state for disposal. The scope of work included sampling and analysis, excavation, lead 
recovery and recycling, soil treatment, and site restoration; these tasks were performed in compliance 
with the Florida DEP approved Remedial Action Plan (RAP). The remediation activities included excavation 
of soil and hauling to an on-site location, performing screening activities (to less than 4 mm) followed with 
chemical treatment utilizing the ECOBOND® technology of the impacted soils until achieving UTS criteria 
of 0.75 mg/l, placement of cleaned soils back on-site, recycling of recovered lead, and off-site disposal of 
soils not meeting residential cleanup standards (400 mg/kg). Excavated soils were screened, staged and 
tested for total and TCLP lead. 

 
 

33



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 8  

Project 
Lead 

Reclamation 
& Recycling 

Soil 
Treatment 

Range 
Improvement 

ESP 

NYPD Rodman’s Neck (NY) ☒ ☒ ☒ ☒ 

Florida DOC (10 facilities) (FL) ☒ ☐ ☐ ☐ 

City of Kissimmee (FL) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Former TM Shotgun Sports Range (FL) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Palm Beach County Sansbury Way (FL) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Sawgrass Lake Pinellas County (FL) ☒ ☐ ☐ ☐ 

Aurora Police Department (CO) ☒ ☒ ☒ ☐ 

Camden County Police Department (NJ) ☒ ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Colorado DOC (4 facilities) (CO) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Dallas Police Department (TX) ☒ ☐ ☐ ☐ 

Duluth Police Department (MN) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Granite City Police Department (IL) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Hempstead Police Department (NY) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Highlands Ranch LETA (CO) ☒ ☒ ☒ ☒ 

Mississippi LEOTA (MS) ☒ ☐ ☐ ☐ 

Nassau County Police Department (NY) ☐ ☒ ☒ ☐ 

North Las Vegas Police Department (NV) ☒ ☒ ☒ ☐ 

NYS OGS Mid-Orange County Correctional  ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Ohio DOC (OH) ☒ ☐ ☐ ☐ 

Phoenix Police Department (AZ) ☒ ☐ ☐ ☐ 

Pittsburgh Police Department (PA) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Polk County Sheriff (IA) ☒ ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Richmond Police Department (VA) ☒ ☒ ☒ ☐ 

San Bernardino County Sheriff (CA) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Seattle Police Department (WA) ☒ ☒ ☒ ☒ 

Southern Arizona LETC (AZ) ☒ ☒ ☒ ☐ 

Stockton Police Department (CA) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Texas Department of Public Safety (TX) ☒ ☒ ☒ ☐ 

US Custom & Border Protection (TX & AZ) ☒ ☐ ☐ ☐ 

Waco Police Department (TX) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Houston Police Department (TX) ☒ ☒ ☐ ☐ 

 

 

  

34



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 9  

5.0 OVERVIEW OF ECOBOND® TECHNOLOGIES 

MT2 maintains a broad portfolio of patented and proprietary chemical 
metals stabilization processes; known as ECOBOND® that provide 
permanent stabilization of all heavy metals. The MT2 processes are 
previously approved by the US EPA and are non-hazardous. The resulting 
treated soils contain extremely stable metal compounds that virtually 
eliminate the leaching of metals to the environment. The strength and 
effectiveness of the stabilization has been verified using the EPA's TCLP 
test parameters and Multiple Extraction Procedure (MEP) tests. 
 

Advantages of ECOBOND® chemical stabilization also include its robust 
capability and ease of application. The technology can be applied in a wet 
or dry form and can be used to stabilize metals in- situ or ex-situ. These 
varied applications make it ideal for use at a wide range of metals 
contaminated sites. At some sites the technology can be surface applied 
and mixed into soil in its dry form. At other sites the technology can be 
sprayed in its wet form onto the contaminated material in a topical 
fashion. In addition to the technical and application advantages, the cost 
of utilizing chemical stabilization to treat heavy metals contamination is 
attractive. By being able to treat metals contamination to EPA RCRA or Universal Treatment Standards 
(UTS), stabilized waste can often be left on-site rather than transported off-site to a hazardous landfill. 
The disposal cost savings for stabilized metals can often be measured in the hundreds of dollars per ton. 

 
Table 1 MT2 Metals Treatment Results (TCLP) 

 

  Pre Treatment 
TCLP 

Post-Treatment 
TCLP 

Regulatory 
Standards 

  
 
Waste Stream Metals (ppm) (ppm) RCRA (ppm) UTS (ppm) 

Mill Tailing As 2,200.0 1.030 5.0 5.000 

Sludge Cd 160.0 0.100 1.0 0.110 

Mill Tailing Cr 14.0 <0.050 5.0 0.650 

Industrial Site Ba 249.0 0.030 100.0 210.0 

Industrial Site Pb 980.0 0.250 5.0 0.750 

Firing Range Pb 977.0 0.180 5.0 0.750 

Mine Tailing Zn 108.0 2.000 NA 4.300 

Mill Tailing Se 190.0 0.890 1.0 5.700 

Chemical Waste Hg 500.0 0.070 0.2 0.025 

TCLP = Toxicity Chemical Leaching Procedure 

MT2 ECOBOND® ADVANTAGE 

• Lower Cost: Typically 30%-50% 
lower cost 

• Reduction of Environmental 
Liability: Significantly reduces 
potential of long-term liabilities 

• Proven Technology: Technology 
previously approved by EPA and 
state regulators with guaranteed, 
field validated reliability 

• Best Available Technology: 
Permanent and irreversible 
chemical process, strength and 
durability to 1,000 years verified 
by EPA approved testing 

35



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 10  

Table 2 MT2 Lead (Pb) Treatment Results (SPLP) 
 

  Pre Treatment 
SPLP 

Post-Treatment 
SPLP 

Regulatory 
Standards 

  
 
Project Location Metal (mg/L) (mg/L) RCRA (ppm) UTS (ppm) 

Florida Soils/Sediment      

Sample 1 Pb 0.17 0.0140 5.0 0.750 

Sample 2 Pb 0.11 BDL 5.0 0.750 

Sample 3 Pb 4.70 0.0130 5.0 0.750 

Massachusetts Inland Soils/Sediment      

Sample 1 Pb 3.30 0.0530 5.0 0.750 

Sample 2 Pb 3.30 0.0550 5.0 0.750 

Sample 3 Pb 3.30 0.1400 5.0 0.750 

Utah Soils      

Sample 1 Pb 3.79 0.0800 5.0 0.750 

Sample 2 Pb 2.17 0.0900 5.0 0.750 

New York Soils/Sediments      

Sample 1 Pb 1,040 0.0184 5.0 0.750 

Sample 2 Pb 1,090 0.0330 5.0 0.750 

Sample 3 Pb 2,220 0.0104 5.0 0.750 
SPLP = Synthetic Precipitate Leaching Procedure 

 
Heavy metals contamination can be found associated with spent battery recycling sites, electroplating 
facilities, process sludge, military sites, firing ranges, brownfields redevelopment, lead based paint 
coated buildings and structures, and associated with mining activities. Our services and technologies 
have been applied to project work for the following types of commercial, industrial and government 
clients: 

Commercial and Industry Applications: mining and smelting operations, battery recycle and 
disposal sites, military and private firing ranges, brownfields/real estate development, process 
wastes and sludge, and electric arc steel manufactures. 

Government Agencies and Programs: Environmental Protection Agency, Department of Energy, 
Department of Defense, Bureau of Reclamation, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and State 
Environmental and Health Agencies. 

 
MT2’s ECOBOND® process utilizes a combination of proprietary materials that are nature’s best stabilizers 
of leachable metals. ECOBOND® compounds have extremely low Ksp (solubility potential) values 
indicating that it is virtually impossible to dissolve these metal complexes (Table 3). This technique has 
been used to stabilize heavy metals for a number of years and have proven superior to cementation and 
other methods that rely on increasing the alkalinity of the matrix to immobilize the metals. Unlike many 
stabilizing compounds, the MT2’s reagents bond directly with metals and are not subject to long-term 
pH related deterioration. 

36



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 11  

Table 3 - Ksp (Solubility Potential) of Various Lead-Phosphate Minerals 
 

Lead Species / Mineral Name Formula Log Ksp 

Salt NaCl 0.0* 

Quartz SiO2 -4.0 

Anglesite PbSO4 -7.7 

Cerussite PbCO3 -12.8 

Galena PbS -27.5 

Fluoropyromorphite Pb5(PO4)3F -71.6 

Hydroxypyromorphite Pb3(PO4)3OH -76.8 

Plumbogummite PbAl3(PO4)2(OH)5H2O -99.3 

Corkite PbFe3(PO4)(SO4)(OH)6 -112.6 

*For comparison purposes 
 
The EPA’s TCLP is one measure of the long-term stability of a treated waste because it simulates the 
leaching effect of water or acid that may come into contact with stabilized metals. To simulate a longer 
period of environmental exposure, the Multiple Extraction Procedure (MEP) test has been developed. The 
MEP test consists of multiple acid extractions and pH adjustments that are similar to the TCLP test. 
However, different leachates are used for each of ten separate extractions. It is estimated that each TCLP 
extraction simulates 100 years of stability and after ten MEP extractions, 1,000 years of metals stability 
are simulated. The durability of similar treated materials has been tested by numerous MEP tests and has 
been evaluated in the EPA’s Superfund Innovative Technology Evaluation (SITE) program. The MEP test 
is just one of the tests that have been conducted to establish the long-term stability of chemically 
stabilized waste. See Table 4. 
 

Table 4 - Example of Treatment Results using MEP Testing of MT2 Stabilized Lead Contaminated Soil 
 

 Crooksville 
Lead Superfund 

Site 

Crooksville 
Lead Superfund 

Site 

Lead Paint 
Sand Blast 

Grit 

Lead Paint 
Sand Blast 

Grit 

Lead Paint 
Sand Blast 

Grit 

Pre Treatment 

Lead TCLP 
32 980 26 34 49 

MEP Extraction Post Treatment 

#1 – 100 years 0.08 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 

#2 – 200 years 0.14 0.13 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 

#3 – 300 years 0.21 0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 

#4 – 400 years 0.13 0.06 0.13 0.23 0.08 

#5 – 500 years 0.14 0.08 0.31 0.12 0.07 

#6 – 600 years <0.05 0.15 0.15 0.06 0.06 

#7 – 700 years 0.16 <0.05 0.19 0.03 0.04 

#8 – 800 years 0.25 0.18 0.19 0.05 0.06 

#9 – 900 years 0.26 0.53 0.18 0.06 <0.05 

#10–1,000 years 0.23 0.33 0.14 <0.05 <0.05 

Average MEP 
Extraction 

0.165 0.161 0.14 0.075 0.056 

 
  

37



  Proposal: Firing Range Lead Maintenance  

Get the Lead Out!   888-435-6645 www.mt2.com  Page 12  

In summary, MT2’s proprietary ECOBOND® technology has previously been approved by the U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency as well as state regulators. ECOBOND® provides an advanced in situ 
and ex situ treatment for a wide variety of metals utilizing innovative methods with standard 
equipment, converting RCRA hazardous waste into non-hazardous material. MT2’s state-of-the-art 
technologies and experienced personnel provide clients with technical and field services producing 

substantial cost savings. MT2’s ECOBOND® technologies are broadly applicable for chemical conversion 
and stabilization for: 

• Soils, Silts and Sediments 

• Process Waste and Sludges 

• Firing Ranges/Shooting Ranges 

• Lead Paint and Glass 

• Mine/Smelter Sites 

• Former Disposal Locations 

• Brownfields Sites 

• Battery Recycling Site 
 
The advantages of ECOBOND® technologies and MT2 services include: 

• Lower Cost: Typically 30%-50% lower cost than other alternatives 

• Reduction of Environmental Liability: Significantly reduced potential of long-term liabilities 
through improved best management practices 

• Eliminates Generation of Hazardous Wastes: No hazardous waste manifesting, substantial 
disposal cost reduction and reduced liability 

• Proven Technology: Technology previously approved by EPA and state regulators in over 
seven (7) years of operations with guaranteed, field validated reliability 

• Best Available Technology: Permanent and irreversible chemical process, strength and 
durability to 1,000 years verified by EPA approved testing 

 
 
 
 

38



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: December 5, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services    

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Agreement  

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: STREET LIGHT AGREEMENT BETWEEN FOR THE SILVER OAK PHASE 1 

HOMEOWNER’S ASSOCIATION 

 

REQUEST: EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The developer of the Silver Oak Phase 1 subdivision has upgraded the street lighting to decorative street 

lighting. 

 

Due to the cost for the decorative lighting being higher than that of standard lighting, an agreement is 

required to offset the City’s additional expense for the decorative street lighting. The Silver Oak Phase 1 

Homeowner’s Association will be billed on a monthly basis for the cost differential of the decorative 

street lighting. The monthly cost differential based on 2018 rates is $445.17 (33 street lights @ 

$13.49/each). Per the agreement, the City will not be billed for any street lighting costs until 25% 

occupancy has been achieved within the subdivision. The developer retains full cost responsibility until 

the 25% occupancy has been achieved, at which time, the City will assume billing responsibility. The 

table below represents the per fixture cost comparison between standard lighting and decorative lighting. 

 

Monthly Street Lighting Cost per Fixture 

Standard Lighting Decorative Lighting 

$13.54 $27.03 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize and execute the Decorative Street Lighting Agreement for Silver Oak Phase 1 Homeowner’s 

Association. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

X CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: CMS Agreement 

 OTHER:    
  

 

SUBJECT:  CARRIAGE HILL, PHASE 2, SCHOOL CONCURRENCY MITIGATION 

AGREEMENT (CMS) 

   

REQUEST:  APPROVE THE CARRIAGE HILL, PHASE 2, SCHOOL CONCURRENCY 

MITIGATION AGREEMENT; AND AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE 

AGREEMENT. 
  
SUMMARY: 
 
New residential development applications are reviewed by Orange County Public Schools for their impact placed on 

existing student capacity at public schools. This school impact analysis, called school concurrency, occurs at the time 

of a Final Development Plan and Plat application. In 2008 the City of Apopka entered into an interlocal agreement 

with the Orange County School Board to address public school facility planning and implementation of school 

concurrency (hereafter School Agreement). As a party to this School Agreement, the City becomes a party to the 

Agreement. Therefore, City Council must accept the Agreement and authorize the Mayor to sign it to allow OCPS to 

implement the mitigation plan. When school enrollment is over capacity at the public schools serving additional 

students generated by a proposed residential development, a new development must have a school concurrency 

mitigation analysis to determine additional cost of school impacts the proposed development will generate above that 

considered by the school impact fee. The developer pays these additional fees according to the conditions of the 

school concurrency mitigation fee. (See exhibit.) 

 

OWNER/APPLICANT:  JTD Land at Roger Road, LLC, c/o Craig Harris 

 

PROJECT ENGINEER:  Dewberrry/Christopher Allen, P.E.  

 

LOCATION:   East side of Rogers Road 

 

PROPOSED  

DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family Residential Subdivision – 15 Units 

 

DEVELOPABLE AREA: 10.31 +/- Acres  

 

SCHOOL ATTENDENCE  

ZONES:   Wolf Lake Elementary; Wolf Lake Middle; Apopka High 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
Approve the Orange County Public Schools Concurrency Mitigation Agreement for Carriage Hill, Phase 2; and 
authorize the Mayor to sign the Agreement. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

47



 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

X CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

 OTHER:   Agreement 
  

 

SUBJECT:  CARRIAGE HILL PHASE II (15 LOTS) 

   

REQUEST:  AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR OR HIS DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE A SEWER 

AND WATER CAPACITY AGREEMENT FOR CARRIAGE HILL PHASE II 

(15 LOTS) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The City’s standard Sewer and Water Capacity Agreement has been prepared for Carriage Hill Phase II, 

1455 West Lester Road; West Lester Road 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the Mayor or his designee to execute the Sewer and Water Capacity Agreement for Carriage Hill 

Phase II. 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  

48



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

SEWER & WATER CAPACITY AGREEMENT – CARRIAGE HILL PH II 

PAGE 2 

 

 
 

CARRIAGE HILL PHASE II 
JTD Land at Rogers Rd. LLC 

Parcel ID No: 29-20-28-0000-00-005 and 29-20-28-0000-00-049 
Total Acres: 10.31 +/- 

 

 

VICINITY MAP 
 

 

 

49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



 

 

 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X   CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: December 5, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services  

        SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        

        OTHER: Business 
  

 

SUBJECT: PURCHASE OF COMMODITIES 
 

REQUEST: APPROVE THE ISSUANCE OF BLANKET PURCHASE ORDERS FOR FISCAL 

YEAR 2018/2019 
  
SUMMARY: 
 

The departments purchase large amounts of various commodities in its daily operations including equipment, 

tooling, and services throughout the year.  This purchasing is accomplished through piggybacking other 

municipalities, state contracts and evaluated sources which provide the best cost savings for the quantities that are 

utilized. 
 

In accordance with Section 107.3.1.2(IV) (A), of the City’s Purchasing Policy, Staff requests approval to issue 

blanket purchase orders to the following vendors for the purchase of the referenced commodities.  The amounts 

shown have been included and approved in the FY19 budget.  
 

Department Vendor Commodity Amount Municipal Contract 

Recreation Clark Sales Display Holiday Lighting $65,000 City of St. Petersburg 

Fire  
Municipal  

Emergency Services 

Equipment, Tools, 

Boots & Gear 
$165,000 Evaluated Source 

Fire 
Municipal Equipment  

Services 
Hoses $26,000 Evaluated Source 

Fire  Stericycle Hazard Waste Disposal $48,000 Evaluated Source 

Fire  Bound Tree  
Medications & 

Medical Supplies 
$145,000 

*not to exceed 
Evaluated Source 

Public 

Services 
Evoqua 

Odor Control 

Chemicals 
$125,000 Lee County  

Public 

Services 
Danus Utilities  Piping & Materials $141,000 

South Seminole & North 

Orange County Wastewater 

Transmission Authority 

Public 

Services 

Kaman Industrial 

Technologies 

Pump Repairs 

Treatment 
$73,000 

Tohopekaliga Water 

Authority  
  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
Approved FY19 budget.     
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
Approve the issuance of blanket purchase orders to the referenced vendors for the purchases listed. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
81



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  December 5, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Police Department 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:  PURCHASE OF POLICE VEHICLES 

 

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE PURCHASE OF BUDGETED POLICE VEHICLES FROM 

PRESTIGE FORD FOR THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF $92,240.00 AND THE 

PURCHASE OF POLICE VEHICLE EQUIPMENT AND INSTALLATION FOR A 

TOTAL AMOUNT OF $73,753.80  
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The police department requests authorization for the purchase of four (4) vehicles that were approved 

within the current fiscal year’s budget. Additionally, the department requests approval for the purchase 

and installation of police equipment for the police vehicles. 

 

Description    Qty Contract Price  Ext. Price  Dealer 

Ford Escape    4 $23,060.00  $92,240.00  Prestige Ford 

The pricing comes from the current Florida Sheriff’s Association contract bid.  

 

Police Equipment Purchase and Installation $73,753.80     Dana Safety 

The Install of equipment includes a total of 5 vehicles that were purchased for this fiscal year.  

The pricing comes from the current City of Tampa contract bid.  

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

General Fund - 001.2230.521.6400 

    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the purchase of the above listed fleet vehicles and equipment for police department use. 

  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

82



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: December 5, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services    

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: MACK/MCNELIUS FRONT LOAD GARBAGE TRUCK FOR THE SANITATION 

DIVISION 

 

REQUEST: APPROVE THE PURCHASE OF A 2019 MACK/MCNELIUS FRONT LOAD 

GARBAGE TRUCK. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The purchase of a new garbage truck will replace truck # 22-1068, a 2006 Mack front-end loader garbage 

truck. The pricing was obtained through the Florida Sheriff’s Association Contract bid No. FSA18-

VEH16.0. This purchase was included in the 2018-2019 Public Services budget. Staff requests approval 

to accept the proposal from Nextran Truck Centers of Orlando of $324,192.10 for a new, 2019 model 

Mack truck with a McNelius front load garbage truck body. 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 402 Sanitation Enterprise Fund.    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve the purchase of a new 2019 Mack garbage truck from Nextran Truck Centers of Orlando at the 

price of $324,192.10. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

83



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: December 5, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services    

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: PURCHASE OF VEHICLES FOR PUBLIC SERVICES 

 

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE PURCHASE OF VEHICLES & EQUIPMENT  
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The purchase of vehicles for the Public Services Department.  Pricing is made available through the 

Source Well Cooperative Purchasing program and the Florida Sheriffs Association Contract. The pricing 

is as follows: 

 

Vehicle Division Vendor Amount Budgeted 

Three F-150’s and one F-550  

utility bed 

Water 

Maintenance 

Alan Jay Ford, Coggin 

Ford and Duval Ford 
$172,493 $180,000 

F-150 and F-550 with boom 
Sewer 

Maintenance 
Alan Jay Ford $121,542 $125,000 

Two F-550’s utility bed one with a 

6k crane and one with a 8k crane 

Plant 

Maintenance 
Alan Jay Ford $246,247 $260,000 

F-550 with chipper 
Street 

Maintenance 
Duval Ford $63,035 $72,100 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

FY18/19 adopted budget.     
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the purchase of vehicles through the Source Well Cooperative Purchasing program and the 

Florida Sheriffs Association Contract. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

84



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  December 5, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Police Department 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Agreement 

       OTHER:             
  

 

SUBJECT: TRANSFER OF SURPLUS POLICE VEHICLES TO A POLICE AGENCY 

IMPACTED BY HURRICANE MICHAEL.   
 

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE TRANSFER OF TWO APOPKA POLICE SURPLUS POLICE 

VEHICLES TO THE SPRINGFIELD POLICE DEPARTMENT. 

 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The Apopka Police Department is part of the state mutual aid compact. Requests for assistance have been 

sent statewide to members of the Florida Police Chief’s Association for a number of resources, to include 

the need for surplus vehicles to be donated to affected police agencies. One such request was for the 

Springfield Police Department in Bay County. The City of Springfield suffered major damage to its 

municipal infrastructure and is in need of support.  

 

The City of Apopka has taken delivery of new fleet vehicles for the police department and has number of 

vehicles scheduled for surplus. Two vehicles can be made available to assist the agency with their request. 

The vehicles will be transferred to Springfield PD under an agreement that when they are no longer 

needed, Apopka will be contacted for direction before disposal. 

 
2011 FORD INTERCEPTOR 2FABP7BVXBX129881 XC2486 

2011 FORD INTERCEPTOR 2FABP7BV5BX127830 XC2644 
  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the agreement. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

85



1 
 

DONATION AGREEMENT FOR 
POLICE VEHICLES TO THE SPRINFILED POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on this __________ day of ______________, 2018, 

by and between, the City of Apopka, and the City of Springfield. 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka holds title to two (2) police vehicles (herein referred to as 

“donated vehicles”) which the City of Apopka has classified as surplus, obsolete, or the continued use of 

which is uneconomical or inefficient, and said vehicles are identified as follows: 

2011 FORD INTERCEPTOR 2FABP7BVXBX129881 XC2486 

2011 FORD INTERCEPTOR 2FABP7BV5BX127830 XC2644 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has agreed to transfer, pursuant to Chapter 274, Florida Statutes, 

title of said donated vehicles to the City of Apopka to use exclusively as police vehicles for the 

Springfield Police Department. 

 IT IS HEREBY AGREED that the City of Springfield will be bound by the following terms and 

conditions of this donation: 

1. The City of Springfield will only use the donated vehicles as police vehicles within the City of 

Springfield Police Department.  The City of Springfield agrees to pay any costs associated 

with the transfer of vehicles from the City of Apopka to the City of Springfield. 

 

2. The City of Springfield agrees to promptly complete and file all necessary paperwork to 

properly effect transfer of title and registration of the donated vehicles to the City of 

Springfield.   Proof of said transfer of titles and registrations shall be provided to the City of 

Apopka once completed. 

 

3. If the City of Springfield determines that the donated vehicles, for whatever reason, no 

longer serve their useful purpose, the City of Springfield will contact the City of Apopka to 

determine the means of disposition which may include the transfer of title, control and 

ownership of the donated vehicles back to the City of Apopka.  In no event, shall the 

Springfield Police Department lease, loan, sell or otherwise transfer the donated vehicles to 

another individual or entity except through this process.   If applicable, the City of 

Springfield further agrees to pay any and all costs associated with the transfer back to the 

City of Apopka and the physical return of the donated vehicles without graphics to the City 

of Apopka. 

 

4. The City of Springfield agrees to purchase liability insurance or maintain self-insurance funds 

covering said donated vehicles and agrees and understands that the City of Apopka will not 

assume any liability relative to the use and/or operation of the donated vehicles.  

 

86



2 
 

 

5. The City of Springfield acknowledges that the vehicles are used and accepts the vehicles as 

is.  The City of Apopka makes no warranties as to the condition of the vehicles and the City 

of Springfield will conduct its own review and inspection of the vehicle prior to its use. 

 

6. The City of Springfield agrees to indemnify and hold the City of Apopka harmless, and to 

waive all claims for any and all injuries to the City of Springfield employees, agents, or others 

who may use the vehicle or become injured by it including but not limited to, those driving 

the vehicle, property damage, losses, claims, demands, judgments, and liabilities, 

whatsoever, and from all expenses and costs (including but not limited to attorney’s fees) 

arising in connection with or related to the uses of the vehicle to the extent provided for in 

section 768.28, Florida Statute. 

 

7. The City of Springfield agrees to provide and pay all costs associated with the maintenance, 

repair and servicing of the donated vehicles. 

As evidenced by the signature below, the City of Springfield, acknowledges the transfer of 

vehicles, the release and waiver of liability, and knowingly and voluntarily signs this release and 

waiver of liability. 

 

ATTEST:       City of Springfield 

 

By: __________________________   ____________________________ 
       (Name)  
 
 
ATTEST:       City of Apopka 

 

By: __________________________   ____________________________ 
       (Name) 

87



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 X   CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  December 5, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:               Recreation   

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        Map  

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:  FUMC OF APOPKA – APOPKA CHRISTMAS PARADE 

 

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE CLOSURE OF ROADS 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

FUMC (First United Methodist Church) of Apopka is requesting the City Council approve road closures 

for the annual Apopka Christmas Parade being held on Saturday, December 8, 2018, beginning at 

10:00am.  The Parade is to begin at the intersection of 1
st
 Street and Forest Avenue traveling south to 3

rd
 

Street, then west to South Park Avenue.  The parade will proceed north to Votaw Road and end at Apopka 

Memorial Middle School.  Street closures are requested as indicated on the attached application map for 

the following streets: 1
st
 Street, 2

nd
 Street, 3

rd
 Street, Park Avenue, and S. Highland Ave.  The 

Development Review Committee has reviewed the special events permit application and has found it to 

be consistent with the Land Development Code.   

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the closure of roads associated with the FUMC of Apopka Christmas Parade on Saturday, 

December 8, 2016.  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

88



Band membe rs shoul d be dropped off  a t the c orne r of  Highland D rive and 3 rd  Stre et.  Buses must not turn onto 3 rd  Stre et.   

IF YO U ARE DROPPING OFF A PARTICIPANT FOR THE PA RADE, PLEASE PARK IN  THE PARA DE WATCH ERS’ PARKING

AREA.   OTHERWISE, TURN RIGH T ON 1 s t or  2ND STREET.   DO  NO T DRIVE THROU GH TH E PARAD E STAG ING  A REA. 

West Ora nge Trail Park
(Re st Rooms)

Fran Carlton Center

11 North Forest Avenue

900

Handicap
Parking

Dig nitary  

Stag ing  

Walgreens   Wendy’s   Gentry 

89



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  December 5, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Administration  

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Brochure 

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:  ALCOHOL SERVICE AT FESTIVAL OF TREES 

 

REQUEST: APPROVE THE SERVING OF ALCOHOL AT THE FESTIVAL OF TREES 

EVENT AT THE MUSEUM OF APOPKANS ON DECEMBER 2 & 8, 2018 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

On December 2
nd 

& 8
th

, 2018, the Apopka Historical Society intends to hold an event titled the “Festival 

of Trees” at the Museum of the Apopkans.  With Council approval, beer and wine will be served during 

both dates for the event.   

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve the serving of alcohol at the Festival of Trees event at the Museum of Apopkans on December 2, 

2018 and December 8, 2018.  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

90



91



92



 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Final Development Plan/Site Plan  Aerial Map 

    Final Development Plan 
  

 

SUBJECT:  FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN/SITE PLAN – SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL 

   

REQUEST:  APPROVE THE FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN/SITE PLAN FOR SPECIAL 

OPS TACTICAL LOCATED IN LAKE GEM COMMERCE INDUSTRIAL 

PARK, LOT 8 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Property Industrial Enterprises, LLC c/o Michael R. Cooper 

ENGINEER:   Ken Ehlers, P.E. 

LOCATION: 655 Gem Commerce Court 

PARCEL ID #:  09-21-28-4453-08-000 

FUTURE LAND USE: Industrial 

ZONING: PUD (Planned Unit Development)/I-1 

EXISTING USE: Vacant 

PROPOSED USE: Industrial/Lot 8 within Lake Gem Commerce Park (Total of 12 Lots) 

TRACT SIZE:   0.56 +/- acres; 26,245 +/- square feet  

BUILDING SIZE:  4,000 square feet (1,150 square feet of manufacturing and 2,850 square feet 
of office) 

FLOOR AREA RATIO Proposed 0.22; Maximum 0.60 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  
93



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 
SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL –FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 2 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Railroad/Commercial Railroad/I-1 Railroad/Vacant 

East (City) Industrial I-1 Vacant 

South (City) Industrial Right-of-Way/I-1 Marshall Lake Road/Single Family 

Residence/Horticulture/Vacant 

West (City) Conservation\Industrial I-1 Vacant 

 
Project Use:  The Special Ops Tactical - Final Development Plan is a site plan proposing a 4,000 square 

feet one-story building at 28 feet in height.  Located within the PUD/I-1 zoning district, Special Ops Tactical 

is Lot 8 of the Lake Gem Industrial Park contains 26,245 square feet of lot area.  Lake Gem Commerce 

complies with the development standards for I-1 zoning district but allowed for a building height of up 50 

feet.  

 

The minimum setbacks applicable to this project are: 

 

Setback 
Min. 

Standard 

Front* 25’ 

Side 10’ 

Rear 10’* 

Corner 25’ 

*30 feet setback from residential uses or zoning districts. 

 
Access/Parking:  Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via Gem Commerce Court with 
full access onto Marshall Lake Road.  Fourteen parking spaces are provided, including one handicap 
accessible parking space, while thirteen are required by Code. 
 
Transportation:  A transportation impact analysis (TIA) was conducted for the Lake Gem Industrial Park 

to assess the impacts of the total project on the surrounding roadway segments and intersections within a 

one-mile radius of the project per the City’s adopted TIA methodology. Special Ops Tactical, located on 

Lot 10, is one of the 12 lots located in the Lake Gem Industrial Park project.  Included in the analysis were 

segments of Bradshaw Road, Marshall Lake Road, and W 1st Street. The intersection of Bradshaw Road 

and Lake Marshall Road along with the site entrance on Lake Marshall Road were also analyzed.  

 

The Lake Gem Industrial Park project will generate 627 Daily trips and 87 P.M. Peak Hour trips. Marshall 

Lake Building Lot 10 will generate 52 Daily trips and 7 P.M. Peak Hour trips. The addition of the project 

trips for the entire Lake Gem Industrial Park to the study roadways will not cause the Level of Service 

(LOS) to fall below the City’s adopted LOS. The intersection of Bradshaw Road and Marshall Lake Road 

and the site entrance will operate at acceptable Levels of Service with the addition of project generated 

traffic. 
 
STORMWATER:  The stormwater management system includes an on-site retention area on the western 
portion of the Lake Gem Commerce Industrial Park.  The stormwater pond design has been previously 
reviewed under the Lake Gem Commerce Park and meets the City’s Land Development Code requirements. 
 94



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 
SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL –FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 3 

 

LANDSCAPING AND BUFFER:  A 25-foot wide landscaped buffer and oak trees are provided along 

Gem Commerce Court.  A Crepe Myrtle is provided for the parking landscape island, which is 

approximately 10-feet in width and matches the length of the adjacent parking spaces. 

 

BUILDING EXTERIOR:   Architectural renderings (pictures) of the exterior of the building will look like 

are provided within the site plan.  The building exterior is similar to other buildings within the Cooper 

industrial parks along Bradshaw Road, and it meets the intent of the City’s development design 

standards/guidelines. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The County was notified at the time of the subdivision plan and 

plat for this property through the DRC agenda distribution.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission, 5:30 p.m. 

December 5, 2018 - City Council, 1:30 p.m.  

  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Special Ops Tactical Final 

Development Plan subject to the findings of this staff report. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the Special Ops Tactical Final 

Development Plan consistent with the Land Development Code and Comprehensive Plan; and unanimously 

recommended approval of Final Development Plan subject to the findings of this staff report. 

 

City Council:  Approve the Special Ops Tactical Final Development Plan. 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
  

95



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 
SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL –FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 4 

 

Owner:  Property Industrial Enterprises, LLC c/o Michael R. Cooper 

Applicant:  Ken Ehlers, P.E. 

Parcel ID Nos.:   09-21-28-4453-08-000 

Address:  655 Gem Commerce Court 

Total area:  0.56 acre(s) +/- 
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

Subject Property 

96



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 
SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL –FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 5 

 

SITE LOCATION MAP 

 

 

  

Subject Property 

97



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 
SPECIAL OPS TACTICAL –FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 6 

 

AERIAL MAP 

 

 

 

 
 

Subject Property 

98



99



100



101



102



103



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 

  CONSENT AGENDA MEETING OF:  December 5, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING FROM:        Community Development 

SPECIAL REPORTS EXHIBITS:     Third Amendment to the  

OTHER:     JPA Agreement 

SUBJECT: THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE JOINT PLANNING AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

APOPKA AND ORANGE COUNTY 

REQUEST: APPROVE THE THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE JPA 

SUMMARY: 

The City of Apopka has been approached to annex land that is currently outside the JPA limits.  Please refer 

to the Joint Planning Area Map. 

In order to accomplish this, the City of Apopka and Orange County will need to complete a “Map 

Amendment” to the JPA that will allow the City to annex land in the newly established boundary.  This 

area will also be accessed through annexed land within the JPA.  At this time, Round Lake Road is the 

western limit of the JPA line and the area primarily affected are the properties west and northwest of the 

Orlando Apopka Airport.  This is the only area that will be changed on the map to provide for any 

proposed development adjacent to the airport. 

FUNDING SOURCE: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

Approve the Third Amendment to the Settlement Interlocal Agreement for the JPA. 

DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson  Finance Director Public Services Director 

Commissioners   HR Director Recreation Director 

City Administrator IT Director City Clerk  

Community Development Director Police Chief Fire Chief 

X

104



Joint Planning Agreement Map Amendment area
(Exhibit “A” in the JPA Agreement – Existing Boundary) 

       Map 
Amendment 
         area 

105



 

 

Joint Planning Agreement Map Amendment area 

(Exhibit “A” in the JPA Agreement – New Boundary)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 106



0 250 500 750 
FEET 

Apopka JPA Boundary 

± 

Previous JPA 
boundary 

Joint Planning Agreement Map Amendment area 

(Exhibit “I” in the JPA Agreement – Airport Area change)   
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                New JPA 
               boundary 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

107



-1 - 

 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO 

SETTLEMENT INTERLOCAL 

AGREEMENT 
 

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE SETTLEMENT INTERLOCAL 

AGREEMENT (Amendment) is made by and entered into as of the ____ day of ___________, 

_______, by and between the CITY OF APOPKA, a Florida municipal corporation (the "City"), 

and ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision and charter county of the State of 

Florida (the "County"). 

 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, City and County entered into that certain Settlement Interlocal Agreement 

Between the City of Apopka, Florida and Orange County, Florida on October 26, 2004, as 

amended by that certain First Amendment to the Settlement Interlocal Agreement approved on 

August 2, 2005 and that certain Second Amendment to Joint Planning Area Agreement Between 

Orange County and the City of Apopka approved on October 19, 2010 (collectively the 

"Agreement") (attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit “A”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the City and County now desire to further amend the Agreement to clarify 

certain other parcels that are eligible for annexation into the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City and County recognize that a Map Amendment is necessary to 

provide proper planning and access to areas that are unique to the JPA border adjacent to the 

Orlando Apopka Airport (Exhibit “I”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the City shall complete a small area study to assign conceptual land uses for 

the new area being added to the area north, west and southwest, and adjacent to the Orlando 

Apopka Airport; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 163.3171(3), Florida Statutes, this Third Amendment has 

been approved by the Orange County Board of County Commissioners and the Apopka City 

Council at advertised public hearings.  

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and other 

valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties 

hereby agree as follows: 

 

Section 1.   Recitals.   
The foregoing Recitals are true and correct and are incorporated into and form a part of 

this Third Amendment. All initially capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning 

set forth in the Agreement. 

 

Section 2.   Authority.  

This Third Amendment is entered into pursuant to (1) Chapters 125, 163 and 166, Florida 

Statutes, (2) the general authority of Section 163.01, Florida Statutes, relating to interlocal 

agreements, (3) the Charters of the County and City, and (4) the Joint Planning Area Agreement. 

 

 

 

108



-2 - 

 

Section 3.   Map Amendment. 

A new “Exhibit I” is hereby added to the JPA which is attached hereto and incorporated by 

reference.  For purposes of interpreting the JPA, the parties agree that the area depicted in “Exhibit 

I” allows for the JPA Boundary line to incorporate only those properties depicted as being within 

the newly established JPA Boundary, only within this area. 

Further, a revised “Exhibit A” is hereby amended to the JPA which depicts the new JPA 

Map Amended area and all annexations that have occurred with the JPA boundary since the 

original adoption. 

 

 Section 4.   Severability.   
Except as expressly set forth herein, all other provisions of the JPA, as amended, remain 

unchanged and in full force and effect.  Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase 

or provision of this amendment is held invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent 

jurisdiction such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not be construed to render the remaining 

portions of this Amendment invalid or unconstitutional. 

 

 Section 5.   Effective Date.  

This Third Amendment to the Agreement shall become effective upon the date of approval 

by the Board of County Commissioners or the date of approval by the City Council, whichever 

date is later. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and County have executed this Third Amendment to 

the Agreement on the dates inscribed below. 

 

 

      ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

      By: Board of County Commissioners 

 

 

      By: _____________________________________ 

       Jerry Demings 

       Orange County Mayor 

 

      DATE: __________________________________ 

 

 

 

ATTEST: Phil Diamond, County Comptroller 

as Clerk of Board of County Commissioners 

 

 

 

By: _______________________________ 

Deputy Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

109



-3 - 

 

 

 

      CITY OF APOPKA 

      

 

 

      By: ____________________________________ 

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: Linda F. Goff 

City Clerk 

 

By: _______________________________ 

Date: ______________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

110



-4 - 

 

0 250 500 750 
FEET 

Apopka JPA Boundary 

± 

Previous JPA 
boundary 

 

Exhibit “I” 
Map Amendment Area 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

           New JPA 
          boundary 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

111



-5 - 

 

Exhibit “A” 
JOINT PLANNING AREA 

 

 
 

 

 

112



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Aerial Map 
    Kelly Park Interchange Map 
    WPIVP1 Character Districts 
    Comp Plan Objectives 
    JPA Amendment No. 2 
    Ordinance No. 2645 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2645 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE 
LAND USE AMENDMENT – KENT GREER 

   
REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2645 – SECOND READING - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE 

SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – KENT GREER, FROM RURAL 
SETTLEMENT TO MIXED USE INTERCHANGE 

  
SUMMARY: 
 
OWNER:   Kent Greer 
 
APPLICANT: Hanover Land Company 
 
LOCATION: South of West Kelly Park Road, East of Round Lake Road 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS: 14-20-27-0000-00-021, 084, 005 
 
EXISTING USE: Single Family House and Agriculture – grazing 
  
CURRENT ZONING:  Agriculture 
 
PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT: 139 Single Family Lot Subdivision 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Mixed Use Interchange Zoning District with Neighborhood Overlay Zone 
TRACT SIZES:   39.15 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE  
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING: Max. 7 residential units 

PROPOSED: Max. 195 residential units 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

                                                 
1 WPIVP – Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan 

113



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: The applicant requests a future land use designation of “City” Mixed Use 
Interchange.  The applicant choose to proceed with the Future Land Use Amendment at this time to allow 
rezoning and master plan applications to move forward more expeditiously in the future.  
 
Policy 20.9, Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan, requires that all property within a one-
mile radius of the Kelly Park Road interchange must be assigned the Mixed Use Interchange Future Land 
Use Designation. 
 
The subject parcels are located within the one-mile radius from the Wekiva Parkway interchange at Kelly 
Park Road; and therefore is required to adhere to the Kelly Park Crossing Form Based Code.  The properties 
are located within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area.  Therefore, the property must comply 
with Objectives 18 – 20 and related policies within the Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive 
Plan and the recently adopted Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code.  The applicant’s request is consistent 
with the Mixed Use Interchange future land use designation and the Overlay District covering the property 
within the Vision Plan. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area, is within one mile of the SR 429/Kelly Park Road interchange, and is 
consistent with the Mixed Use Interchange Land Use designation.  City planning staff supports the FLUM 
amendment given the consistency with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed below and the intent of the 
Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan a (see Land Use Analysis below).   Site development cannot 
exceed the intensity allowed by the Future Land Use policies.  
 
Future Land Use Element 
 

1. Policy 3.1.r The primary intent of the Mixed Use land use category is to allow a mixture of 
residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, institutional and public facilities uses to serve 
the residential and non-residential needs of special areas of the City.  The mix of land uses may occur 
on a single parcel or multiple parcels … 
 
The designation of a mixed use category may occur only in certain areas of the city, including “land 
anticipated for inclusion within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Land Use Plan…” These 
properties are within the 1-mile radius of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange depicted on the Wekiva 
Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Map located within the Future Land Use Element of the Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 

2. Policy 18.1 The City shall implement the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, which guides 
the location of a range of uses, such as residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, public 
and institutional, at various densities and intensities around the proposed interchange. 
 
The proposed Mixed Use Future Land Use Designation allows for residential densities and non-
residential uses and intensities to implement the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, 
consistent with Objective 18 and related policies.  
 

3. Policy 18.2 Prior to rezoning any property within a one-mile radius of the interchange Study Area, 
the City shall amend its LDC to incorporate development standards that will implement the Vision 
Plan. 
 
This future land use amendment does not include a corresponding proposed zoning category because 
the City has yet to adopt development standards or form-based code consistent with this policy.  
Future densities/intensities and design character for the subject properties will be regulated at the 
time of rezoning once Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan design standards and form-based 
code are adopted.   
 
 

114



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 
4. Policy 20.4 Prior to approving the first development plan with the Wekiva Parkway Interchange 

vision Plan Area, the City shall adopt the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Form-Based Cod establishing 
the design and development standards for the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area. 
 
The subject properties will be required to comply with the above policy should the development 
submit a development plan to ensure consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Wekiva Parkway 
Interchange Vision Plan. 
 

5. Policy 20.9 Development within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Area shall be assigned a 
Mixed-Use Interchange future land use designation and shall accomplish an overall mix of residential 
and non-residential uses as outline in Policy 3.1.r.  Assignment of the Mixed-Use Interchange Land 
Use future land use designation shall require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The applicant’s request for a Mixed Use future land use designation is consistent with this policy, 
as well as the intent of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan area, which intends to 
concentrate a mixture of land uses with varying densities and intensities within one mile of the 
Wekiva Parkway Interchange. 
 

6. Policy 20.3.  The annexation, land use change, and subsequent development of lands located within 
the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Area for Apopka and the Wekiva Interchange Land Use Plan 
Overlay for the County shall be consistent with the adopted Interlocal Agreement between Orange 
County and the City of Apopka regarding Wekiva Interchange Land Use Plan Overlay. 
 

7. Objective 19 and 20, and their associated policies.  See objectives and policies within the 
supporting information. 

 
Transportation Element 
 

1. Policy 4.2 The City of Apopka shall promote, through the implementation of programs such as 
mixed-use land development, projects that support reduced travel demand, short trip lengths and 
balanced trip demand. 
 
The Mixed Use future land use designation allows for a mixture of land use types such as residential 
and non-residential, which promotes shorter trip lengths, concentrated development to reduce travel 
demand. 
 

2. Policy 3.1.r The primary intent of the Mixed Use land use category is to allow a mixture of 
residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, institutional uses and public facilities 
uses…This mix of land uses may occur on a single parcel or multiple parcels in the form of: a 
permitted single use; a vertical combination of different permitted uses; or a horizontal mix of 
different permitted uses. 
 

3. Policy 4.2 The City of Apopka shall promote, through the implementation of programs such as 
mixed-use land development, projects that support reduced travel demand, shorter trip lengths and 
balanced trip demand. 
 

4. Objective 20 and associated Policies, Future Land Use Element.  Provided with the Supporting 
Information. 

 
VISIONING AND SPECIAL STUDIES:  The properties are located within the boundaries of the Wekiva 
Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area, making it subject to the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code, 
Mixed- Use Interchange Zoning District and Neighborhood Overlay District.  A copy of the Wekiva 
Parkway Interchange Vision Plan is provided with the support material. 
 
 

115



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:   An executed capacity enhancement agreement with Orange County 
Public Schools must be submitted to the City prior to scheduling a hearing for a rezoning, overlay, district 
and master plan, consistent with the Kelly Park Form Based Code.  Density for the property is not 
determined until the Overlay District and Master Plan application are submitted and proceed to a public 
hearing.  For the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area (aka Kelly Park Form-Based Code Area), 
Policy 20.11 of the Future land Use Element limits the maximum residential development within the  
Interchange Plan Area to 7,500 single family homes and 8,500 multi-family units. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 
any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on March 9th, 2018.    
Notification has already occurred through the Second Amendment to the Joint Planning Agreement with 
Orange County government.  The second amendment acknowledges that the City will assign a land use 
designation similar to the overlay district illustrated in the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
May 8, 2018– Planning Commission (5:30 pm)  
May 16, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading & Transmittal 
December 5, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading & Adoption 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
April 24, 2018– Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief, poster and letters) 
November 23, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval to transmit a change in Future Land Use to 

Mixed Use Interchange for the property owned by Kent Greer subject to the information and findings in the 

staff report. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the Future Land Use Designation 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and recommended a change in Future Land Use Designation to 

Mixed Use Interchange for the properties owned by Kent Greer subject to the information and findings in 

the staff report. 

 

The City Council, at its meeting on May 16, 2018, accepted the first reading of Ordinance No. 2645 and 

authorized transmittal to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. 

 

Recommended Motion:  Adopt Ordinance No. 2645 

 

Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  

116



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City and 

County) 

“City” Agriculture and 

“County” Rural  

“City” 

Agriculture and 

“County” Rural  

Nurseries and Single Family Homes 

East (County) “County” Rural  “County” A-1 Nursery 

South (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Nurseries and Single Family Homes  

West (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1  Single Family Homes 

 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 
Analysis for the Future Land Use Designation was performed as part of the adopted Wekiva Parkway 
Interchange Vision Plan.  This Vision Plan has been incorporated into the Comprehensive Plan.  The subject 
property straddles the one-mile radius from the interchange, and the property owner has selected to pull the 
entire property into the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code Area (aka Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
Vision Plan Area). 
 
Therefore, the proposed Mixed Use Interchange future land use designation is consistent with the general 
future land use character and long-range planning goals of the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area: Yes 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 
 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 
on October 26, 2004 and amended the JPA in October 19, 2010 to address the Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
Vision Plan.  The subject property is consistent with the Vision Plan incorporated into Amendment 2 of the 
Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 
 
 Transportation:  Road access to the site is from West Kelly Park Road. 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 
adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 
adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 
reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 
Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and storm water run-off through the 
following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2; Objective 19, 20. 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that the parcels appear to occur within an area having a potential for  karst features. 
  
 

 
 

117



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 
Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the property is for agriculture. Analysis 

of the FLUM designation occurred as part of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan.  A regional 
electrical power line easement runs across a portion of the subject property.   Use of the property under the 
easement may be limited by the utility easement granted to Duke Energy. 
 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: Based on the adoption 
of the JPA, the size of the property, and the proposed land use change, the amendment will increase the 
population by as many as 518 residents.  The applicant proposes to develop the property as single family 
residential subdivision. Land use analysis was conducted as part of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision 
Plan. 
 
CALCULATIONS: 
 
 ADOPTED: 7 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 18 persons 

PROPOSED: 195 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 518 persons  
   
 Housing Needs:  The housing need is demonstrated through the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision 

Plan area Study.  Policy 20.11 of the Future land Use Element limits the maximum residential development 

within the Wekiva Interchange Plan Area to 7,500 single family homes and 8,500 multi-family units. 
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 
for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary 
Development Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and 
submit a habitat management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project 
site. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. The road system shall be consistent with the 
intent of the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code. 
 
 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 
GPD / Capita 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  1,372    GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    38,220  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 
None 

 
 Potable Water Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 
GPD / Capita 

  
118



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     1,470  GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   40,950  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available: Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 
amendment: None 

 
8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes 

 
 Solid Waste 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 
 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 
Apopka 

 
3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     28    lbs/  day 

 
4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   2,072    lbs /  day 

 
5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  
 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:   None 
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 
119



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
 Recreation 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 
capita 

 
2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.054  acres 

 
3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  1.554    acres 

 
4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 

This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

  

120



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

Kent Greer 

Property Owners 

39.15 +/- Acres 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From:  Rural Settlement 

To: Mixed Use Interchange 
Parcel ID #: 14-20-27-0000-00-021, 084, 005 

  
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

  

121



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE 

 

 

 

  

122



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 11 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
123



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 12 

 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
124



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

KENT GREER – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 13 

 

 

KELLY PARK CROSSING  

FORM-BASED CODE AREA 

        

 

 

 
 

Subject 

Property 

125



ORDINANCE NO. 2645 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM RURAL SETTLEMENT TO 

MIXED USE - INTERCHANGE FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 

GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF WEST KELLY PARK ROAD AND 

EAST OF ROUND LAKE ROAD, OWNED BY KENT GREER; 

COMPRISING 39.6 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, on October 2, 1991 adopted 

Ordinance No. 653 which adopted the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Apopka; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has subsequently amended the Comprehensive Plan for 

the City of Apopka, most recently through Ordinance No. 2560; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s Local Planning Agency and the City Council have 

conducted the prerequisite advertised public hearings, as per Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relative 

to the transmittal and adoption of this ordinance and the requirements for amendment to the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows:  

 

 SECTION I: The City of Apopka hereby amends the Future Land Use Element of the 

adopted Comprehensive Plan as follows:   

 

 The Future Land Use Map is hereby amended for the property identified in Exhibit “A” of 

this Ordinance, and incorporated herein by reference.  

 

 SECTION II: This Ordinance shall become effective following adoption and upon issuance 

by the Department of Economic Opportunity or the Administration Commission, as may be 

applicable, a final order finding the amendment to be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 

163.3184.  

 

 SECTION III: If any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 

to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 

force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this ordinance.  

 

 SECTION IV:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 

 

126



ORDINANCE NO. 2645 

PAGE 2 

 

 

 

SECTION V: This Ordinance shall become effective upon issuance of a final order by the 

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity finding the plan amendment in compliance in 

accordance with s.163.3184 (2)(a), Florida Statute. 

 

 

 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 5th 

day of December, 2018. 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME: May 16, 2018 

  

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED: 

 

December 5, 2018 

 

 

 

_______________________________________                                                                       

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                            

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: April 24, 2018; November 23, 2018 

  

127



ORDINANCE NO. 2645 

PAGE 3 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
Kent Greer 

Property Owners 

39.6 +/- Acres 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From:  Rural Settlement 

To: Mixed Use Interchange 
Parcel ID #: 14-20-27-0000-00-021, 084, 005 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Aerial Map 
    Ordinance No. 2670 
    Concept Plan 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2670 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE 
LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC 

   
REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2670 – FIRST READING - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE 

SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC, 
FROM RESIDENTIAL LOW (O-5 DU/AC) AND RESIDENTIAL LOW SUBURBAN 
(0-3.5 DU/AC) TO RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM LOW (0-7.5 DU/AC); AND AUTHORIZE 
TRANSMITTAL TO THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC 
OPPORTUNITY. 

  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:   Radam Investment, LLC 
 
APPLICANT:   Lowndes, Drosdick, Doster, Kantor & Reed, P.A., c/o Jonathan Huels 
 
LOCATION: North of Apopka Boulevard and West of S. Lake Pleasant Road 
 
PARCEL ID #(S): 23-21-28-0000-00-029, 23-21-28-0000-00-030, 23-21-28-0000-00-043 
 
EXISTING USE:  3 Single Family Homes 
 
DEVELOPMENT  
POTENTIAL:   235 Dwelling Units 
 
CURRENT ZONING: R-1AA (Single Family Residential) and ZIP (Zoning in Progress) 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Planned Unit Development  
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING FLU: 88 Dwelling Units 
FLUM:    PROPOSED FLU: 153 Dwelling Units 
 
TRACT SIZE:   23.52 +/- acres  

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 
155



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The applicant intends to use the subject properties for a multi-family residential 
community, and requests the City to assign a future land use designation of Residential Medium Low to the property.  
 
The subject properties were annexed into the City on September 17, 2003 via Ordinance No. 1606 and on October 
17, 1990 via Ordinance No. 634.  The proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment is being requested by the 
owner/applicant.  Pursuant to Florida law, properties ten acres or more are required to undergo review by State 
planning agencies. 
 
A request to assign a Future Land Use Designation of Residential Medium Low is compatible with the designations 
assigned to abutting properties.  The FLUM application covers approximately 23.52 acres.  

 
Residential Medium Low Future Land Uses: 
 

“The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 7.5 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 
middle schools; high schools; supporting infrastructure of less than five acres.” 

 
In conjunction with state requirements, staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that adequate 
public facilities exist to support this land use change (see attached Land Use Report).  Based on the findings of the 
Land Use report, the proposed FLUM amendment is compatible with the surrounding and nearby land uses and the 
character of the general area. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the Residential 
Medium Low designation. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  An executed capacity enhancement agreement with Orange County Public 
Schools will be required prior to adoption of the future land use amendment. At the present time, the subject property 
is located in the following attendance zone boundaries:  Wekiva High School; Piedmont Lakes Middle School; 
Lakeville Elementary School. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before any public 
hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on July 19, 2018. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 
December 5, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading & Transmittal 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
November 2, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) and Notification (letters and posting) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and recommends transmittal of the change in Future Land Use 
from Residential Low (0-5 du/ac) and Residential Low Suburban (0-3.5 du/ac) to Residential Medium Low (0-7.5 
du/ac) for the properties owned by Radam Investment, LLC. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its November 13, 2018 meeting, found the proposed amendment consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area; and unanimously recommended 
approval of the of the Future Land Use Map designation from Residential Low and Residential Low Suburban to 
Residential Medium Low and transmittal to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity for the properties 
owned by Radam Investment, LLC. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2670 and authorize transmittal to the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity. 
 

Note: This item is considered Legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and 

made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  
156



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) “County” Low Density Residential A-1 Grasslands 

East (City 

and County) 

“County” Low Density Residential A-1 Single Family Home and Retention 

Pond; Piedmont Park community 

South 

(County) 

“City” Residential Medium Low PUD Chelsea Parc Subdivision 

West 

(County) 

“City” Residential Low  

and “County” Low Density 

Residential 

A-1, R-1AA, 

R-2 

Single Family Homes and Lake 

Pleasant Cove Subdivision 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 

The applicant intends to use this site for a multi-family residential complex.  

 

North: Abutting the subject property to the north is a vacant property. 

 

West: The properties to the west are single family homes and Lake Pleasant and Lake Pleasant 

Cove Residential Single Family Subdivision.  The nearest home within the Lake Pleasant 

Cove community is over 400 feet from the eastern property line of the subject site. 

 

South: South Apopka Boulevard and Chelsea Parc Residential Subdivision.  Chelsea Parc 

Community has typical residential lots with a width of 32 feet and a typical lot area of 3,300 

sq. 

 

East: To the east is a single family house and Lake Pleasant Road.   Piedmont Park residential 

community is located on the east side of Lake Pleasant Road.  Distance between the subject 

property and the nearest home within Piedmont Park is at least 360 lineal feet.  Typical lots 

in Piedmont Park have a 52 foot width and an area of 5460 sq. ft. 

 

The proposed future land use designation of Residential Medium Low (0-7.5 du/ac) is consistent with the 

surrounding future land use designations to the west and south, considering the proposed use, and with 

current Chelsa Parc small lot community, and distance of at least 360 feet and 400 feet to Piedmont Park 

subdivision  and to Lake Pleasant Cove subdivision, respectively. 

 
Other Information:  
  

Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 

 
Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act:   The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  While located within the Wekiva River Basin 
Study Area, the subject property is not located within the Protection Area. The proposed amendment is 
consistent with the adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 157



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 
amendment has been reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater 
resources.  The City of Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater 
run-off through the following policies: 
 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that karst features are within the vicinity of this property. 
 
 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The properties abut S. Apopka Boulevard. Across S. 
Apopka Boulevard is the Chelsea Parc subdivision where the typical lot width is 32’, with Residential 
Medium Low Future Land Use.  Commercial Future Land Use Designation and a Commercial 
Neighborhood zoning category are assigned to a 1.1 acre parcel at the corner of Lakeville Road and Apopka 
Blvd.  
 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 
land use designation for the subject site is Residential Medium Low (0 – 7.5 du/ac).   A change to a 
residential land use of Medium Low Density will generate an estimated population increase up to 406 
persons. Based on the housing element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will increase the 
City’s future population, but a housing supply is needed to meet the growing population.  
 
CALCULATIONS: 
 
EXISTING:  Residential Low (0-5 DU/AC, 4.026 AC) 

Residential Low Suburban (0-3.5 DU/AC, 19.492 AC) 
  88 D/U X 2.659 p/h = 233 persons 
 
PROPOSED:  Residential Medium Low (0-7.5 DU/AC, 20.52 AC: Developable Area): 

 7.5 DU/AC x 20.52 = 153 max DU 
  153 D/U x 2.659 p/h = 624 persons 
  Net Increase= 406 Persons 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: Per policy 4.1 of the 
Conservation Element, a habitat study is required for developments ten (10) acres or more in size.  This site 
is greater than ten acres.  A habitat study will be required at the time of a development plan application. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 Potable Water, Reclaimed Water & Sanitary Sewer Analysis: The subject property is located within 
the City of Apopka service area for potable water, reclaimed water and sanitary service.    
 

 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD 

/ Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 158



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  17,248    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    46,060  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     39,952  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   106,690  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     932    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   2,496    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None  

 159



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:   Lake Pleasant 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 25 year – 96 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 25 year – 96 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.699  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  1.872    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
  

160



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 
Radam Investment LLC 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Residential Low and Residential Low Suburban 

To: Residential Medium Low (0-7.5 DU/AC) 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: R-1AA & A-1 (ZIP)  
To: Planned Unit Development (PUD) 

Parcel ID #s: 23-21-28-0000-00-029, -030, -043  
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 161



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 162



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 163



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

RADAM INVESTMENT, LLC – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

164



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2670 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM RESIDENTIAL LOW AND 

RESIDENTIAL LOW SUBURBAN TO RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM LOW 

FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED NORTH OF 

S. APOPKA BOULEVARD AND WEST OF S. LAKE PLEASANT ROAD, 

OWNED BY RADAM INVESTMENT LLC; COMPRISING 23.67 ACRES, 

MORE OR LESS, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING 

FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, on October 2, 1991 adopted 

Ordinance No. 653 which adopted the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Apopka; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has subsequently amended the Comprehensive Plan for 

the City of Apopka, most recently through Ordinance No. 2662; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s Local Planning Agency and the City Council have 

conducted the prerequisite advertised public hearings, as per Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relative 

to the transmittal and adoption of this ordinance and the requirements for amendment to the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows:  

 

 SECTION I: The City of Apopka hereby amends the Future Land Use Element of the 

adopted Comprehensive Plan as follows:   

 

 The Future Land Use Map is hereby amended for the property identified in Exhibit “A” of 

this Ordinance, and incorporated herein by reference.  

 

 SECTION II: This Ordinance shall become effective following adoption and upon issuance 

by the Department of Economic Opportunity or the Administration Commission, as may be 

applicable, a final order finding the amendment to be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 

163.3184.  

 

 SECTION III: If any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 

to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 

force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this ordinance.  

 

 SECTION IV:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

165



ORDINANCE NO. 2670 

PAGE 2 

 

SECTION V: This Ordinance shall become effective upon issuance of a final order by the 

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity finding the plan amendment in compliance in 

accordance with s.163.3184 (2)(a), Florida Statute. 

 

 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 

____ day of __________, 2019. 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME: December 5, 2018 

  

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED: 

 

 

_______________________________________                                                                       

        Bryan Nelson, Mayor                            

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: November 2, 2018 

  

166



ORDINANCE NO. 2670 

PAGE 3 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

Radam Investment LLC 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: Residential Low and Residential Low Suburban 

To: Residential Medium Low (0-7.5 DU/AC) 

Parcel ID #s: 23-21-28-0000-00-029, -030, -043  

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

167



168



169



170



171



172



173



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Aerial Map 
    Ordinance No. 2676 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2676 – ADMINISTRATIVE – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL 
SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RENUKA PRASAD 

   
REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2676 – FIRST READING - ADMINISTRATIVE – 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
– RENUKA PRASAD, FROM MIXED USE TO COMMERCIAL; AND HOLD OVER 
SECOND READING AND ADOPTION. 

  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNER: Renuka Prasad 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka 

 

LOCATION: North of West Orange Blossom Trail and West of S.R. 429 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 

EXISTING USE: Tire and Automotive Services 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” C-2 (ZIP) 

 

PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Tire and Automotive Services 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” C-2 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed along 

with a request to change the zoning classification from “County” C-2 (ZIP)  to 
“City” C-2 (General Commercial District). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   3.17 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:  not applicable without City zoning designation 

    PROPOSED:  34,479 sq. ft. commercial space 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 

174



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on October 7, 2009 by 
Ordinance Number 2124.  Presently, the subject property has a “City” future land use designation of Mixed 
Use; however, no “City” zoning classification has been assigned. Based on a letter from the property 
owner’s attorney, the property owner supports and requests a Commercial Future Land Use Designation 
and C-2 Zoning. The property owner’s intent is to retain similar property rights/ permitted uses that were 
granted to the property when in unincorporated Orange County.  Use of the subject property is an automobile 
repair business, and was used as such at the time of annexation. 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Commercial Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the 

Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies support a 

Commercial FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 

1. Policy 3.1.i  
 
Commercial 
 

Primary uses shall be for business, commerce, and convenience shopping which may be neighborhood or 
community oriented. The maximum floor area ratio shall be .25 gross floor area. Institutional land uses of 
less than five acres; and public facilities or utilities of less than five acres. 
Planned Unit Development uses may include: (Policy 3.1.i) 
 

1. All primary uses 

2. All Special Exception uses 

3. Multifamily Development of up to fifteen dwelling units per acre, when located within a primary 
use structure 

4. Other uses deemed compatible with and complimentary to the other proposed master planned uses 
and the surrounding neighborhoods.  

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  Because this request represents a change to a non-residential future 
land use designation and zoning classification, school capacity determination by Orange County Public 
Schools is not required. 
 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on August 6, 2018.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  
November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 

December 7, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 

  

175



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee: finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Commercial for the property owned by Renuka Prasad, and located at 3349 

W. Orange Blossom Trail. 

 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed Future Land Use 
amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding 
area; and unanimously recommended approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from Mixed 
Use to Commercial, subject to the findings of the Staff Report for the property owned by Renuka Prasad, 
and located at 3349 W. Orange Blossom Trail. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2676, and hold over for second reading 
and adoption on December 19, 2018.  
 

Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
  

176



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Morrison’s Subdivision 

East (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Woodlands and Single Family Homes 

South (City) “City” Industrial “City” I-1 Copart Automotive 

West (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Woodlands 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 

 

The subject property is located on a site that is ideal for commercial use, which makes the request for a 

Commercial future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, as 

well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 

 

Properties to the south are developed as industrial properties, with properties to the north developed as 

residential properties. The proposed Commercial Future Land Use will act as a transition between the 

residential and industrial properties. Furthermore, the property is accessed from the arterial road, West 

Orange Blossom Trail, with close access to the State Route 429 Interchange.  

 

The proposed Residential Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future 

land use character of the surrounding area.  

 

 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 

 DRI / FQD: No 

 

 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 

on October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “West Area” of the JPA.  The proposed 

FLUM Amendment request for a change from Mixed Use to Commercial (Max. 0.25 FAR) is consistent with 

the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  Renuka Prasad is the property owner of the proposed future 

land use amendment and proposed change of zoning for the property, and has been notified of the hearing 

schedule.   

 

 Transportation: Road access to the site is from West Orange Blossom. 

 

 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 

adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 

reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 

Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 

following policies: 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 

177



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   

 

 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is an Auto Repair Facility 

and an Auto Parts Vendor. 

 

 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 

land use designation for the property is Commercial (max FAR 0.25).  Based on the housing element of the 

City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population 

 

CALCULATIONS: 
ADOPTED: 1 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 3 persons 

PROPOSED: N/A, no residential 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 

for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  The subject site is less than 10 acres; thus, a habitat 

study is not required. 

 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 

Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 

GPD / Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  5,172    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    5,172  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

178



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 

  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     6,896  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   6,896  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes 

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     69    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:    69    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:   None 

179



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 

capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  N/A  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  N/A    acres 

 

Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: None  

 

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 

parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development. 

This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

180



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 

Renuka Prasad 
3.17 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Mixed Use  
To: Commercial 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” C-2 (ZIP) 

To: “City” C-2 
Parcel ID #: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

181



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 

  

182



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

183



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 11 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

184



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2676 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 
FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM MIXED USE TO 
COMMERCIAL (MAX. 0.25 FAR) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 
LOCATED NORTH OF WEST ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL AND WEST 
OF STATE ROUTE 429, COMPRISING 3.17 ACRES MORE OR LESS, 
AND OWNED BY RENUKA PRASAD; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka Comprehensive 
Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes 
and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2659 adopted on September 19, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 
preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 
amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 
Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I. Purpose and Intent. 
 
 This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and intent of, and exercise the authority 
set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section II. Future Land Use Element. 
  
 Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance No. 2659, is amended in its entirety 
to change the land use from Mixed Use to Commercial (Max. 0.25 FAR), for certain real property 
located North of West Orange Blossom Trail and West of State Route 429, comprising 3.17 acres 
more or less, (Parcel No. 01-21-27-0000-00-037); as further described in Exhibit “A” attached 
hereto. 
 
 Section III. Applicability and Effect. 
 
 The applicability and effect of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided 
by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section IV.  Severability. 
 
 If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

185



ORDINANCE NO. 2676 

PAGE 3 

 Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 
Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 

 

Section VI. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 
          day of                        , 2018. 
 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
December 5, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:  

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 ______________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                         
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR HEARING: November 2, 2018; December 7, 2018 

 

186



ORDINANCE NO. 2676 

PAGE 3 

EXHIBIT “A” 
Renuka Prasad 
3.17 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Mixed Use  
To: Commercial 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” C-2 (Zoning in Progress) 

To: “City” C-2 (General Commercial District) 
Parcel ID #: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 
 

 

 

 

187



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Aerial Map 
    Ordinance No. 2677 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2677 – ADMINISTRATIVE – CHANGE OF ZONING – RENUKA 
PRASAD 

   
REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2677 – FIRST READING - ADMINISTRATIVE – CHANGE OF 

ZONING – RENUKA PRASAD, FROM “COUNTY’’ C-2 TO “CITY” C-2; AND HOLD 
OVER SECOND READING AND ADOPTION. 

  
SUMMARY: 

 

OWNER: Renuka Prasad 

 

APPLICANT: City of Apopka 

 

LOCATION: North of West Orange Blossom Trail and West of S.R. 429 

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 

EXISTING USE: Tire and Automotive Services 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” C-2 (ZIP) 

 

PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Tire and Automotive Services 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” C-2 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being processed along with a 

request to change the Future Land Use from Mixed Use to Commercial (Max. 0.25 
FAR) 

  
TRACT SIZE:   3.17 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:   34,479 sq. ft. commercial space 

    PROPOSED: 34,479 sq. ft. commercial space 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 

 

 

188



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The applicant is requesting the City to assign a zoning classification of C-2 (General Commercial 
District) to the property.  Prior to annexing into the City, the subject property was assigned a “County” 
Commercial Future Land Use Designation and a “County” C-2 zoning category. The intent for requesting 
“City” C-2 zoning is to retain the permitted uses that were once granted to the property when in Orange 
County, with “County” C-2 zoning.  At the time the property annexed into the City of Apopka, the property 
was used for an automobile repair business, which remains the current use of the property.  Automobile 
repair is the present use. 
 
The subject parcel was annexed into the city on October 7, 2009 by Ordinance Number 2124. 
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to C-2 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and with 
the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The change of zoning request is being 
processed in conjunction with a future land use amendment from “City” Mixed Use to “City” Commercial. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Commercial (Max. 25% Floor Area Ratio) Future Land Use designation and the City’s 
C-2 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the Future Land Use 
policies.  
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  School capacity enhancement and concurrency is not applicable as the 
property is zoned for and used as commercial. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
Planning Commission, November 13, 2018 (5:30 pm) 
City Council, December 5, 2018 (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 
City Council, December 19, 2018 (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
November 2, 2018 - Public Notice and Notification- (Apopka Chief, letter to property owner) 
December 7, 2018 - Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas and the current use of the property, 
recommending approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from “County” C-2 (ZIP) to “City” C-2 for the 
property owned by Renuka Prasad, and located at 3349 W. Orange Blossom Trail. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and 
unanimously recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from “County” C-2 to “City” C-2 
for the property owned by Renuka Prasad, and located at 3349 W. Orange Blossom Trail. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2677, and hold it over for second 
reading and adoption on December 19, 2018.  
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

 
 

189



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 3 

 
ZONING REPORT 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Morrison’s Subdivision 

East (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1  Woodlands and Single Family Homes 

South (City) “City” Industrial “City” I-1 Copart Automotive 

West (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1  Woodlands 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from the arterial road, West Orange 

Blossom Trail.  In the vicinity is the S.R. 429 interchange. With the 

given infrastructure, C-2 zoning is an adequate zoning designation for 

the subject property.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed C-2 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future Land 

Use designation, “Commercial” (Max. 25% FAR) and with the 

character of the surrounding area and future proposed development. 

Development Plans shall not exceed the density allowed in the 

adopted Future Land Use designation.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
190



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 4 

 

Renuka Prasad 
3.17 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Mixed Use  
To: Commercial 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” C-2 (ZIP) 

To: “City” C-2 
Parcel ID #: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

191



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

192



CITY COUNCIL – SEPTEMBER 5, 2018 

PRASAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

193



ORDINANCE NO. 2677 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” C-2 (ZIP) TO “CITY” C-2 (GENERAL 
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 
GENERALLY LOCATED NORTH OF WEST ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL 
AND WEST OF S.R. 429, COMPRISING 3.17 ACRES MORE OR LESS, 
AND OWNED BY RENUKA PRASAD; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS 
TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, 
CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed C-2 (General Commercial District) zoning has been found to 

be consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as C-2 (General Commercial District) as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code and as 

appearing in Exhibit “A”: 

 

Property Description: 

 

9924/7712 INCOMPLETE LEGAL DESC: W 528 FT OF E 820 FT OF NW1/4 OF NE1/4 

N OF ST RD (LESS BEG 249 FT S & 292 FT W OF NE COR OF SAID NW1/4 OF NE1/4 

RUN W 128 FT S TO ST RD SELY ALONG RD TO PT S OF POB TH N TO POB & 

LESS N 30 FT FOR RD R/W) IN SEC 01-21-27 

 

Parcel ID #: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

194



ORDINANCE 2677 

PAGE 2 

 

 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

 

Section VI.  This Ordinance shall take effect if and when the companion Comprehensive 

Plan Future Land Use Map amendment relative to the subject property (Ord. 2676) becomes 

effective pursuant to § 163.3187(5)(c), Fla. Stat. If the companion Comprehensive Plan Future 

Land Use Map amendment does not become effective, then this Ordinance shall become null and 

void. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

           Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: November 2, 2018, December7, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
December 5, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

195



ORDINANCE 2677 

PAGE 3 

 

Renuka Prasad 
3.17 +/- acres  

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” C-2 (ZIP) 

To: “City” C-2 (General Commercial District) 
Parcel ID #: 01-21-27-0000-00-037 

 

VICINITY MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

196



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:   Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2682 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2682 – ADMINISTRATIVE - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL 
SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON 

   
REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2682 – FIRST READING – ADMINISTRATIVE - 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – 
DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON; FROM “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL (0-4 DU/AC) TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-
2 DU/AC); AND HOLD IT OVER FOR SECOND READING AND ADOPTION. 

  
SUMMARY: 
 
OWNERS: Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
 
APPLICANT: City of Apopka 
  
LOCATION: 585 E. Sandpiper Street 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 
 
EXISTING USE: Single Family House 
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” A-2 (ZIP-Zoning in Progress) 
 
PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family House 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed 

along with a request to change the zoning classification from “County” A-2 (ZIP)  
to “City” RCE-1 (Residential Country Estates 1 District). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.92 +/- acres  
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    7 Dwelling Units 
    PROPOSED:  3 Dwelling Units 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 

197



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on October 16, 2013 by 
Ordinance Number 2333.  Presently, the subject property is without a “city” future land use and zoning 
designation. The proposed Future Land Use, “Residential Very Low Suburban” is compatible with the 
property due to its size and existing uses. In addition, “Residential Very Low Suburban” can be found in 
the vicinity of the property, including the south-adjacent subdivision, Lakeshore at Wekiva.  
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the density 

allowed by the Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies 

support a Residential Very Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 
Policy 3.1.c  
 
Very Low Density Suburban Residential  
 
The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 
middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.  
 
Special exception uses shall include: 
  

1) Institutional uses of five acres or less  
 
2) High schools 
 
3) Supporting infrastructure and public facilities of two acres or more 
 
4) Horticultural nurseries as a primary use;  

 
Planned Development uses may include:  
 

(1) All primary uses  
 
(2) All special exception uses  
 
(3) Neighborhood commercial uses at a rate not in excess of 25 square feet of gross floor area per 

residential unit in the PUD. Commercial uses must be completely internalized within the PUD.  
 
(4) Other uses deemed compatible with and complementary to the other proposed master planned uses 

and the surrounding neighborhoods 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  The proposed future land use change will result no result in an increase 
in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  Therefore, the property 
is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning Agreement. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  

November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

198



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief); Property owner(s) were notified of 

the hearing schedule via U.S. Postal Service mail. 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee: finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by Douglas and 

Jeri Bankson, and located at 585 E. Sandpiper Street. 

 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed Future Land Use 
amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding 
area; and unanimously recommended approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from 
“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the 
Staff Report. 
 
City Council: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2682, and hold it over for second reading and 
adoption on December 19, 2018.  
 

Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

  

199



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2 Single Family Home 

East (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2  Single Family Home 

South (City) “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” PUD Lakeshore at Wekiva Subdivision 

West (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2  Single Family Home 

 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 
The subject property currently contains one dwelling unit, which makes the request for a Residential Very Low 
Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, as well as 
the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 
 
The proposed Residential Very Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future 
land use character of the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 
 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement on 
October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Core Area” of the JPA.  The proposed FLUM 
Amendment request for a change from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
are the property owners of the proposed future land use amendment and proposed change of zoning for the 
property, and have been notified of the hearing schedule.   
 
 Transportation: Road access to the site is from E. Sandpiper Street 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the adopted 
Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the adopted 
mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been reviewed 
against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of Apopka's adopted 
Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   
 
Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is a single family home.  The 

surrounding area is predominantly single family residential. 
 

Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future land 
use designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC). Based on the housing element 
of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 
 

  
200



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 
CALCULATIONS: 
ADOPTED: 7 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 18 persons 
PROPOSED: 3 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h =   7 persons 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required for 
developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary Development 
Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and submit a habitat 
management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project site. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to Chapter 
3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 

Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD / 
Capita 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    392  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:    1,372   GPD/Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   588   GPD/Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: None 
 
 Potable Water Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 GPD / 
Capita 

  
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     3,178   GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    1,362  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available: Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 
None 

 
8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  

 
  

201



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 
Solid Waste 

 
1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 
2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 
 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     72    lbs/  day 
 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   28    lbs /  day 
 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 
None  

 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:     Lake Prevatt      
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation:  25 year – 96 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  25 year – 96 hour design storm 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
 Recreation 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 
 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.054  acres 
 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.021    acres 
 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 
amendment: None 

 
Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide parkland 
and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development.    This initial review 
does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development approval. 
 
 

202



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 

Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
1.92 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” A-2 (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 

 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

203



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
204



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

205



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

206



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2682 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 
FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 
DU/AC) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 585 E. 
SANDPIPER STREET, COMPRISING 1.92 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND 
OWNED BY DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka Comprehensive 
Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes 
and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2659 adopted on September 19, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 
preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 
amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 
Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I. Purpose and Intent. 
 
 This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and intent of, and exercise the authority 
set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section II. Future Land Use Element. 
  
 Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance No. 2659, is amended in its entirety 
to change the land use from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban (0-2 DU/AC), for certain real property located at 585 E. Sandpiper Street, comprising 
1.92 acres more or less, (Parcel No. 03-21-28-0000-00-068); as further described in Exhibit “A” 
attached hereto. 
 
 Section III. Applicability and Effect. 
 
 The applicability and effect of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided 
by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section IV.  Severability. 
 
 If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

207



ORDINANCE NO. 2682 

PAGE 2 

 Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 
Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 
 

Section VI. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 
             day of                           , 2018 
 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
December 5, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:  

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 ______________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                         
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR HEARING: November 2, 2018; December 7, 2018 

  

208



ORDINANCE NO. 2682 

PAGE 3 

 
EXHIBIT “A” 

Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
1.92 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” A-2 (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

209



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Ordinance No. 2683 
  

 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2683 – ADMINISTRATIVE - CHANGE OF ZONING – 

DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON 

   

REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2683 – FIRST READING – ADMINISTRATIVE - 

CHANGE OF ZONING – DOUGLAS AND JERI BANKSON – FROM 

“COUNTY” A-2 TO “CITY” RCE-1; AND HOLD OVER FOR SECOND 

READING AND ADOPTION ON DECEMBER 19, 2018 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNERS:    Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
 
APPLICANT:    City of Apopka 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER:  03-21-28-0000-00-068 
 
LOCATION:  North of E. Sandpiper St. and East of Ustler Rd.  
 
EXISTING USE:   Single Family House  
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” A-2 (ZIP)  
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being 

processed along with a request to amend the Future Land Use from 
“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 

 
TRACT SIZE:    1.92 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER  EXISTING:  3 Dwelling Units 
ZONING DISTRICT:                         PROPOSED:  1 Dwelling Unit 
  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 
210



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CHANGE OF ZONING – DOUGLAS & JERI BANKSON 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The subject parcel was annexed into the city on October 16, 2013 by Ordinance Number 2333.  
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to RCE-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The RCE-1 zoning is compatible 
with the property due to the size and uses. The change of zoning request is being processed in conjunction 
with a future land use amendment from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/Acre) Future Land Use designation and the 
City’s RCE-1 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the Future 
Land Use policies.  
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 
increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  
Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 
Agreement. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
Planning Commission, November 13, 2018 (5:30 pm) 
City Council, December 5, 2018 (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 
City Council, December 19, 2018 (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
November 2, 2018 -- Public Notice and Notification- (Apopka Chief, letter to property owner) 
December 7, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” A-2 (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Douglas and Jeri 
Bankson, and located at 585 E. Sandpiper Road. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and 
unanimously recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from “County” A-2 to “City” RCE-
1 for the property owned by Douglas and Jeri Bankson, and located at 585 E. Sandpiper Road. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2683, and hold it over for second 
reading and adoption on December 19, 2018.  
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
  

211



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CHANGE OF ZONING – DOUGLAS & JERI BANKSON 

PAGE 3 

 

ZONING REPORT 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2 Single Family Home 

East (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2  Single Family Home 

South (City) “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” PUD Lakeshore at Wekiva Subdivision 

West (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-2  Single Family Home 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from E. Sandpiper Road. The 

subject property, along with other properties in the vicinity, are of a 

large-lot, residential nature. The requirements found in RCE-1 

zoning, along with the Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land 

Use can assist in maintaining a large-lot character.   

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed RCE-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 

DU/AC) and with the character of the surrounding area and future 

proposed development. Development Plans shall not exceed the 

density allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
  

212



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CHANGE OF ZONING – DOUGLAS & JERI BANKSON 

PAGE 4 

 

Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
1.92 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” A-2 (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
213



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CHANGE OF ZONING – DOUGLAS & JERI BANKSON 

PAGE 5 

 

 
 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 214



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CHANGE OF ZONING – DOUGLAS & JERI BANKSON 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

215



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2683 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” A-2 (ZIP) TO “CITY” RCE-1 
(RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATE 1 DISTRICT) FOR CERTAIN REAL 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 585 E SANDPIPER STREET, COMPRISING 
1.92 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY DOUGLAS AND JERI 
BANKSON PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed RCE-1 (Residential Country Estate 1 District) zoning has been 

found to be consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as RCE-1 (Residential Country Estate 1 District) as defined in the Apopka Land Development 

Code for the following described property and as depicted in Exhibit “A: 

 
Property Description: 

E1/2 OF W1/2 OF NW1/4 OF NE1/4 (LESS N 1012 FT THEREOF & LESS R/W FOR 

SANDPIPER RD & LESS E 20 FT THEREOF) OF SEC 03-21-28 
 

Parcel ID #: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

216



ORDINANCE 2683 
Page 2 
 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

 

Section VI. This Ordinance shall take effect if and when the companion Comprehensive 

Plan Future Land Use Map amendment relative to the subject property (Ord. 2682) becomes 

effective pursuant to § 163.3187(5)(c), Fla. Stat. If the companion Comprehensive Plan Future 

Land Use Map amendment does not become effective, then this Ordinance shall become null and 

void. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

          Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: November 2, 2018; December 7, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME:  December 5, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

217



ORDINANCE 2683 
Page 3 
 

Douglas and Jeri Bankson 
1.92 +/- acres  

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” A-2 (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 (Residential Country Estate 1 District) 
Parcel ID #: 03-21-28-0000-00-068 

 

ZONING MAP 
 

 

218



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2684 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2684 – ADMINISTRATIVE – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL 

SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - BRYAN AND DEBBIE NELSON 

   

REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2684 – FIRST READING - ADMINISTRATIVE – 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - 

BRYAN AND DEBBIE NELSON, FROM “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL 

(0-4 DU/AC) TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC); AND 

HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING AND ADOPTION. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNERS:   Bryan and Debbie Nelson 
 
APPLICANT:   City of Apopka 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 
 
LOCATION: 1157 Oakpoint Circle 
 
EXISTING USE:  Single Family House  
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP)  
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Future Land Use request is being processed along with a 

request to Change the Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1. 
 
TRACT SIZE:   1.27 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING: 5 Dwelling Units 
ZONING DISTRICT:                 PROPOSED: 2 Dwelling Unit 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  
219



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by 

Ordinance Number 2515. Presently, the subject property is without a “City” future land use and zoning 

designation. The proposed Future Land Use, “Residential Very Low Suburban” is compatible with the 

property due to its size and existing uses. In addition, “Residential Very Low Suburban” can be found in 

the vicinity of the property, including the north-adjacent subdivision, Lakeshore at Wekiva.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the density 

allowed by the Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies 

support a Residential Very Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 
Policy 3.1.c  
 
Very Low Density Suburban Residential  
 
The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 
middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.  
 
Special exception uses shall include: 
  

(1) Institutional uses of five acres or less  
 
(2) High schools 
 
(3) Supporting infrastructure and public facilities of two acres or more 
 
(4) Horticultural nurseries as a primary use;  

 
Planned Development uses may include:  

 
(1)  All primary uses  

(2)  All special exception uses  

(3) Neighborhood commercial uses at a rate not in excess of 25 square feet of gross floor area per 
residential unit in the PUD. Commercial uses must be completely internalized within the PUD.  

(4) Other uses deemed compatible with and complementary to the other proposed master planned uses 
and the surrounding neighborhoods 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 
increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  
Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 
Agreement  
 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  

 

 

 220



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  

November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 

December 7, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee: finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by Bryan and 

Debbie Nelson, and located at 1157 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed Future Land Use 

amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding 

area; and unanimously recommended approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from 

“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the 

Staff Report for the property owned by Bryan and Debbie Nelson, and located at 1157 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2684, and hold it over for second 
reading and adoption on December 19, 2018. 
 

Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

 
  

221



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” PUD Vacant Subdivision Lot (Lakeshore at 

Wekiva) 

East  “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP) “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE  Single Family Home 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 

 

The subject property currently contains one dwelling unit, which makes the request for a Residential Very 

Low Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, 

as well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 

 

Properties in all four cardinal directions are single-family residential in character. The Future Land Use 

designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” preserves a sparse residential nature.  

 

The proposed Residential Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future 

land use character of the surrounding area.  

 

 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 

 DRI / FQD: No 

 

 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 

on October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Core Area” of the JPA.  The proposed 

FLUM Amendment request for a change from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential 

Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  Bryan and 

Debbie Nelson are the property owners of the proposed future land use amendment and proposed change 

of zoning for the property, and have been notified of the hearing schedule.   

 

 Transportation: Road access to the site is from Oakpoint Circle. 

 

 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 

adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 

reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 

Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 

following policies: 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 

 
222



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   

 

Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is a single family home. 

The character of the surrounding area is single family residential. 

 

 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 

land use designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC). Based on the housing 

element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 

 

CALCULATIONS: 

ADOPTED: 5 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 13 persons 

PROPOSED: 2 Units(s) x 2.659 p/h = 5 persons 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 

for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  The subject property is less than 10 acres.  A habitat 

study is not required. 

 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 

Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 

GPD / Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    392  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:    980     GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   392   GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  
223



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     2,270   GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    908    GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     52    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   20    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 
224



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None         

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 

capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.039  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.015    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

  

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 

parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development.    This 

initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development 

approval. 
 
  
      
     
 

 

225



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 

Bryan and Debbie Nelson 

1.27 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
226



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 227



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 
228



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 11 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 
 
 

229



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2684 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 
FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL (0-4 DU\AC) TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW 
SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED 
AT 1157 OAKPOINT CIRCLE, COMPRISING 1.27 ACRES MORE OR 
LESS, AND OWNED BY BRYAN AND DEBBIE NELSON; PROVIDING 
FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka Comprehensive 
Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes 
and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2659 adopted on September 19, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 
preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 
amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 
Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I. Purpose and Intent. 
 
 This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and intent of, and exercise the authority 
set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section II. Future Land Use Element. 
  
 Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance No. 2659, is amended in its entirety 
to change the land use from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban (0-2 DU/AC), for certain real property located at 1157 Oakpoint Circle, comprising 1.27 
acres more or less, (Parcel No. 02-21-28-9090-00-020); as further described in Exhibit “A” 
attached hereto. 
 
 Section III. Applicability and Effect. 
 
 The applicability and effect of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided 
by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section IV.  Severability. 
 
 If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

230



ORDINANCE NO. 2684 

PAGE 2 

 
 Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 
Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 

 

Section VI. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 
             day of                  , 2018 
 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
December 5, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:  

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 
 ______________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                         
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR HEARING: November 2, 2018; December 7, 2018 

 

231



ORDINANCE NO. 2684 

PAGE 3 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Bryan and Debbie Nelson 
1.27 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

232



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2685 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2685 – ADMINISTRATIVE – CHANGE OF ZONING – BRYAN AND 

DEBBIE NELSON 

   

REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2685 – FIRST READING - ADMINISTRATIVE – CHANGE OF 

ZONING – BRYAN AND DEBBIE NELSON, FROM “COUNTY” R-CE (ZIP) TO 

“CITY” RCE-1; AND HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING AND ADOPTION. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNERS:   Bryan and Debbie Nelson 
 
APPLICANT:   City of Apopka 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 
 
LOCATION: 1157 Oakpoint Circle 
 
EXISTING USE:  Single Family House  
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP)  
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being processed along with a 

request to amend the Future Land Use from “County” Low Density Residential to 
“City” Residential Very Low Suburban. 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.27 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING: 2 Dwelling Units 
ZONING DISTRICT:                 PROPOSED: 1 Dwelling Unit 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  

233



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by Ordinance Number 2515.  
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to RCE-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The RCE-1 zoning is compatible 
with the property due to the size and uses. The change of zoning request is being processed in conjunction 
with a future land use amendment from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/Acre) Future Land Use designation and the 
City’s RCE-1 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the Future 
Land Use policies.  
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will not result in an increase in 
the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  Therefore, the property 
is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning Agreement. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
Planning Commission, November 13, 2018 (5:30 pm) 
City Council, December 5, 2018 (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 
City Council, December 19, 2018 (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
November 2, 2018 - Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief, letter to property owner) 
December 7, 2018 - Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Bryan and Debbie 
Nelson, and located at 1157 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and 
unanimously recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to 
“City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Bryan and Debbie Nelson, and located at 1157 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Recommended Action:  Accept the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2685 and Hold it Over for Second 
Reading and Adoption on December 19, 2018. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
  

234



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 3 

 
ZONING REPORT 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” PUD Vacant Subdivision Lot (Lakeshore at 

Wekiva) 

East  “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP) “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE  Single Family Home 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from Oakpoint Circle. The subject 

property, along with other properties in the vicinity, are of a large-lot, 

residential nature. The requirements found in RCE-1 zoning, along 

with the Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use can assist 

in maintaining a large-lot nature.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed RCE-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 

DU/AC) and with the character of the surrounding area and future 

proposed development. Development Plans shall not exceed the 

density allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
      
     
 

 

235



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 4 

 

Bryan and Debbie Nelson 

1.27 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
236



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 
237



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

NELSON – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 6 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

238



ORDINANCE NO. 2685 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” R-CE (ZIP) TO “CITY” RCE-1 

(RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATE 1 DISTRICT) FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1157 OAKPOINT CIRCLE, COMPRISING 

1.27 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY BRYAN AND DEBBIE 

NELSON PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed RCE-1 (Residential Country Estate 1 District) zoning has been 

found to be consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as RCE-1 (Residential Country Estate 1 District) as defined in the Apopka Land Development 

Code and as appearing in Exhibit “A”:  

 

 Property Description: 

 Wekiva Landing Plat, Platbook 14, Page 43; Lot 2 

 

Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

239



ORDINANCE 2685 

Page 2 

 

 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

 

Section VI.  This Ordinance shall take effect if and when the companion Comprehensive 

Plan Future Land Use Map amendment relative to the subject property (Ord. 2684) becomes 

effective pursuant to § 163.3187(5)(c), Fla. Stat. If the companion Comprehensive Plan Future 

Land Use Map amendment does not become effective, then this Ordinance shall become null and 

void. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

              Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: November 2, 2018; December 7, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME:  December 5, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

240



ORDINANCE 2685 

Page 3 

 
 

Bryan and Debbie Nelson 

1.27 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-020 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

241



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2686 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2686 – ADMINISTRATIVE – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL 
SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – WILLIAM D. AND ROBYN D. COOK 
REVOCABLE TRUST 

   
REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2686 – FIRST READING - ADMINISTRATIVE – 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – 
WILLIAM D. AND ROBYN D. COOK REVOCABLE TRUST; FROM “COUNTY” 
LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (0-4 DU/AC) TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW 
SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC); AND HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING AND 
ADOPTION. 

  
SUMMARY: 
 
OWNERS: William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 
 
APPLICANT: City of Apopka 
 
LOCATION: 1163 Oakpoint Circle 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 
 
EXISTING USE: Single Family House 
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP-Zoning in Progress) 
 
PROPOSED  
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family House 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed 

along with a request to change the zoning classification from “County” R-CE (ZIP)  
to “City” RCE-1 (Residential Single Family District). 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.27 +/- acres  
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING:    5 Dwelling Units 
    PROPOSED:  2 Dwelling Units 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  

242



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by 
Ordinance Number 2516. Presently, the subject property is without a “City” future land use and zoning 
designation. The proposed Future Land Use, “Residential Very Low Suburban” is compatible with the 
property due to its size and existing uses. In addition, “Residential Very Low Suburban” can be found in 
the vicinity of the property, including the north-adjacent subdivision, Lakeshore at Wekiva.  
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity 

allowed by the Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies 

support a Residential Very Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 
Policy 3.1.c  
 
Very Low Density Suburban Residential  
 
The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 
middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.  
 
Special exception uses shall include: 
  

1) Institutional uses of five acres or less  
 
2) High schools 
 
3) Supporting infrastructure and public facilities of two acres or more 
 
4) Horticultural nurseries as a primary use;  

 
Planned Development uses may include:  
 

(1) All primary uses  
 
(2) All special exception uses  
 
(3) Neighborhood commercial uses at a rate not in excess of 25 square feet of gross floor area per 

residential unit in the PUD. Commercial uses must be completely internalized within the PUD.  
 
(4) Other uses deemed compatible with and complementary to the other proposed master planned 

uses and the surrounding neighborhoods 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  The proposed future land use change will not increase the number of 
residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  Therefore, the property is exempt from 
school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning Agreement.  
 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  

November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  
243



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 

December 7, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee: finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by William D. 

Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust, and located at 1163 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed Future Land Use 
amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding 
area; and unanimously recommended approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from 
“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the 
Staff Report. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2686 and hold it over for second reading 
and adoption on December 19, 2018.  
 

Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  

244



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 
 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Directio

n 

Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “City” RVLS and “County” LDR “City” PUD and 

“County” RCE 

Vacant Subdivision Lot (Lakeshore at 

Wekiva) and Single Family Home 

East  “County” Low Density Residential 

(FLU-IP)  

“County” RCE 

(ZIP) 

Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 
The subject property currently contains one dwelling unit, which makes the request for a Residential Very Low 
Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, as well as the 
general future land use character of the surrounding area. 
 
Properties in all four cardinal directions are of a sparse residential nature. The Future Land Use designation, 
“Residential Very Low Suburban” preserves a sparse residential nature.  
 
The proposed Residential Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future land use 
character of the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 
 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement on October 
26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Core Area” of the JPA.  The proposed FLUM Amendment 
request for a change from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) 
is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 
are the property owners of the proposed future land use amendment and proposed change of zoning for the property, 
and have been notified of the hearing schedule.   
 
 Transportation: Road access to the site is from Oakpoint Circle. 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the adopted 
Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the adopted mandates 
and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been reviewed against the best 
available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan 
addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   
 
Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is a single family home.  The 

character of the surrounding area is single family residential. 
 

 
245



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future land use 
designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC). Based on the housing element of the 
City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 
 
CALCULATIONS: 
ADOPTED: 5 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 13 persons 
PROPOSED: 2 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h =   5 persons 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required for 
developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  The site is less than ten acres and is already developed.  A habitat 
management plan is not required. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to Chapter 3 of 
the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD / 
Capita 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    392  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:    980     GPD/Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   392   GPD/Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: None 
 
 Potable Water Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 GPD / 
Capita 

  
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     2,270   GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    908    GPD 
 

4. Capacity available: Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: None 
 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  
 
 

246



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 
 Solid Waste 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 
 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     52    lbs/  day 
 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   20    lbs /  day 
 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: None  
 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None         
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
 Recreation 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 
 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.039  acres 
 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.015    acres 
 
4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 
  
Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide parkland 
and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development.    This initial review does 
not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development approval. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
247



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 

William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 
1.27 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
248



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 

  

249



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 250



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

251



ORDINANCE NO. 2686 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 
FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 
DU/AC) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1163 
OAKPOINT CIRCLE, COMPRISING 1.27 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND 
OWNED BY WILLIAM D COOK AND ROBYN D COOK REVOCABLE 
TRUST; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka Comprehensive 
Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes 
and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2659 adopted on September 19, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 
preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 
amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 
Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I. Purpose and Intent. 
 
 This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and intent of, and exercise the authority 
set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section II. Future Land Use Element. 
  
 Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance No. 2659, is amended in its entirety 
to change the land use from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban (0-2 DU/AC), for certain real property located at 1163 Oakpoint Circle, comprising 1.27 
acres more or less, (Parcel No. 02-21-28-9090-00-010); as further described in Exhibit “A” 
attached hereto. 
 
 Section III. Applicability and Effect. 
 
 The applicability and effect of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided 
by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section IV.  Severability. 
 
 If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

252



ORDINANCE NO. 2686 

PAGE 2 

 

 Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 
Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 
 

Section VI. Effective Date. 
 
 This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 
           day of                          , 2018 
 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
December 5, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:  

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 ______________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                         
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR HEARING: November 2, 2018; December 7, 2018. 

 

253



ORDINANCE NO. 2686 
PAGE 3 

EXHIBIT “A” 
William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 

1.27 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

254



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER: Ordinance   Vicinity Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2687 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2687 – ADMINISTRATIVE – CHANGE OF ZONING – 
WILLIAM D. COOK AND ROBYN D. COOK REVOCABLE TRUST 

   
REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2687 – FIRST READING - ADMINISTRATIVE – CHANGE 

OF ZONING – WILLIAM D. COOK AND ROBYN D. COOK REVOCABLE 
TRUST FROM “COUNTY” R-CE (ZIP) TO “CITY” RCE-1; AND HOLD 
OVER FOR SECOND READING AND ADOPTION. 

  
SUMMARY: 
 
OWNERS:    William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 
 
APPLICANT:    City of Apopka 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER:  02-21-28-9090-00-010 
 
LOCATION:  1163 Oakpoint Circle 
 
EXISTING USE:   Single Family House  
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP)  
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being 

processed along with a request to amend the Future Land Use from 
“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 

 
TRACT SIZE:    1.27 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER  EXISTING: 2 Dwelling Units 
ZONING DISTRICT:                         PROPOSED:  1 Dwelling Units 
  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 
255



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by Ordinance Number 2516.  
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to RCE-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The RCE-1 zoning is compatible 
with the property due to the size and uses. The change of zoning request is being processed in conjunction 
with a future land use amendment from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/Acre) Future Land Use designation and the 
City’s RCE-1 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the density allowed by the Future Land 
Use policies.  
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 
increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  
Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 
Agreement. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
Planning Commission, November 13, 2018 (5:30 pm) 
City Council, December 5, 2018 (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 
City Council, December 19, 2018 (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
November 2, 2018 - Public Notice and Notification- (Apopka Chief, letter to property owner) 
December 7, 2018 - Public Notice – (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by William D. Cook 
and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust, and located at 1163 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and 
unanimously recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to 
“City” RCE-1 for the property owned by William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust, and located 
at 1163 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Recommended Motion:  Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2687, and hold it over for second 
reading and adoption on December 19, 2018.  
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 
 

 

 

 
256



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 3 

 
ZONING REPORT 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “City” RVLS and “County” LDR “City” PUD and 

“County” RCE 

Vacant Subdivision Lot (Lakeshore at 

Wekiva) and Single Family Home 

East  “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP)  “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from Oakpoint Circle. The subject 

property, along with other properties in the vicinity, are of a large-lot, 

residential nature. The requirements found in RCE-1 zoning, along 

with the Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use can assist 

in maintaining a large-lot nature.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed RCE-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 

DU/AC) and with the character of the surrounding area and future 

proposed development. Development Plans shall not exceed the 

density allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
      
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

257



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 4 

 

William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 
1.27 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
258



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 

  

259



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 260



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

COOK – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 7 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 
 

 

 

 

261



ORDINANCE NO. 2687 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” R-CE (ZIP) TO “CITY” RCE-1 
(RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATE 1 DISTRICT) FOR CERTAIN REAL 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1163 OAKPOINT CIRCLE, COMPRISING 1.27 
ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY WILLIAM D. COOK AND 
ROBYN D. COOK REVOCABLE TRUST PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS 
TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, 
CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed RCE-1 (Residential Country Estate 1 District) zoning has been 

found to be consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as RCE-1 (Residential Country Estate 1 District) as defined in the Apopka Land Development 

Code and as appearing in Exhibit “A”: 

 

Property Description: 

 

Wekiva Landing Plat; Platbook 14, Page; Lot 1 

 

Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

262



ORDINANCE 2687 

Page 2 

 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

 

Section VI.  This Ordinance shall take effect if and when the companion Comprehensive 

Plan Future Land Use Map amendment relative to the subject property (Ord. 2686) becomes 

effective pursuant to § 163.3187(5)(c), Fla. Stat. If the companion Comprehensive Plan Future 

Land Use Map amendment does not become effective, then this Ordinance shall become null and 

void. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

           Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: November 2, 2018; December 7, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME:  December 5, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

263



ORDINANCE 2687 

Page 3 

 
 

William D. Cook and Robyn D. Cook Revocable Trust 
1.27 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 
 

264



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2688 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2688 – ADMINISTRATIVE – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL 

SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CARLOS VERDUZCO 

   

REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2688 – FIRST READING - ADMINISTRATIVE – 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT - 

CARLOS VERDUZCO, FROM “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (0-4 

DU/AC) TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC); AND 

HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING AND ADOPTION. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:   Carlos Verduzco  
 
APPLICANT:   City of Apopka 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-080 
 
LOCATION: 1175 Oakpoint Circle 
 
EXISTING USE:  Single Family House  
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP)  
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Future Land Use request is being processed along with a 

request to Change the Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1. 
 
TRACT SIZE:   1.14 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING: 4 Dwelling Units 
ZONING DISTRICT:                 PROPOSED: 2 Dwelling Unit 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  
265



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by 
Ordinance Number 2517. Presently, the subject property is without a “City” future land use and zoning 
designation. The proposed Future Land Use, “Residential Very Low Suburban” is compatible with the 
property due to its size and existing uses. In addition, “Residential Very Low Suburban” can be found in 
the vicinity of the property, including the Lakeshore at Wekiva Subdivision.  
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the density 

allowed by the Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies 

support a Residential Very Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 
Policy 3.1.c  
 
Very Low Density Suburban Residential  
 
The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 
middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.  
 
Special exception uses shall include: 
  

(1) Institutional uses of five acres or less  

 

(2) High schools 

 

(3) Supporting infrastructure and public facilities of two acres or more 

 

(4) Horticultural nurseries as a primary use;  

Planned Development uses may include:  

 

(1) All primary uses  

 

(2) All special exception uses  

 

(3) Neighborhood commercial uses at a rate not in excess of 25 square feet of gross floor area per 

residential unit in the PUD. Commercial uses must be completely internalized within the PUD.  

 

(4) Other uses deemed compatible with and complementary to the other proposed master planned uses 

and the surrounding neighborhoods 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will not result in an increase in 
the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  Therefore, the property 
is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning Agreement  
 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018. 

 

 

 266



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  

November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

December 5, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

December 19, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief and letter to property owner) 

December 7, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee found the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 

Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by Carlos 

Verduzco, and located at 1175 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed Future Land Use 

amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding 

area; and unanimously recommended approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from 

“County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the 

Staff Report for the property owned by for the property owned by Carlos Verduzco, and located at 1175 

Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2688, and hold it over for second 
reading and adoption on December 19, 2018. 
 

Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

 

267



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “County” Low Density Residential  “County” RCE Single Family Home 

East  “County” Low Density Residential  “County” A-1 Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP) “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 

 

The subject property currently contains one dwelling unit, which makes the request for a Residential Very 

Low Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, 

as well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 

 

Properties in all four cardinal directions are of a sparse residential nature. The Future Land Use designation, 

“Residential Very Low Suburban” preserves a sparse residential nature.  

 

The proposed Residential Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general future 

land use character of the surrounding area.  

 

 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 

 DRI / FQD: No 

 

 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 

on October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Core Area” of the JPA.  The proposed 

FLUM Amendment request for a change from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential 

Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment). Carlos 

Verduzco is the property owner of the proposed future land use amendment and proposed change of zoning 

for the property, and has been notified of the hearing schedule.   

 

 Transportation: Road access to the site is from Oakpoint Circle. 

 

 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 

adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 

reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 

Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 

following policies: 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 

 268



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   

 

Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the Property is a single family home.  

The character of the surrounding area is single family residential. 

 

 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 

land use designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC). Based on the housing 

element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 

 

CALCULATIONS: 

ADOPTED: 4 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 10 persons 

PROPOSED: 2 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 5 persons 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 

for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size. 

 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 

Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 

GPD / Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    392  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:    784     GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   392   GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
269



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 

  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     1,816   GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    908    GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  No  

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     40    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   20    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 

 
270



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None         

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 

capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.030  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.015    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

  

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 

parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development.   This 

initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development 

approval. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 271



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 

Carlos Verduzco 
1.14 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-7328-00-080 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
272



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 

  

273



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 274



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 11 

 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

275



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2688 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” LOW DENSITY 

RESIDENTIAL TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 

DU/AC) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1175 

OAKPOINT CIRCLE, COMPRISING 1.14 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND 

OWNED BY CARLOS VERDUZCO; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka Comprehensive 
Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes 
and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2659 adopted on September 19, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 
preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 
amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 
Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I. Purpose and Intent. 
 
 This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and intent of, and exercise the authority 
set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section II. Future Land Use Element. 
  
 Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance No. 2659, is amended in its entirety 
to change the land use from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban (0-2 DU/AC), for certain real property located at 1175 Oakpoint Circle, comprising 1.14 
acres more or less, (Parcel No. 02-21-28-7328-00-080); as further described in Exhibit “A” 
attached hereto. 
 
 Section III. Applicability and Effect. 
 
 The applicability and effect of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided 
by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section IV.  Severability. 
 
 If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

276



ORDINANCE NO. 2688 

PAGE 2 

 
 Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 
Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 
 
Section VI. Effective Date.   This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 
              day of                     , 2018 
 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
December 5, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:  

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 ______________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                         
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR HEARING: November 2, 2018; December 7, 2018 

 

277



ORDINANCE NO. 2688 

PAGE 3 

EXHIBIT “A” 
Carlos Verduzco 

1.14 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-7328-00-080 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

278



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2689 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2689 – ADMINISTRATIVE – CHANGE OF ZONING – CARLOS 

VERDUZCO 

   

REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2689 – FIRST READING - ADMINISTRATIVE – CHANGE OF 

ZONING - CARLOS VERDUZCO, FROM “COUNTY” R-CE (ZIP) TO “CITY” RCE-

1; AND HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING AND ADOPTION. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:   Carlos Verduzco  
 
APPLICANT:   City of Apopka 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER: 02-21-28-9090-00-080 
 
LOCATION: 1175 Oakpoint Circle 
 
EXISTING USE:  Single Family House  
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-CE (ZIP)  
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-1 (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being processed along with a 

request to amend the Future Land Use from “County” Low Density Residential to 
“City” Residential Very Low Suburban. 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.14 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING: 2 Dwelling Units 
ZONING DISTRICT:                 PROPOSED: 1 Dwelling Unit 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  

279



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category. The subject parcel was annexed into the city on September 21, 2016 by Ordinance Number 2517.  
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to RCE-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The RCE-1 zoning is compatible 
with the property due to the size and use. The change of zoning request is being processed in conjunction 
with a future land use amendment from “County” Low Density Residential to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/Acre) Future Land Use designation and the 
City’s RCE-1 Zoning classification. Site development cannot exceed the density allowed by the Future Land 
Use policies.  
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will not result in an increase in 
the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  Therefore, the property 
is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning Agreement. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
Planning Commission, November 13, 2018 (5:30 pm) 
City Council, December 5, 2018 (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 
City Council, December 19, 2018 (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
November 2, 2018 -- Public Notice and Notification- (Apopka Chief, letter to property owner) 
December 7, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to “City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Carlos Verduzco, 
and located at 1175 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and 
unanimously recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from “County” R-CE (ZIP) to 
“City” RCE-1 for the property owned by Carlos Verduzco, and located at 1175 Oakpoint Circle. 
 
Recommended Motion:  Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2689, and hold it over for second 
reading and adoption on December 19, 2018.  
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

280



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 3 

 
ZONING REPORT 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “County” Low Density Residential  “County” RCE Single Family Home 

East  “County” Low Density Residential  “County” A-1 Single Family Home 

South “County” Low Density Residential “County” RCE Single Family Home 

West  “County” Low Density Residential (FLU-IP) “County” RCE (ZIP) Single Family Home 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed from Oakpoint Circle. The subject 

property, along with other properties in the vicinity, are of a large-lot, 

residential nature. The requirements found in RCE-1 zoning, along 

with the Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use can assist 

in maintaining a large-lot nature.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed RCE-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 

DU/AC) and with the character of the surrounding area and future 

proposed development. Development Plans shall not exceed the 

density allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
      
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
281



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 4 

 

Carlos Verduzco 
1.14 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Low Density Residential  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 
Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-7328-00-080 

 
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
282



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 283



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

VERDUZCO – CHANGE OF ZONING 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

284



ORDINANCE NO. 2689 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” R-CE (ZIP) TO “CITY” RCE-1 

(RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATE 1 DISTRICT) FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1175 OAKPOINT CIRCLE, COMPRISING 

1.14 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY CARLOS VERDUZCO 

PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed RCE-1 (Residential Country Estate 1 District) zoning has been 

found to be consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as RCE-1 (Residential Country Estate 1 District) as defined in the Apopka Land Development 

Code and as appearing in Exhibit “A”: 

 

Property Description: 

 

Raven’s Haven Plat; Platbook 7,  Page 12;  Lot 8 

Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-9090-00-010 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

285



ORDINANCE 2689 

Page 2 
 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

 

Section VI.  This Ordinance shall take effect if and when the companion Comprehensive 

Plan Future Land Use Map amendment relative to the subject property (Ord. 2688) becomes 

effective pursuant to § 163.3187(5)(c), Fla. Stat. If the companion Comprehensive Plan Future 

Land Use Map amendment does not become effective, then this Ordinance shall become null and 

void. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

           Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: November 2, 2018; December 7, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
December 5, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
December 19, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

286



ORDINANCE 2689 

Page 3 
 

Carlos Verduzco 

1.14 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Low Density Residential  

To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” RCE (ZIP) 

To: “City” RCE-1 

Parcel ID #: 02-21-28-7328-00-080 

 

 

287



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Aerial Map 

    Ordinance No. 2690 
  

 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2690 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE 

LAND USE AMENDMENT – CARROL M. HAMRICK 

   

REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2690 – FIRST READING - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE 

SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CARROL M. HAMRICK; AND 

AUTHORIZE TRANSMITTAL TO THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC 

OPPORTUNITY. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:   Carrol M. Hamrick 
 
APPLICANT:   PMDW Ventures, LLC 
 
LOCATION: North of W. Ponkan Rd. & West of Mt. Stirling Ave.  
 
PARCEL ID #(S): 21-20-28-0000-00-019 & 21-20-28-0000-00-022 
 
EXISTING USE:  Vacant 
 
DEVELOPMENT  
POTENTIAL:   35 Single Family Houses 
 
CURRENT ZONING: R-1AA (Single Family Residential)  
 
PROPOSED ZONING: R-1AA (Single Family Residential)   
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING FLU: 35 Dwelling Units 
FLUM:    PROPOSED FLU: 70 Dwelling Units 
 
TRACT SIZE:   35.21 +/- acres  

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 288



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

HAMRICK – LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENEMENT 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The applicant intends to use the subject properties for a single family 
subdivision, and requests the City to assign a future land use designation of Residential Very Low Suburban to 
the property.  
 
The subject properties were annexed into the City on July 18, 1990 via Ordinance No. 624.  Pursuant to Florida 
law, properties ten acres or more are required to undergo review by State planning agencies. 
 
A request to assign a Future Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban is compatible with the 
designations assigned to abutting properties.  The FLUM application covers approximately 35.21 acres.  

 
Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Uses: 
 

“The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; 
middle schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks.” 

 
In conjunction with state requirements, staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that adequate 
public facilities exist to support this land use change (see attached Land Use Report).  Based on the findings of 
the Land Use report, the proposed FLUM amendment is compatible with the surrounding and nearby land uses 
and the character of the general area. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 
Residential Very Low Suburban designation. 
 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  An executed capacity enhancement agreement with Orange County 

Public Schools will be required prior to adoption of the future land use amendment. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
November 13, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 
December 5, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading & Transmittal 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
November 2, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) and Notification (letters and posting) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
and compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and recommends transmittal of the change in Future 
Land Use from Residential Estates (0-1 du/ac) to Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) for the properties 
owned by Carrol M Hamrick. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area; and unanimously 
recommended approval of the Future Land Use Map designation from Residential Estates (0-1 du/ac) to 
Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) and transmittal to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. 
 
Recommended Motion:  Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2690 and authorize transmittal to the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity. 
 
Note: This item is considered Legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

289



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

HAMRICK – LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENEMENT 

PAGE 3 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Residential Estates (0-1 DU/AC) PUD Rock Springs Ridge Subdivision 

East (City) Residential Estates (0-1 DU/AC) PUD Rock Springs Ridge Subdivision 

South (City) Mixed Use Mixed-CC Vacant 

West (County) Rural A-1 Single Family House 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 

The applicant intends to use this site for a single family subdivision. 
 

North: Abutting the subject property to the north is Rock Springs Ridge Phase 2, a single family 
subdivision. 

 
West: The property to the west is moderately wooded and comprises of a single family house. 
 
South: The adjacent property is vacant.. 
 
East: To the east is the aforementioned Rock Springs Ridge Phase 2, a single-family residential 

community. 
 
The proposed future land use designation of Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) is consistent with 

the surrounding future land use designations and Policy 3.5 in the City’s Comprehensive Plan, Future Land 

use Element: “Residential development north of Ponkan Road and west of Rock Springs Road (Park 

Avenue) will be restricted to no more than two dwelling units per acre, unless otherwise authorized through 

the adopted Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan.” 

 

Therefore, staff supports the proposed future land use changes. 
 

Other Information:  
  

Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 

 
Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act:   The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  While located within the Wekiva River Basin 
Study Area, the subject property is not located within the Protection Area. The proposed amendment is 
consistent with the adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
amendment has been reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater 
resources.  The City of Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater 
run-off through the following policies: 
 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
290



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

HAMRICK – LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENEMENT 

PAGE 4 

 
 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that karst features are within the vicinity of this property. 
 
 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The properties abut Mt. Stirling Avenue and Rock Springs 
Ridge Ph. 2 to the east. City parcels to the north and east have a maximum allowable residential density of 
one dwelling unit per acre. Due to the previously mentioned, Comprehensive Plan, Policy 3.5, the maximum 
allowable residential density of the south-adjacent Mixed Use parcels is 2 dwelling units per acre. 
Subsequently, the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban, also allows a maximum density of 2 dwelling 
units per acre. Thus, staff finds the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use to be 
compatible with the property, and within the vicinity.  
 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 
land use designation for the subject site is Residential Very Low Suburban (0 – 2 du/ac).   An amendment 
to the Future Land Use of Residential Very Low Suburban Density will generate an estimated population 
increase of up to 93 persons. Based on the housing element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this 
amendment will increase the City’s future population, but a housing supply is needed to meet the growing 
population.  
 
CALCULATIONS: 
 
EXISTING: Residential Estates (0-1 DU/AC, 35.21 AC)  
  35 D/U X 2.659 p/h = 93 persons 
 
PROPOSED: Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) 
  70 D/U x 2.659 p/h = 186 persons 
  Net Increase= 93 Persons 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: Per policy 4.1 of the 
Conservation Element, a habitat study is required for developments ten (10) acres or more in size.  This site 
is greater than ten acres.  A habitat study will be required at the time of a development plan application. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 Potable Water, Reclaimed Water & Sanitary Sewer Analysis: The subject property is located within 
the City of Apopka service area for potable water, reclaimed water and sanitary service.    
 

 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD 

/ Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  6,860    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    13,720  GPD 

 

 291



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

HAMRICK – LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENEMENT 

PAGE 5 

 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     7,350  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   14,700  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes    

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     372    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:    744    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 
292



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

HAMRICK – LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENEMENT 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None      

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.279  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.558    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
  

293



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

HAMRICK – LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENEMENT 

PAGE 7 

 
Carrol M. Hamrick 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Residential Estates 

To: Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) 
Parcel ID #s: 20-20-28-0000-00-022 & 21-20-28-0000-00-019  

 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
294



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

HAMRICK – LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENEMENT 

PAGE 8 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

295



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

HAMRICK – LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENEMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 296



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

HAMRICK – LARGE SCALE FUTURE LAND USE AMENEMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

297



ORDINANCE NO. 2690 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM RESIDENTIAL ESTATES TO 

RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED NORTH OF WEST PONKAN ROAD 

AND WEST OF MOUNT STERLING AVENUE, OWNED BY CARROL M 

HAMRICK; COMPRISING 35.21 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, PROVIDING 

FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, on October 2, 1991 adopted 

Ordinance No. 653 which adopted the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Apopka; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has subsequently amended the Comprehensive Plan for 

the City of Apopka, most recently through Ordinance No. 2659; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s Local Planning Agency and the City Council have 

conducted the prerequisite advertised public hearings, as per Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relative 

to the transmittal and adoption of this ordinance and the requirements for amendment to the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows:  

 

 SECTION I: The City of Apopka hereby amends the Future Land Use Element of the 

adopted Comprehensive Plan as follows:   

 

 The Future Land Use Map is hereby amended for the property identified in Exhibit “A” 

of this Ordinance to Residential Very Low Suburban, and incorporated herein by 

reference.  

 

 SECTION II: This Ordinance shall become effective following adoption and upon issuance 

by the Department of Economic Opportunity or the Administration Commission, as may be 

applicable, a final order finding the amendment to be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 

163.3184.  

 

 SECTION III: If any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 

to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 

force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this ordinance.  

 

 SECTION IV:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 

298



ORDINANCE NO. 2690 

PAGE 2 

SECTION V: This Ordinance shall become effective upon issuance of a final order by the 

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity finding the plan amendment in compliance in 

accordance with s.163.3184 (2)(a), Florida Statute. 

 

 

 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 

____ day of ____ _________, 2019. 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME: December 5, 2018 

  

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED: 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________________                                                                       

        Bryan Nelson, Mayor                            

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: November 2, 2018 

  

299



ORDINANCE NO. 2690 

PAGE 3 

EXHIBIT “A” 
CARROL M HAMRICK 

Property Owner 

35.21 +/- Acres 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From:  Residential Estates (0-1 DU/AC) 

To: Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 DU/AC) 
Parcel ID #: 21-20-28-0000-00-019 & 21-20-28-0000-00-022 

  
 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 
 

300



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Zoning Map 
    Aerial Map 
    Kelly Park Interchange Map 
    WPIVP1 Character Districts 
    Comp Plan Objectives 
    JPA Amendment No. 2 
    Ordinance No. 2691 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2691 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND 
USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC 

   
REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2691 – FIRST READING - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE 

– FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC; FROM 
“COUNTY” RURAL AND “CITY” RURAL SETTLEMENT TO “CITY” MIXED USE 
INTERCHANGE; AND AUTHORIZE TRANSMITTAL TO THE FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY. 

  
SUMMARY: 
 
OWNER:   Cantero Holdings, LLC 
 
APPLICANT: Jimmy D. Crawford, Esq. 
 
LOCATION: 3845 & 4011 Golden Gem Road 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS: Parcel 1:  13-20-27-0000-00-054 

Parcel 2:  24-20-27-0000-00-097 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant 
  
CURRENT ZONING:  “City” Agriculture Estates (81 ac +/-) and  

“County” A-1 (Zoning in Progress) (10.5 ac +/-) 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Mixed Use - Interchange Zoning District with Neighborhood Overlay Zone (0-5 du/ac) 
 
TRACT SIZES:   91.57 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE  
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING: Parcel 1 - One residential home 

Parcel 2 – Golden Gem Estates (12 five-acre lots) (Approved)   
 
PROPOSED: Max. 457 residential units 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director   Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  

                                                
1 WPIVP – Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan 

301



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: The applicant requests a future land use designation of “City” Mixed Use 

Interchange for two parcels along the east side of Golden Gem Road.  Parcel 1 (10.5 ac +/-) annexed into 

the City on August 5, 2015 but has not had a “city” future land use designation or zoning assigned to it.  

Parcel 2 annexed into the City on December 1, 2004.  

 

Parcel 1 (10.5 ac +/-) has planted pine on the western third of the parcel and vacant land on the eastern two-

thirds of the parcel.  The eastern portion of the parcel is a former horticultural nursery operation.  Parcel 1 

is not included within the boundaries of the Golden Gem Estates Preliminary Development Plan., which is 

described below for Parcel 2. 

 

Parcel 2 (81 ac +/-) was approved with a Preliminary Development Plan (called Golden Gem Estates) for a 

12-lot residential subdivision in August 2015. Typical lot size in Golden Gem Estates is five acres.  A Mass 

Grading Plan was approved by the City Council on August 5, 201516 as a phased portion of the Final 

Development Plan application.  Clearing and grading occurred to allow the transfer of excess fill off site. 

 

The parcel straddles the boundaries of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area, as depicted in 

the Future Land Use Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, and the Kelly Park Interchange Form-

Based Code  

 

Policy 20.9, Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan, requires that a Mixed Use-Interchange 

future a land use designation must be assigned to the property.  

 

The subject parcels are located within the one-mile radius from the Wekiva Parkway interchange at Kelly 

Park Road; and therefore is required to adhere to the Kelly Park Crossing Form Based Code.  The properties 

are located within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area.  Therefore, the property must comply 

with Objectives 18 – 20 and related policies within the Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive 

Plan and the recently adopted Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code.  The applicant’s request is consistent 

with the Mixed Use Interchange future land use designation and the Overlay District covering the property 

within the Vision Plan. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is compatible with the 

character of the surrounding area, is within one mile of the SR 429/Kelly Park Road interchange, and is 

consistent with the Mixed Use Interchange Land Use designation.  City planning staff supports the FLUM 

amendment given the consistency with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed below and the intent of the 

Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan a (see Land Use Analysis below).   Site development cannot 

exceed the intensity allowed by the Future Land Use policies.  

 

Future Land Use Element 

 

1. Policy 3.1.r The primary intent of the Mixed Use land use category is to allow a mixture of 

residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, institutional and public facilities uses to serve 

the residential and non-residential needs of special areas of the City.  The mix of land uses may occur 

on a single parcel or multiple parcels … 

 

The designation of a mixed use category may occur only in certain areas of the city, including “land 

anticipated for inclusion within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Land Use Plan…” These 

properties are within the 1-mile radius of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange depicted on the Wekiva 

Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Map located within the Future Land Use Element of the Apopka 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 

302



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 

2. Policy 18.1 The City shall implement the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, which guides 

the location of a range of uses, such as residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, public 

and institutional, at various densities and intensities around the proposed interchange. 

 

The proposed Mixed Use Future Land Use Designation allows for residential densities and non-

residential uses and intensities to implement the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, 

consistent with Objective 18 and related policies.  

 

3. Policy 18.2 Prior to rezoning any property within a one-mile radius of the interchange Study Area, 

the City shall amend its LDC to incorporate development standards that will implement the Vision 

Plan. 

 

This future land use amendment does not include a corresponding proposed zoning category because 

the City has yet to adopt development standards or form-based code consistent with this policy.  

Future densities/intensities and design character for the subject properties will be regulated at the 

time of rezoning once Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan design standards and form-based 

code are adopted.   

 

4. Policy 20.4 Prior to approving the first development plan with the Wekiva Parkway Interchange 

vision Plan Area, the City shall adopt the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Form-Based Cod establishing 

the design and development standards for the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area. 

 

The subject properties will be required to comply with the above policy should the development 

submit a development plan to ensure consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Wekiva Parkway 

Interchange Vision Plan. 

 

5. Policy 20.9 Development within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Area shall be assigned a 

Mixed-Use Interchange future land use designation and shall accomplish an overall mix of residential 

and non-residential uses as outline in Policy 3.1.r.  Assignment of the Mixed-Use Interchange Land 

Use future land use designation shall require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

The applicant’s request for a Mixed Use future land use designation is consistent with this policy, 

as well as the intent of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan area, which intends to 

concentrate a mixture of land uses with varying densities and intensities within one mile of the 

Wekiva Parkway Interchange. 

 

6. Policy 20.3.  The annexation, land use change, and subsequent development of lands located within 

the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Area for Apopka and the Wekiva Interchange Land Use Plan 

Overlay for the County shall be consistent with the adopted Interlocal Agreement between Orange 

County and the City of Apopka regarding Wekiva Interchange Land Use Plan Overlay. 

 

7. Objective 19 and 20, and their associated policies.  See objectives and policies within the 

supporting information. 

 

Transportation Element 

 

1. Policy 4.2 The City of Apopka shall promote, through the implementation of programs such as 

mixed-use land development, projects that support reduced travel demand, short trip lengths and 

balanced trip demand. 

 

303



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 

The Mixed Use future land use designation allows for a mixture of land use types such as residential 

and non-residential, which promotes shorter trip lengths, concentrated development to reduce travel 

demand. 

 

2. Policy 3.1.r The primary intent of the Mixed Use land use category is to allow a mixture of 

residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, institutional uses and public facilities 

uses…This mix of land uses may occur on a single parcel or multiple parcels in the form of: a 

permitted single use; a vertical combination of different permitted uses; or a horizontal mix of 

different permitted uses. 

 

3. Policy 4.2 The City of Apopka shall promote, through the implementation of programs such as 

mixed-use land development, projects that support reduced travel demand, shorter trip lengths and 

balanced trip demand. 

 

4. Objective 20 and associated Policies, Future Land Use Element.  Provided with the Supporting 

Information. 

 

Kelly Park Interchange Form-Based Code.  

 

1. Page 1 – “Therefore, if a site, or any portion of a site, is within the 1-mile radius [of the Kelly Park 

Interchange], the entire site is included within the vision plan and is subject to the standards.”  And 

Page 2, “Where a property straddles the line, the subject property owner may select to bring the 

portion outside the property into the Form-Base Code area.” 

 

VISIONING AND SPECIAL STUDIES:  The properties are located within the boundaries of the Wekiva 

Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area, making it subject to the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code, 

Mixed- Use Interchange Zoning District and Neighborhood Overlay District.  A copy of the Wekiva 

Parkway Interchange Vision Plan is provided with the support material. 

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:   An executed capacity enhancement agreement with Orange County 

Public Schools will be required prior to rezoning hearings, as density occurring on a property located within 

the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area (aka Kelly Park Interchange Area) is not determined 

until the zoning and master plan, per Policy 20.12 of the Future Land Use Element, Comprehensive Plan.  

For the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area (aka Kelly Park Form-Based Code Area), Policy 

20.11 of the Future land Use Element limits the maximum residential development within the  Interchange 

Plan Area to 7,500 single family homes and 8,500 multi-family units.  The subject property presently is 

located in the following school attendance zones:  Apopka High, Wolf Lake Middle, Zellwood Elementary.   

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on October 9, 2018. 

Notification has already occurred through the Second Amendment to the Joint Planning Agreement with 

Orange County government.  The second amendment acknowledges that the City will assign a land use 

designation similar to the overlay district illustrated in the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

November 13, 2018 – Planning Commission (5:30 pm)  

December 5 – City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading & Transmittal 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

November 2, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief, posting, letters) 

304



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval to transmit a change in Future Land Use to 

Mixed Use Interchange for the property owned by Cantero Holdings, LLC, subject to the information and 

findings in the staff report. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on November 13, 2018, found the Future Land Use Designation 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan; and unanimously recommended a change in Future Land Use 

Designation to Mixed Use Interchange subject to the information and findings in the staff report, for the 

properties owned by Cantero Holdings, LLC. 

 

Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2691 and authorize transmittal to the 

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. 

 

Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
  

305



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

 
I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North  “City” Mixed Use Interchange and  
“County” Rural 

“County” A-1 (ZIP) Greenhouse, pine forests, and 
grasslands 

East  “City” Rural Settlement and  
Mixed Use Interchange 

“City” Agriculture Mobile Home and Vacant 

South “City” Rural Settlement “City” Agriculture and  
“County” A-1 (ZIP) 

Pine forests and City of Apopka 
stormwater retention pond 

West  “County” Rural “County” A-1 Private Landfill 

 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 
Analysis for the Future Land Use Designation was performed as part of the adopted Wekiva Parkway 
Interchange Vision Plan.  This Vision Plan has been incorporated into the Comprehensive Plan.  The subject 
property straddles the one-mile radius from the interchange, and the property owner has selected to pull the 
entire property into the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code Area (aka Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
Vision Plan Area). 
 
Therefore, the proposed Mixed Use Interchange future land use designation is consistent with the general 
future land use character and long-range planning goals of the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area: Yes 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 
 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 
on October 26, 2004 and amended the JPA in October 19, 2010 to address the Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
Vision Plan.  The subject property is consistent with the Vision Plan incorporated into Amendment 2 of the 
Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 
 
 Transportation:  Road access to the site is from Golden Gem Road.  Future access to northern 
abutting parcels, which are located in the Kelly Park Interchange Form-Based Code Area, will be identified 
with the Form-Based Code Master Plan at the time of the zoning application review. 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 
adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 
adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 
reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 
Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and storm water run-off through the 
following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2; Objective 19, 20. 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that the parcels appear to occur within an area having a potential for  karst features. 
  
Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the property is vacant.  The property straddles 
the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area, and the property is eligible to be part of the Kelly Park 

306



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 
Interchange Form-Based Code.   As such, a master plan must be provided with the zoning application, and 
road and pedestrian systems must be connected to an integrated with other lands within the Form-Based 
Code area.  Property to the south is a retention pond owned by the City of Apopka and a single family home 
parcel.   Lands to the north and northeast are located within the Kelly Park Crossing Development of 
Regional Impact and the Kelly Park Interchange Form-Base Code. 
  

Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: Based on the adoption 
of the JPA, the size of the property, and the proposed land use change, the amendment will increase the 
population by as many as 994 residents.  The applicant proposes to develop the property as single family 
residential subdivision. Land use analysis was conducted as part of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision 
Plan. 
 
CALCULATIONS: 
 
 ADOPTED: 83 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 220 persons   

PROPOSED: 457 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 1,215 persons 
   
 Housing Needs:  The housing need is demonstrated through the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision 
Plan Area Study. 
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 
for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary 
Development Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and 
submit a habitat management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project 
site. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. The road system shall be consistent with the 
intent of the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code. 
 
 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD 
/ Capita 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  16,268    GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    89,572  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 
None 

 
 Potable Water Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 
GPD / Capita 

  
307



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     17,430  GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   95,970  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available: Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 
None 

 
8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes    

 
 Solid Waste 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 
 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 
Apopka 

 
3. Projected LOS under existing designation:       880    lbs/  day 

 
4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:    4,860    lbs /  day 

 
5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None  
 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:      None      
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 
308



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
Recreation 

 
1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 

 
2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.660   acres 

 
3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  3.645    acres 

 
4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
  

309



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 Cantero Holdings, LLC 
91.57 +/- Acres 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: Rural Settlement and Rural 

To: Mixed Use Interchange 
Parcel ID #: 13-20-27-0000-00-054 & 24-20-27-0000-00-097 

  
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 310



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 11 

 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

311



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 12 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 

 
312



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 13 

 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 

  

313



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 14 

 

 

WEKIVA PARKWAY INTERCHANGE VISION PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Character district boundaries are illustrative only.  See Policy 20.5 for additional information. 

 
 

Subject Properties 

Source:  Apopka Comprehensive Plan, 2011; page 1-54 314



ORDINANCE NO. 2691 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL AND 

“CITY” RURAL SETTLEMENT TO “CITY” MIXED USE - 

INTERCHANGE FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY 

LOCATED SOUTH OF WEST KELLY PARK ROAD AND EAST OF 

GOLDEN GEM ROAD, OWNED BY CANTERO HOLDINGS, LLC; 

COMPRISING 91.57 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, on October 2, 1991 adopted 

Ordinance No. 653 which adopted the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Apopka; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has subsequently amended the Comprehensive Plan for 

the City of Apopka, most recently through Ordinance No. 2659; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s Local Planning Agency and the City Council have 

conducted the prerequisite advertised public hearings, as per Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relative 

to the transmittal and adoption of this ordinance and the requirements for amendment to the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows:  

 

 SECTION I: The City of Apopka hereby amends the Future Land Use Element of the 

adopted Comprehensive Plan as follows:   

 

 The Future Land Use Map is hereby amended for the property identified in Exhibit “A” of 

this Ordinance to Mixed-Use Interchange, and incorporated herein by reference.  

 

 SECTION II: This Ordinance shall become effective following adoption and upon issuance 

by the Department of Economic Opportunity or the Administration Commission, as may be 

applicable, a final order finding the amendment to be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 

163.3184.  

 

 SECTION III: If any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 

to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 

force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this ordinance.  

 

 SECTION IV:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 

315



ORDINANCE NO. 2691 

PAGE 2 

 

 

SECTION V: This Ordinance shall become effective upon issuance of a final order by the 

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity finding the plan amendment in compliance in 

accordance with s.163.3184 (2)(a), Florida Statute. 

 

 

 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 

____ day of ____ _________, 2019. 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME: December 5, 2018 

  

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED: 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________________                                                                       

        Bryan Nelson, Mayor                            

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: November 2, 2018 

  

316



EXHIBIT “A” 
Cantero Holdings, LLC 

Property Owners 

91.57 +/- Acres 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From:  “City” Rural Settlement and “County” Rural 

To: “City” Mixed Use Interchange 
Parcel ID #: 13-20-27-0000-00-054 & 24-20-27-0000-00-097 

  

FUTURE LAND USE MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: “A” – Properties 

X OTHER:  Annexation  “B” – Location Map 

    Ordinance No. 2692 

    Ordinance No. 2693 

    Ordinance No. 2694 

    Ordinance No. 2695 
  

 

SUBJECT:  2018 ANNEXATION – SR 429 WEST PROPERTIES 

   

REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NOS. 2692, 2693, 2694, AND 2695 – FIRST READINGS – 

2018 ANNEXATION – SR 429 WEST PROPERTIES; AND HOLD 

OVER FOR SECOND READING & ADOPTION. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNERS:   MULTIPLE OWNERS – LISTED IN EXHIBIT “A” 
 
APPLICANT:   Property Owners (Exhibit “A”) and Collier Benge Land Joint Venture, LLC 
 
LOCATIONS:   Various locations – Listed in Exhibit “A”, generally north of U.S. 441 and 

west and east of S.R. 429 
  
LAND USE:   Various Future Land Use designations – Listed in Exhibit “A”  
 
EXISTING USE:  The existing uses of the subject properties vary – Listed in Exhibit “A”  
 
TRACT SIZE:   77.29 +/- acres representing twenty-one (21) parcels 
  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  

344



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

2018 ANNEXATION – SR 429 WEST PROPERTIES 

PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: The proposed annexation shall be on the basis of the existing County 
Future Land Use and Zoning designations.  The assignment of a City Future Land Use and Zoning 
designation will occur at a later date, and through additional action by the City Council.  Applicant proposes 
a mixed-use development with retail commercial, office, and multi-family residential.  Land use mix to be 
determined at the time of the future land use and zoning amendment applications. 
 
The proposed annexations meet the intent of .the annexation criteria set forth in Chapter 171, Florida 
Statutes.  Annexation of the parcels west of S.R. 429 are located in a large pocket of unincorporated parcels 
that are nearly encircled by the boundaries of the City of Apopka. 

 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 15 days prior to 
the first reading of any annexation ordinance.  The City provided notification to the County on November 
2, 2018. 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
November 21, 2018 - 1/4 Page Public Hearing Advertisement 
November 28, 2018 - 1/4 Page Public Hearing Advertisement 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
December 5, 2018 (1:30 pm) - City Council 1st Reading 
December 19, 2018 (7:00 pm) - City Council 2nd Reading and Adoption 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed annexation applications consistent with the 
intent of Florida Statute Chapter 177, and recommends approval of the 2018 Annexation Ordinance Nos. 
2692, 2693, 2694, and 2695. 
 
Recommended Motions:   Accept the First Readings of Ordinance Nos. 2692 through 2695; and Hold 
them Over for Second Reading and Adoption on December 19, 2018. 
  

345



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

2018 ANNEXATION – SR 429 WEST PROPERTIES 

PAGE 3 

 

Exhibit A 
Total Acres: 77.29 +/- acres 
 

ORD. 

NO. 

ITEM 

NO. 
OWNER’S NAME LOCATION PARCEL NUMBER 

ACRES 

+/- 
EXISTING USE 

FUTURE 

LAND USE 

(COUNTY) 

 
2692 

Group 

“A” 

1 Patricia & Maxine Lu 3189 Fudge Rd. 06-21-28-7172-16-051 1.9 Woodlands Rural 

2 Roger & Randall Welker 3200 Southfork Dr.  06-21-28-7172-16-050 2.84 Single Family House Rural 

3 Earl & Adelaida Wilson 3162 Southfork Dr.  
06-21-28-7172-16-060 4.7 

Single Family House 

& Greenhouse 
Rural 

4 Earl & Adelaida Wilson Southfork Dr. 
06-21-28-7172-16-071 3.32 

Single Family House 

& Greenhouse 
Rural 

5 Earl & Adelaida Wilson 3076 Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-070 1.22 Single Family House Rural 

6 Poul & Sharon Jensen Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-041 3.06 Greenhouse Rural 

7 Guy Itay 3173 Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-030 4.43 Single Family House Rural 

8 Jame Howard Holt 3161 Southfork Dr. 36-20-27-0000-00-052 10.37 Single Family House Rural 

9 Freddie & Sandra Jones 3075 Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-020 4.87 Single Family House Rural 

10 Poul & Sharon Jensen 3201 Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-040 1.87 Single Family House Rural 

11 Sallie Jackson Hermit Smith Rd.  36-20-27-0000-00-068 0.9 Woodlands Rural 

2693 

Group 

“B” 

12 Williams Family Trust 3205 Dew Berry Ave. 36-20-27-0000-00-047 3.99 Place of Worship Rural 

13 Judy Bain & Williams Family 

Trust 

3225 Dew Berry Ave. 
36-20-27-0000-00-085 0.99 Mobile Home Rural 

14 Judy Bain & Williams Family 

Trust 

3321 Dew Berry Ave. 
36-20-27-0000-00-083 4.94 Mobile Homes Rural 

2694 

Group 

“C” 

15 Bruce & Jeannie Hatcher 1430 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 36-20-27-0000-00-093 14.18 Single Family House Rural 

16 Robert & Cynthia Henderson  1374 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 36-20-27-0000-00-075 6.15 Single Family House Rural 

17 Bruce & Jeannie Hatcher 1430 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 36-20-27-0000-00-093 0.28 Single Family House Rural 

18 Robert & Cynthia Henderson  1374 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 36-20-27-0000-00-075 0.28 Single Family House Rural 

2695 

Group 

“D” 

19 Earl & Adelaida Wilson 1118 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 06-21-28-7172-04-062 0.86 Vacant Rural 

20 Patrick Connelly  1102 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 06-21-28-7172-04-061 0.23 Vacant Rural 

21 Yong Sun & Byung Sook Pak 1058 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 06-21-28-7172-04-060 5.92 Woodlands Rural 

 346



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 

2018 ANNEXATION – SR 429 WEST PROPERTIES 

PAGE 4 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 
Vicinity Map 

 

347



ORDINANCE NO. 2692 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 
ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 
TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 
LANDS SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
OWNED BY PATRICIA AND MAXINE LU, ROGER AND RANDALL 
WELKER, EARL AND ADELAIDA WILSON, POUL AND SHARON 
JENSEN,  GUY ITAY, JAMES HOWARD HOLT JUNIOR, FREDDIE AND 
SANDRA JONES, AND SALLIE JACKSON AND LOCATED AS 
DEPICTED WITHIN EXHIBIT “A”  OF SAID ORDINANCE, PROVIDING 
FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, SEVERABILITY, 
CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 WHEREAS, the Orange County Board of County Commissioners has requested that the 

City of Apopka, Florida, annex the property located North of North Orange Blossom Trail and 

West of State Route 429; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Florida Statute 171.044 of the General Laws of Florida provide that a 

municipal corporation may annex property into its corporate limits upon voluntary petition of the 

owners, by passing and adopting a non-emergency ordinance to annex said property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida is desirous of annexing and 

redefining the boundaries of the municipality to include the subject property pursuant to Florida 

Statute 171.044. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 SECTION I:  That the following described properties, being situated in Orange County, 

Florida, totaling 39.48 +/- acres, and depicted in Exhibit “A” and further graphically depicted by 

Exhibit "B”, are hereby annexed into the City of Apopka, Florida, pursuant to the voluntary 

annexation provisions of Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other applicable laws: 

 

 SECTION II:  That the corporate territorial limits of the City of Apopka, Florida, are hereby 

redefined to include said land herein described and annexed.  

 

SECTION III:  That the City Council will designate the land use classification and zoning 

category of these annexed lands in accordance with applicable City ordinances and State laws. 

 

 SECTION IV: That the land herein described and future inhabitants of the land herein 

described shall be liable for all debts and obligations and be subject to all species of taxation, laws, 

ordinances and regulations of the City. 

 

SECTION V:  That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

348



ORDINANCE NO. 2695 

PAGE 2 

 

 SECTION VI:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 SECTION VII: That this ordinance shall take effect upon passage and adoption, thereafter 

the City Clerk is hereby directed to file this ordinance with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and 

for Orange County, Florida; the Orange County Property Appraiser; and the Department of State 

of the State of Florida.  

 

 
 

            

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING:  November 21 and 28, 2018

 
READ FIRST TIME: December 5, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     December 19, 2018 
 
 
  
Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

349



ORDINANCE NO. 2695 

PAGE 3 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

ORD. 

NO. 

ITEM 

NO. 

OWNER’S NAME LOCATION PARCEL NUMBER ACRES 

+/- 

2692 1 Patricia & Maxine Lu 3189 Fudge Rd. 06-21-28-7172-16-051 1.9 

2 Roger & Randall Welker 3200 Southfork Dr.  06-21-28-7172-16-050 2.84 

3 Earl & Adelaida Wilson 3162 Southfork Dr.  06-21-28-7172-16-060 4.7 

4 Earl & Adelaida Wilson Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-071 3.32 

5 Earl & Adelaida Wilson 3076 Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-070 1.22 

6 Poul & Sharon Jensen Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-041 3.06 

7 Guy Itay 3173 Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-030 4.43 

8 James Howard Holt, Jr. 3161 Southfork Dr. 36-20-27-0000-00-052 10.37 

9 Freddie & Sandra Jones 3075 Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-020 4.87 

10 Poul & Sharon Jensen 3201 Southfork Dr. 06-21-28-7172-16-040 1.87 

11 Sallie Jackson Hermit Smith Rd.  36-20-27-0000-00-068 0.9 

 

Property Descriptions 

Item No.  

 

1. MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 THE W 2/5 OF LOT 5 BLK P (LESS R/W FOR FUDGE RD ON S & LESS W 60 

FT OF S 10 FT THEREOF FOR R/W) & (LESS PT TAKEN FOR R/W ON S PER 9852/5231) & S1/2 OF W 132 

FT OF VAC ST RUNNING E & W THRU CTR BLK P 2897/83 SEE 2972/1671 

 

2. MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 THE E 3/5 OF LOT 5 BLK P & AN INT PER 3157/702 IN VAC ST RUNNING E 

& W THROUGH CENTER OF BLK P DESC AS FROM SE COR 36-20-27 RUN N 642.77 FT FOR POB TH 

RUN N 32.78 FT W 20 FT N 7.11 FT W 1173.86 FT S 40 FT E 1193.08 FT TO POB PER 3157/0702 

 

3. MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 LOT 6 BLK P & AN INT PER 3157/702 IN VAC ST RUNNING E & W THROUGH 

CENTER OF BLK P DESC AS FROM SE COR SEC 36- 20-27 RUN N 642.77 FT FOR POB TH RUN N 32.78 

FT W 20 FT N 7.11 FT W 1173.86 FT S 40 FT E 1193.08 FT TO POB PER 3157/0702 

 

4. (NOTE: AG PORTION OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY) MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 LOT 7 

BLK P & AN INT PER 3157/702 IN VAC ST RUNNING E & W THROUGH CENTER OF BLK P DESC AS 

FROM SE COR SEC 36- 20-27 RUN N 642.77 FT FOR POB TH RUN N 32.78 FT W 20 FT N 7.11 FT W 1173.86 

FT S 40 FT E 1193.08 FT TO POB (LESS COMM SW COR OF SE1/4 OF SEC 36-20-27 TH N89-33-19E 1320.40 

FT TH N89-32-59E 723.67 FT TH N00-27-01W 20 FT TO POB TH N79-37-53E 200.65 FT TH N56-40-36E 78.30 

FT TH S02-19-26E 77.10 FT TH S89-32-59W 265.94FT TO POB) SEE 5118/3417 

 

5. (NOTE: HOMESTEAD PORTION OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY) MAP OF PLYMOUTH 

B/17 LOT 7 BLK P & AN INT PER 3157/702 IN VAC ST RUNNING E & W THROUGH CENTER OF BLK P 

DESC AS FROM SE COR SEC 36- 20-27 RUN N 642.77 FT FOR POB TH RUN N 32.78 FT W 20 FT N 7.11 

FT W 1173.86 FT S 40 FT E 1193.08 FT TO POB SEE 5118/3417 

 

6. (NOTE: AG PORTION OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY) MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 LOT 4 

BLK P & S 20 FT OF N 661.97 FT OF W 132 FT OF SE1/4 OF SE1/4 OF SEC 36-20-27 & AN INT PER 3157/702 

IN VAC ST RUNNING E & W THRU CENTER OF BLK P DESC AS FROM SE COR OF SEC 36- 20-27 RUN 

N 642.77 FT FOR POB TH RUN N 32.78 FT W 20 FT N 7.11 FT W 1173.86 FT S 40 FT E 1193.08 FT TO POB 

SEE 3934/3359 

 
350



ORDINANCE NO. 2695 

PAGE 4 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” (Continued): 
 

7. MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 LOT 3 BLK P (LESS E 30 FT) & AN INT PER 3157/702 IN VAC ST RUNNING E 

& W THROUGH CENTER OF BLK P DESC AS FROM SE COR SEC 36-20-27 RUN N 642.77 FT FOR POB 

TH RUN N 32.78 FT W 20 FT N 7.11 FT W 1173.86 FT S 40 FT E 1193.08 FT TO POB PER 3157/0702 

 

8. 9400/0226 RECORDED WITH OUT LEGAL-- S 400 FT OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 (LESS COMM AT NE COR OF 

SE1/4 TH S02-14-21E 924.06 FT TO PT ON N LINE OF S 400 FT OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 BEING POB TH CONT 

S02-14-21E 400.18 FT TO PT ON S LINE OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 TH S89-29-17W 249.96 FT ALONG S LINE TO 

PT ON A CURV CONCV WLY HAVING A RAD OF 11,294.16 FT A CHORD BEARING OF N02-02-26W A 

CENTRAL ANGLE OF 02-01-48 & AN ARC DIST OF 40.16 FT TH N89-29-17E 248.57 FT TO POB PER 

10764/0480) & E 30 FT OF LOT 3 BLK P MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 IN SEC 36-20-27 

 

9. MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 LOT 2 BLK P & AN INT PER 3157/702 IN VAC ST RUNNING E & W THRU 

CENTER OF BLK P DESC AS FROM SE COR SEC 362027 RUN N 642.77 FT FOR POB TH RUN N 32.78 FT 

W 20 FT N 7.11 FT W 1173.36 FT S 40 FT E 1193.08 FT TO POB PER 3157/0702 

 

10. (NOTE: HOMESTEAD PORTION OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY) MAP OF PLYMOUTH 

B/17 LOT 4 BLK P & S 20 FT OF N 661.97 FT OF W 132 FT OF SE1/4 OF SE1/4 OF SEC 36-20-27 & AN INT 

PER 3157/702 IN VAC ST RUNNING E & W THRU CENTER OF BLK P DESC AS FROM SE COR OF SEC 

36- 20-27 RUN N 642.77 FT FOR POB TH RUN N 32.78 FT W 20 FT N 7.11 FT W 1173.86 FT S 40 FT E 

1193.08 FT TO POB SEE 3934/3359 

 

11. N 148.5 FT OF E 264 FT OF S1/2 OF SE1/4 OF NW1/4 OF SE1/4 SEC 36-20-27 SEE 3069/701 

  

351



ORDINANCE NO. 2695 

PAGE 5 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

352



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2693 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 
ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 
TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 
LANDS SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
OWNED BY WILLIAMS FAMILY TRUST, AND BY JUDY BAIN AND 
WILLIAMS FAMILY TRUST AND LOCATED AS DEPICTED WITHIN 
EXHIBIT “A” OF SAID ORDINANCE, PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS 
TO THE CITY CLERK, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Orange County Board of County Commissioners has requested that the 

City of Apopka, Florida, annex the property located North of North Orange Blossom Trail and 

West of State Route 429; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Florida Statute 171.044 of the General Laws of Florida provide that a 

municipal corporation may annex property into its corporate limits upon voluntary petition of the 

owners, by passing and adopting a non-emergency ordinance to annex said property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida is desirous of annexing and 

redefining the boundaries of the municipality to include the subject property pursuant to Florida 

Statute 171.044. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 SECTION I:  That the following described properties, being situated in Orange County, 

Florida, totaling 9.92 +/- acres, and depicted in Exhibit “A” and further graphically depicted by 

Exhibit "B”, are hereby annexed into the City of Apopka, Florida, pursuant to the voluntary 

annexation provisions of Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other applicable laws: 

 

 SECTION II:  That the corporate territorial limits of the City of Apopka, Florida, are hereby 

redefined to include said land herein described and annexed.  

 

SECTION III:  That the City Council will designate the land use classification and zoning 

category of these annexed lands in accordance with applicable City ordinances and State laws. 

 

 SECTION IV: That the land herein described and future inhabitants of the land herein 

described shall be liable for all debts and obligations and be subject to all species of taxation, laws, 

ordinances and regulations of the City. 

 

SECTION V:  That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

353



ORDINANCE NO. 2693 

PAGE 2 

 

 SECTION VI:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

  

SECTION VII: That this ordinance shall take effect upon passage and adoption, thereafter 

the City Clerk is hereby directed to file this ordinance with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and 

for Orange County, Florida; the Orange County Property Appraiser; and the Department of State 

of the State of Florida.  

 
 

            

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING:  November 21 and 28, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
READ FIRST TIME: December 5, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     December 19, 2018 
 
 
  
Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

354



ORDINANCE NO. 2693 

PAGE 3 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

ORD. 

NO. 

ITEM 

NO. 
OWNER’S NAME LOCATION PARCEL NUMBER 

ACRES 

+/- 

2693 12 Williams Family Trust 3205 Dew Berry Ave. 36-20-27-0000-00-047 3.99 

13 
Judy Bain & Williams Family 

Trust 

3225 Dew Berry Ave. 
36-20-27-0000-00-085 0.99 

14 
Judy Bain & Williams Family 

Trust 

3321 Dew Berry Ave. 
36-20-27-0000-00-083 4.94 

  

Property Descriptions 

Item No.  

 

12. NE1/4 OF SW1/4 OF SE1/4 (LESS W 396 FT THEREOF) & (LESS S 10.01 FT FOR R/W 

PER OR 4184/3110) SEC 36-20-27 

 

13. BEG 330 FT E OF SW COR OF NE1/4 OF SW1/4 OF SE1/4 RUN E 66 FT N 660 FT W 66 

FT S 660 FT TO POB (LESS S 10.01 FT FOR RD R/W PER OR 4175/4995) IN SEC 36-20-

27 

 

14. W1/2 OF NE1/4 OF SW1/4 OF SE1/4 (LESS S 10.01 FT FOR RD R/W PER OR 4175/4995) 

OF SEC 36-20-27

355



ORDINANCE NO. 2693 

PAGE 4 

 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT “B” 

356



ORDINANCE NO. 2694 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO 

EXTEND ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO 

ANNEX PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE 

HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED LANDS SITUATED AND 

BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, OWNED BY 

BRUCE AND JEANNIE HATCHER; AND ROBERT AND 

CYNTHIA HENDERSON AND LOCATED AS DEPICTED 

WITHIN EXHIBIT “A” OF SAID ORDINANCE, PROVIDING 

FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, SEVERABILITY, 

CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Orange County Board of County Commissioners has requested that the 

City of Apopka, Florida, annex the property located North of North Orange Blossom Trail and 

West of Plymouth Sorrento Road; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Florida Statute 171.044 of the General Laws of Florida provide that a 

municipal corporation may annex property into its corporate limits upon voluntary petition of the 

owners, by passing and adopting a non-emergency ordinance to annex said property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida is desirous of annexing and 

redefining the boundaries of the municipality to include the subject property pursuant to Florida 

Statute 171.044. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 SECTION I:  That the following described properties, being situated in Orange County, 

Florida, totaling 20.89 +/- acres, and depicted by Exhibit “A” and  further graphically depicted by 

the attached Exhibit "B”, are hereby annexed into the City of Apopka, Florida, pursuant to the 

voluntary annexation provisions of Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other applicable laws: 

 

 SECTION II:  That the corporate territorial limits of the City of Apopka, Florida, are hereby 

redefined to include said land herein described and annexed.  

 

SECTION III:  That the City Council will designate the land use classification and zoning 

category of these annexed lands in accordance with applicable City ordinances and State laws. 

 

 SECTION IV: That the land herein described and future inhabitants of the land herein 

described shall be liable for all debts and obligations and be subject to all species of taxation, laws, 

ordinances and regulations of the City. 

 

SECTION V:  That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

357



ORDINANCE NO. 2694 

PAGE 2 

 

 SECTION VI:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

  

SECTION VII: That this ordinance shall take effect upon passage and adoption, thereafter 

the City Clerk is hereby directed to file this ordinance with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and 

for Orange County, Florida; the Orange County Property Appraiser; and the Department of State 

of the State of Florida.  

 
 

            

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING:  November 21 and 28, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
READ FIRST TIME: December 5, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     December 19, 2018 
 
 
  
Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

358



ORDINANCE NO. 2694 

PAGE 3 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 
ORD. 

NO. 

ITEM 

NO. 

OWNER’S 

NAME 
LOCATION PARCEL NUMBER 

ACRES 

+/- 

2694 15 Bruce & Jeannie 

Hatcher 

1430 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 36-20-27-0000-00-093 14.18 

16 Robert & Cynthia 

Henderson 

1374 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 36-20-27-0000-00-075 6.15 

17 Bruce & Jeannie 

Hatcher 

1430 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 36-20-27-0000-00-093 0.28 

18 Robert & Cynthia 

Henderson 

1374 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 36-20-27-0000-00-075 0.28 

  
Property Descriptions 

Item No.  
 
15.  BEG 400 FT N OF SW COR OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 RUN N TO N LINE OF SE1/4 TH E TO NE COR 

OF SE1/4 TH S 20 FT TH W 300 FT TH SWLY TO A POINT 300 FT E OF POB TH W 300 FT TO 
POB (LESS BEG AT NE COR OF SE1/4 RUN S02-14-21E 20.01 FT TO PT ON S LINE OF N 20 FT 
OF E 300 FT OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 TH S89-27-24W 279.34 FT TH CONT S89-27-24W 20.58 FT TH 
S37-23-29W 106.13 FT TH N52-36-26W 29.99 FT TH N00-31-19W 85.41 FT TO PT ON N LINE 
OF SEC TH N89-28-38E 388.19 FT TO POB PER 10760/7046) IN SEC 36-20-27 & N 20 FT OF 
NW1/4 OF SW1/4 OF SEC 31-20-28 LYING W PLYMOUTH SORRENTO RD - BEING VAC R/W 
PER DB 596/467 

 
16. BEG 400 FT N & 300 FT E OF SW COR OF NE 1/4 OF SE1/4 RUN E 1032.9 FT N 905.7 FT W 300 

FT SWLY TO POB IN SEC 36-20-27 (LESS COMM AT NE COR OF SE1/4 PF SEC TH RUN S02-
14-21E 20.01 FT TO PT ON S LINE OF N 20 FT OF E 300 FT OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 AND POB TH 
CONT S 02-14-21E 904.05 FT TO PT ON N LINE OF S 400 FT OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 TH S89-29-
17W ALONG N LINE 373.7 FT TO PT ON CURV CONCV WLY HAVING A RAD OF 11,169.16 
A CHORD BEARING OF N04-40-48W A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 03-11-30 & AN ARC DIST OF 
622.17 FT TH N37-22-01E 182.75 FT TH N00-27-45W 24.57 FT TH S89-31-59W 46.6 FT TH N52-
36-26W 49.54 FT TO PT ON WLY LINE OF LANDS DESC IN OR 8943/2342 TH N37-23-29E 
106.13 FT TH N89-27-24E 300 FT TO POB PER 10705/6080) & N 20 FT LOT 2 BLK E PLYMOUTH 
PB B/17 & VAC R/W LYING W OF SAID N 20 FT OF LOT 2 PER DB 596/467 

 
17. BEG 400 FT N OF SW COR OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 RUN N TO N LINE OF SE1/4 TH E TO NE COR 

OF SE1/4 TH S 20 FT TH W 300 FT TH SWLY TO A POINT 300 FT E OF POB TH W 300 FT TO 
POB (LESS BEG AT NE COR OF SE1/4 RUN S02-14-21E 20.01 FT TO PT ON S LINE OF N 20 FT 
OF E 300 FT OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 TH S89-27-24W 279.34 FT TH CONT S89-27-24W 20.58 FT TH 
S37-23-29W 106.13 FT TH N52-36-26W 29.99 FT TH N00-31-19W 85.41 FT TO PT ON N LINE 
OF SEC TH N89-28-38E 388.19 FT TO POB PER 10760/7046) IN SEC 36-20-27 & N 20 FT OF 
NW1/4 OF SW1/4 OF SEC 31-20-28 LYING W PLYMOUTH SORRENTO RD - BEING VAC R/W 
PER DB 596/467 

 
18. BEG 400 FT N & 300 FT E OF SW COR OF NE 1/4 OF SE1/4 RUN E 1032.9 FT N 905.7 FT W 300 

FT SWLY TO POB IN SEC 36-20-27 (LESS COMM AT NE COR OF SE1/4 PF SEC TH RUN S02-
14-21E 20.01 FT TO PT ON S LINE OF N 20 FT OF E 300 FT OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 AND POB TH 
CONT S 02-14-21E 904.05 FT TO PT ON N LINE OF S 400 FT OF NE1/4 OF SE1/4 TH S89-29-
17W ALONG N LINE 373.7 FT TO PT ON CURV CONCV WLY HAVING A RAD OF 11,169.16 
A CHORD BEARING OF N04-40-48W A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 03-11-30 & AN ARC DIST OF 
622.17 FT TH N37-22-01E 182.75 FT TH N00-27-45W 24.57 FT TH S89-31-59W 46.6 FT TH N52-
36-26W 49.54 FT TO PT ON WLY LINE OF LANDS DESC IN OR 8943/2342 TH N37-23-29E 
106.13 FT TH N89-27-24E 300 FT TO POB PER 10705/6080) & N 20 FT LOT 2 BLK E PLYMOUTH 
PB B/17 & VAC R/W LYING W OF SAID N 20 FT OF LOT 2 PER DB 596/467 

359



ORDINANCE NO. 2694 

PAGE 4 

Exhibit “B” 

360



ORDINANCE NO. 2695 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 

ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX 

PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER 

DESCRIBED LANDS SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, 

FLORIDA, OWNED BY EARL AND ADELAIDA WILSON, PATRICK 

CONNELLY, AND YONG SUN & BYUNG SOOK PAK;  AND LOCATED 

AS DEPICTED WITHIN EXHIBIT “A” OF SAID ORDINANCE, 

PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, 

SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Orange County Board of County Commissioners has requested that the 

City of Apopka, Florida, annex the property located North of North Orange Blossom Trail and 

West of Plymouth Sorrento Road; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Florida Statute 171.044 of the General Laws of Florida provide that a 

municipal corporation may annex property into its corporate limits upon voluntary petition of the 

owners, by passing and adopting a non-emergency ordinance to annex said property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida is desirous of annexing and 

redefining the boundaries of the municipality to include the subject property pursuant to Florida 

Statute 171.044. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 SECTION I:  That the following described properties, being situated in Orange County, 

Florida, totaling 7.01 +/- acres, and depicted by Exhibit “A” and graphically depicted by Exhibit 

"B”, are hereby annexed into the City of Apopka, Florida, pursuant to the voluntary annexation 

provisions of Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other applicable laws: 

 

 SECTION II:  That the corporate territorial limits of the City of Apopka, Florida, are hereby 

redefined to include said land herein described and annexed.  

 

SECTION III:  That the City Council will designate the land use classification and zoning 

category of these annexed lands in accordance with applicable City ordinances and State laws. 

 

 SECTION IV: That the land herein described and future inhabitants of the land herein 

described shall be liable for all debts and obligations and be subject to all species of taxation, laws, 

ordinances and regulations of the City. 

 

SECTION V:  That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

361



ORDINANCE NO. 2695 

PAGE 2 

 

 SECTION VI:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

  

SECTION VII: That this ordinance shall take effect upon passage and adoption, thereafter 

the City Clerk is hereby directed to file this ordinance with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and 

for Orange County, Florida; the Orange County Property Appraiser; and the Department of State 

of the State of Florida.  

 
 

            

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING:  November 21 and 28, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
READ FIRST TIME: December 5, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     December 19, 2018 
 
 
  
Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

362



ORDINANCE NO. 2695 

PAGE 3 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 
ORD. 

NO. 

ITEM 

NO. 
OWNER’S NAME LOCATION PARCEL NUMBER 

ACRES 

+/- 

2695 19 Earl & Adelaida Wilson 1118 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 06-21-28-7172-04-062 0.86 

20 Patrick Connelly  1102 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 06-21-28-7172-04-061 0.23 

21 Yong Sun & Byung Sook Pak 1058 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 06-21-28-7172-04-060 5.92 

 

Property Descriptions 

Item No.  

 

19. MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 THE N 60 FT OF S 675.45 FT OF SW1/4 OF SEC 31-20-28 

LYING W OF PLYMOUTH- SORRENTO RD (DB 385/509) BEING A PT OF LOTS 3 & 6 

BLK D & VAC R/W ON W THEREOF PER DEED BOOK 596/467 SEE 3157/702, 3173/769, 

5796/3509 

 

20. MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 PT OF LOT 6 BLK D DESC AS: THE S 80 FT OF THE N 730 

FT OF SW 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 OF 31-20-28 LYING WEST OF RD LESS THE NORTH 60 

FEET OF THE S 675.45 FEET OF THE SW 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 OF 31-20-28 (LESS R/W 

ON E PER DB 385/509) & ALL THE VACATED 40 FOOT ROAD ON THE EAST SIDE 

OF BLOCK P PER DB 596/467 (LESS THE NORTH 650 FEET THEREOF) & (LESS THE 

ROAD RUNNING EAST AND WEST THROUGH THE CENTER OF BLOCK P) SEE 

2972/1671-1674 & 3157/702 & (LESS BEG SECOR OF SE1/4 OF 36-20-27 TH N 20 FT 

S89-32-59W 25.01 FT TH N02-14-24W 642.43 FT TH N89-31-39E 25.01 FT TH S02-14-

24E 26.46 FT TH S89-52.33E 82.02 FT TH 00-07-27W 20.73 FT TH S89-36-50W 66.13 FT 

TH S02-14-24E 594.64 FT TH N89-52-33W 15.01 TO POB) & (LESS COMM AT THE SW 

CORNER OF SEC 31-20-28 TH S89-54-05E 15.01 FT TO THE POB TH N02-14-21W 594.64 

FT TH N89-36-47E 10.01 FT TH S02-14-21E 594.72 FT TH N89-54-05W 10.01 FT TO THE 

POB SEE 10813/1954) 

 

21. MAP OF PLYMOUTH B/17 LOTS 2, 3, 6 & 7 (LESS N 730 FT) BLK D & PT OF VAC ST 

LYING S OF LOT 7 & VAC R/W ON W THEREOF PER DB 596/467 (LESS R/W ON E 

PER DB 385/509) & (LESS COMM AT SW COR OF SE1/4 OF 36-20-27 TH N89-33-19E 

1320.40 FT TH N89-32-59E 1320.36 FT TH S89-52-33E 25.02 FT FOR POB TH N02-14-

24W 594.73 FT N89-36-50E 56.13 FT TH S00-07-27W 427.02 FT S40-23-58E 63.85 FT TH 

S88-09-56E 162.60 FT TH S89-24-23E 287.78 FT TH N47-15-59E 71.94 FT TH S01-18-38E 

160.94 FT N89-52-33W 580.13 FT TO POB) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

363



ORDINANCE NO. 2695 

PAGE 4 

 
 

EXHIBIT “B 
 
 
 

364



 

 

G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\ANNEXATIONS\2018\Cycle 6\1 CHS Management Corporation\3 City Council Hearings\City 

Council Meeting 1st Round 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS EXHIBITS: Ordinance No. 2696 

X OTHER: Annexation  Annexation Case Table 

   Vicinity Map 

   Aerial Map 
   

SUBJECT:   ORDINANCE NO. 2696 - 2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 6 

 

REQUEST: ORDINANCE NO. 2696 – FIRST READING – ANNEXATION OF 

PROPERTY OWNED BY CHS MANAGEMENT CORP, LOCATED AT 

PLYMOUTH SORRENTO ROAD, PARCEL IDENTIFICATION 

NUMBERS 19-20-28-0000-00-005 AND 19-20-28-0000-00-031. 
  
SUMMARY:   

OWNER:  CHS Management Corp. 

APPLICANT;  Jonathan Huels 

LOCATION:  3443 Plymouth Sorrento Road and Plymouth Sorrento Road 

PARCEL ID NOS.: 19-20-28-0000-00-005 and 19-20-28-0000-00-031 

EXISTING USE: Vacant 

TRACT SIZE:  6.97 +/- acres (combined acreage of two parcels) 

 
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 

  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 
  

365



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 6 
PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  Abutting current boundaries of the City of Apopka, the subject site is 
consistent with Florida Statutes addressing annexation of unincorporated lands into a municipality. The 
proposed annexation shall be on the basis of the existing County Future Land Use and Zoning Designations.  
Assignment of a City Future Land Use and Zoning designation will occur at a later date, and through action 
by the City Council. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The JPA requires the City to notify Orange County 15 days 
prior to the first reading of any annexation ordinance.  The City provided notification to the County on 
November 9, 2018. 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
November 16, 2018 
November 23, 2018 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
December 5, 2018 (1:30 PM) - City Council 1st Reading 
December 19, 2018 (7:00 PM) - City Council 2nd Reading and Adoption 
 

RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the annexation for property owned by 
CHS Management Corp. 
 
Accept the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2696, and Hold it Over for Second Reading and Adoption on 
December 19, 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

366



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 6 
PAGE 1 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

2018 ANNEXATION CYCLE # 6 

TOTAL ACRES:  6.97 +/- 

 

ORD. 

NO. 

ITEM 

NO. 
OWNER’S NAME LOCATION 

PARCEL 

NUMBER(S) 

ACRES 

+/- 

EXISTING 

USE(S) 

FUTURE 

LAND USE 

(COUNTY) 

2696 
1 

 

CHS Management Corp 

3443 Plymouth 

Sorrento Road and 

Plymouth Sorrento 

Road 

19-20-28-0000-00-005 

19-20-28-0000-00-031 
6.97 

Single Family 

Residential; 

Vacant 

Rural 

 

367



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 6 
PAGE 4 

 

ANNEXATION 

CHS Management Corp 

Plymouth Sorrento Road 

 
Property Description: N1/2 OF S1/2 OF SE1/4 OF NE1/4 (LESS E 50 FT FOR R/W) SEC 28-20-28 

Parcel ID Nos.:  19-20-28-0000-00-005 and 19-20-28-0000-00-031 

Total Acres:  6.97 +/-   (combined)   

 

Vicinity Map 

 

 
(THIS MAP IS FOR REFERENCE PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TO SCALE) 

  

Legend 

   Subject property 

  City Jurisdiction 

  County Jurisdiction 

 

 

 

368



CITY COUNCIL – DECEMBER 5, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 6 
PAGE 5 

 

Aerial Map 
 

 
 

 

Subject Properties 

369



ORDINANCE NO. 2696 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 
ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 
TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 
LANDS SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
OWNED BY CHS MANAGEMENT CORP. AND LOCATED AT 
PLYMOUTH SORRENTO ROAD, PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO 
THE CITY CLERK, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, CHS Management Corp., owner thereof, has petitioned the City Council of 

the City of Apopka, Florida, to annex the property located at Plymouth Sorrento Road; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Florida Statute 171.044 of the General Laws of Florida provide that a 

municipal corporation may annex property into its corporate limits upon voluntary petition of the 

owners, by passing and adopting a non-emergency ordinance to annex said property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida is desirous of annexing and 

redefining the boundaries of the municipality to include the subject property pursuant to Florida 

Statute 171.044. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 SECTION I:  That the following described properties, being situated in Orange County, 

Florida, totaling 6.97 +/- acres, and graphically depicted by the attached Exhibit "A”, is hereby 

annexed into the City of Apopka, Florida, pursuant to the voluntary annexation provisions of 

Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other applicable laws: 

 

Property Descriptions: 

 

S 460 FT OF N 490 FT OF W 450 FT OF NW1/4 OF SW1/4 OF SEC 19-20-28 

Parcel ID No.:  19-20-28-0000-00-005 

 

BEG 2025.24 FT N & 1315.03 FT E OF SW COR OF SW1/4 RUN N 296.7 FT E 45.04 

FT NELY ALONG CURVE 236 FT N 81 DEG E 100.49 FT S 301.56 FT W 380 FT TO 

POB IN SEC 19-20-28 

Parcel ID No.:  19-20-28-0000-00-031 

 

 SECTION II:  That the corporate territorial limits of the City of Apopka, Florida, are 

hereby redefined to include said land herein described and annexed.

 

SECTION III:  That the City Council will designate the land use classification and zoning 

category of these annexed lands in accordance with applicable City ordinances and State laws. 

 

 SECTION IV: That the land herein described and future inhabitants of the land herein 

described shall be liable for all debts and obligations and be subject to all species of taxation, laws, 

ordinances and regulations of the City. 

370



ORDINANCE NO. 2696 

PAGE 2  
 

SECTION V:  That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

 SECTION VI:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 SECTION VII: That this ordinance shall take effect upon passage and adoption, thereafter 

the City Clerk is hereby directed to file this ordinance with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and 

for Orange County, Florida; the Orange County Property Appraiser; and the Department of State 

of the State of Florida.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING:  November 16, 2018 and November 23, 2018 

 

READ FIRST TIME: December 5, 2018 

 

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED:     December 19, 2018 

 

 

 

Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

371



ORDINANCE NO. 2696 

PAGE 2  
 

ANNEXATION 

CHS Management Corp 

Plymouth Sorrento Road 

 
Property Description: N1/2 OF S1/2 OF SE1/4 OF NE1/4 (LESS E 50 FT FOR R/W) SEC 28-20-28 

Parcel ID Nos.:  19-20-28-0000-00-005 and 19-20-28-0000-00-031 

Total Acres:  6.97 +/-      

 

Vicinity Map 

 

 
(THIS MAP IS FOR REFERENCE PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TO SCALE.) 

 

Legend 

   Subject property 

  City Jurisdiction 

  County Jurisdiction 

 

 

 

372



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  December 5, 2018 

  X   PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              City Clerk 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Ordinance No 2698 

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:  ADOPTING AND ENACTING A NEW CODE FOR THE CITY OF APOPKA 

 

REQUEST: APPROVE ORDINANCE NO. 2698 AT FIRST READING AND CARRY OVER 

FOR A SECOND READING AND ADOPTION.  
  
SUMMARY:  

 

This new code constitutes a recodification of the general and permanent ordinances adopted by the City of 

Apopka City Council.  Following a legal review by Municode, city staff reviewed sections of the code 

that they were directly involved. The legal review by Municode brought references of Florida Statutes and 

Laws within the code of ordinances up to date and in compliance.  

 

The last recodification of the Code of Ordinances was in February 1994.  Ordinances adopted after 

August 15, 2018 that amend or refer to ordinances that have been codified will be posted as NOW 

ordinances in Municode and a supplement will be done periodically as ordinances are adopted by City 

Council and codified.  

 

A copy of the recodification is available in the City Clerk’s office.  

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Approved in FY 16-17 Budget and carried forward.    

    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2698 and hold over for a Second Reading and Adoption. 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

373



 ORDINANCE NO. 2698 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AND ENACTING A NEW CODE FOR THE 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF 

CERTAIN ORDINANCES NOT INCLUDED THEREIN; PROVIDING A 

PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION THEREOF; PROVIDING FOR THE 

MANNER OF AMENDING SUCH CODE; AND PROVIDING WHEN SUCH 

CODE AND THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE. 

 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

APOPKA, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The Code entitled "Code of Ordinances, City of Apopka, Florida" published by 

Municipal Code Corporation, consisting of chapters 1 through 86, each inclusive, is adopted. 

Section 2.  All ordinances of a general and permanent nature enacted on or before August 15, 

2018, and not included in the Code or recognized and continued in force by reference therein, are 

repealed. 

Section 3. The repeal provided for in section 2 hereof shall not be construed to revive any 

ordinance or part thereof that has been repealed by a subsequent ordinance that is repealed by this 

ordinance. 

Section 4. Unless another penalty is expressly provided, every person convicted of a violation 

of any provision of the Code or any ordinance, rule or regulation adopted or issued in pursuance 

thereof shall be punished by a fine not exceeding $500.00 or a term of imprisonment not exceeding 

60 days. 

Each act of violation and each day upon which any such violation shall continue or occur shall 

constitute a separate offense. The penalty provided by this section, unless another penalty is 

expressly provided, shall apply to the amendment of any Code section, whether or not such penalty is 

reenacted in the amendatory ordinance. In addition to the penalty prescribed above, the city may 

374



pursue other remedies such as abatement of nuisances, administrative adjudication, injunctive relief 

and revocation of licenses or permits.  

Section 5.  Additions or amendments to the Code when passed in such form as to indicate the 

intention of the city council to make the same a part of the Code shall be deemed to be incorporated 

in the Code, so that reference to the Code includes the additions and amendments. 

Section 6. Ordinances adopted after August 15, 2018, that amend or refer to ordinances that 

have been codified in the Code shall be construed as if they amend or refer to like provisions of the 

Code. 

Section 7. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption. 

 

Passed and adopted this      19th      day of     December  ,   2018  . 

 

       ___________________________________ 

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR USE  

AND RELIANCE BY THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA: 

 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

Cliff Shepard, City Attorney 

1
st
  Reading:            December   5, 2018 

2
nd

 Reading and adoption:  December 19, 2018 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: December 7, 2018 

375



 Certificate of Adoption 

 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy of the ordinance passed at the regular 

meeting of the City Council, held on the     19th      day of    December      ,   2018 . 

 

____________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

 

 

376



 

 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA MEETING OF: December 5, 2018 
 PUBLIC HEARING FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS EXHIBIT(S): Resolution No. 2018-25 
X OTHER: Conveyance of Public Property  City Deed 
   Right-of-Way Map 
   Taurus Agreement 
     

 

SUBJECT: RESOLUTION NO. 2018-25 – DEEDING CITY OWNED PROPERTY ALONG U.S. 441 TO 
THE STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS TO U.S. 441. 

 
REQUEST: APPROVE RESOLUTION NO. 2018-25 - DEEDING 0.39 +/- ACRE OF CITY PROPERTY 

ALONG U.S. 441 TO THE STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
FOR NEEDED ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS TO U.S. 441. 

  
SUMMARY: 

The City of Apopka, in partnership with Taurus Investment Holdings, LLC, and the Florida Department of 
Transportation (FDOT) will begin the construction of roadway improvements to U.S. 441/E Main Street from west 
of McGee Avenue to east of Sheeler Avenue as a part of the City Center project. These improvements include the 
following: signalization of the intersection of U.S. 441/E Main Street and McGee Avenue; reconfiguration and 
signalization of the intersection of U.S. 441/E Main Street and S.R. 436; and the addition of a northbound right turn 
lane on U.S. 441/E Main Street to McGee Avenue. To construct these improvements and for FDOT to have the ability 
to maintain the road, this additional property is required for road right-of-way. 
 
A total of 0.39+/- acres from three City owned parcels is needed and be deeded to FDOT.  
 

Parcel I.D. No. 10-21-28-0000-00-065: 325 McGee Avenue (current site of Business Incubator), 0.16 +/- 
acre (6,925 square feet). 
 
Parcel I.D. No. 10-21-28-0000-00-066: 561 E Main Street (directly east of the Business Incubator site) 0.12 
+/- acre (5,174 square feet). 
 
Parcel I.D. No. 10-21-28-8652-03-020: 604 E Main Street (southeast quadrant of U.S. 441/E Main Street) 
0.11 +/- acre (4,810 square feet). 
 

The location of the property being conveyed from each parcel is a thin strip along each parcel’s edge adjacent to U.S. 
441 E Main Street. 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 

   
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 
Approve Resolution 2018-25, directing the Mayor to prepare and sign a deed conveying to the Florida Department 
of Transportation property necessary for roadway construction improvements to U.S. 441 east of McGee Avenue and 
west of Sheeler Avenue.    
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 
377



03-BSD06-09/01 
November 15, 2018 
This instrument prepared by 
Robin D. Derr 
Under the direction of 
FREDRICK W. LOOSE, ATTORNEY 
Department of Transportation 
719 South Woodland Boulevard 
DeLand, Florida  32720-6834 
 
 
PARCEL NO. 211.1, 212.1, 213.1 
SECTION  7502-105 
P.M. NO.  18-D14  
STATE ROAD  500 
COUNTY ORANGE 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2018-25 
 

ON MOTION of Commissioner ________________________________, seconded by 
Commissioner ___________________________________________, the following Resolution 
was adopted: 
 

WHEREAS, the State of Florida Department of Transportation proposes to construct or 
improve State Road No. 500, Section No. 7502-105, in Orange County, Florida: and 
 

WHEREAS, it is necessary that certain lands now owned by City of Apopka, Florida, be 
acquired by the State of Florida Department of Transportation: and 
 

WHEREAS, said property is not needed for City purposes: and 
 

WHEREAS, the State of Florida Department of Transportation has made application to 
said City to execute and deliver to the State of Florida Department of Transportation a deed, or 
deeds, in favor of the State of Florida Department of Transportation, conveying all rights, title 
and interest that said City has in and to said lands required for transportation purposes and said 
request having been duly considered. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of City of Apopka, Orange 
County, Florida, that the application of the State of Florida Department of Transportation for a 
deed, or deeds, is for transportation purposes which are in the public or community interest and 
for public welfare and the land needed for transportation purposes is not needed for City 
purposes; that a deed, or deeds, in favor of the State of Florida Department of Transportation 
conveying all right, title and interest of the City of Apopka, Florida, in and to said lands should 
be drawn and executed by __________________________________, on behalf of this City 
Council, as shown in the attached EXHIBIT A. 

 
 
 378



PARCEL NO. 211.1, 212.1, 213.1 
SECTION  7502-105 
P.M. NO.  18-D14 
PAGE 2 
 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a certified copy of this Resolution be forwarded 

forthwith to the State of Florida Department of Transportation at 719 South Woodland Blvd., 
DeLand, Florida, 32720-6834. 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
 
COUNTY OF   
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true copy of a Resolution adopted by the City 
Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, at a meeting held on the ________ day of 
__________________, 2018. 
 

  
 

City Clerk 
________________________, Florida 

 

379



03-BSD05-03/07 
November 15, 2018 
This instrument prepared by 
Robin D. Derr 
Under the direction of 
J. RYAN MAHLER, II, ATTORNEY 
Department of Transportation 
719 South Woodland Boulevard 
DeLand, Florida  32720-6834 
 
PARCEL NO. 211.1, 212.1, 213.1 
SECTION  7502-105 
P.M. NO.  18-D14  
STATE ROAD  500 
COUNTY  ORANGE 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

C I T Y   D E E D 
 

THIS DEED, made this       day of                 , 2018 by the CITY OF APOPKA, a Florida 
Municipal Corporation, grantor, to the STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION, grantee:  (Wherever used herein the terms "grantor" and "grantee" include 
all the parties to this instrument and the heirs, legal representatives and assigns of individuals, 
and the successors, and assigns of organizations). 
 

WITNESSETH:  That the grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of $1.00 and other 
valuable considerations, receipt and sufficiency being hereby acknowledged, hereby grants, 
bargains, sells, aliens, remises, releases, conveys and confirms unto the grantee, all that certain 
land situate in Orange County, Florida, viz: 
 

 
SEE EXHIBIT “A” ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART HEREOF 

 
 
RESERVING UNTO THE GRANTOR the following: 
 

1. The interest of Grantor in the property being conveyed hereby was under 
easements recorded in Official Records Book 2973, page 1194, Official Records Book 2973, 
page 1195, and Official Records Book 3979, page 4468, and Grantor actually has utility facilities 
located on the property as of the date of this conveyance.  Grantor shall have the right to continue 
to operate, maintain, or remove those pre-existing utility facilities in the normal course of 
business, but shall have no other rights with respect to the property except as may hereafter be 
granted by Grantee pursuant to a separate arrangement.  The exercise of Grantee’s rights under 
this paragraph shall be subject to the rights of Grantee to control those activities as hereinafter 
set forth. 
 

2. The Grantee shall have the right to control the exercise of Grantor’s rights under 
paragraph 1 above in the following manner: 
 

a. The Grantee may require, for any present or future transportation facility 
project, that any facilities of the Grantor be located, protected, adjusted, or removed as 
the Grantee determines is necessary (including the timing of any of such activities) to 
accommodate the transportation facility project.  The Grantor shall have the right to 
engage in additional protective measures during the transportation facility project beyond 
what the Grantee determines is necessary, provided that the cost of any such additional 
protective measures shall be borne by the Grantor. 

 
b. The Grantor shall operate and maintain the Grantor’s facilities located on 

the real property in accordance with Grantee standards as set forth in the Grantee’s then 
current Utility Accommodation Manual. 

 
c. Any placement of new facilities or adjustment, upgrading, removal, or 

relocation of the Grantor’s facilities proposed by the Grantor shall be subject to the prior 
approval of the Grantee as provided in and under the conditions of the Grantee’s then 380



PARCEL NO. 211.1, 212.1, 213.1 
SECTION  7502-105 
P.M. NO.  18-D14  
PAGE 2 
 

current Utility Accommodation Manual.  Approval will be granted through the issuance of 
a utility permit.   

 
d. Nothing in this paragraph 2 shall be deemed to grant Grantor rights beyond 

those granted by paragraphs 1 above. 
 

3. In the event that the Grantee exercises its rights under paragraph 2 hereof and the 
exercise of those rights creates costs over and above what the Grantor would normally have 
incurred had the Grantee not exercised those rights, the Grantee will bear the excess costs; 
provided, however, that nothing in this paragraph 3 shall be construed to require Grantee to bear 
any costs related to or resulting from Grantor exercising rights beyond or in excess of those 
described in paragraphs above.  Excess costs shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, 
damage to the Grantor’s facilities resulting from failure of Grantee’s protective measures where 
the Grantor has not elected to undertake additional protective measures pursuant to 
subparagraph 2.a. above. The specific arrangement for Grantee bearing the excess costs shall 
be by separate agreement. 

 
TOGETHER with all tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances thereto belonging or 

in anywise appertaining. 
 

 
TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, the same together with the appurtenances thereunto 

belonging or in anywise appertaining, and all the estate, right, title, interest, lien, equity and claim 
whatsoever of the said grantor, either in law or equity, to the said grantee forever. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said grantor has caused these presents to be executed in 
its name by its Mayor, and its seal to be hereto affixed, attested by its City Clerk, the date first 
above  
written. 
 
Signed, sealed and delivered in  CITY OF APOPKA 
the presence of: Two witnesses  A Florida Municipal Corporation 
required by Florida Law 
 
  By: _____________________________ 
SIGNATURE LINE 
PRINT/TYPE NAME:______________________ Its Mayor, Bryan Nelson 
 
 
  
SIGNATURE LINE ATTEST: _____________________________ 
PRINT/TYPE NAME:_______________________ 
 Its City Clerk 
 
 ADDRESS OF GRANTOR: 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
 
COUNTY OF ORANGE 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _______ day of _______________, ______, 
by ______________________________, Mayor of the City of Apopka, who is personally known to me or who has 
produced ________________________________ as identification. 
 

  
PRINT/TYPE NAME:  
Notary Public in and for the 
County and State last aforesaid. 
My Commission Expires:  
Serial No., if any:  

  

381



PARCEL NO. 211.1, 212.1, 213.1 
SECTION  7502-105 
P.M. NO.  18-D14  
PAGE 3 
 

 
 
PARCEL NO. 211      SECTION 7502-105 
 
 
Commence at the Northwest corner of the Southwest ¼ of the Southeast ¼ of Section 10, 
Township 21 South, Range 28 East; Thence run S00°21’08”W along the West line of said 
Southeast ¼, a distance of 0.73 feet to a point on the centerline of Survey of U.S. Highway 
No. 441 (also known as E Main Street and State Road No. 500) as shown on FDOT right 
of way map section 75120-2506; Thence departing said West line run S89°44’31”E along 
said centerline, a distance of 152.95 feet; Thence continue along said centerline 
N89°57’02”E, a distance of 48.66 feet; Thence departing said centerline run S00°02’58”E, 
a distance of 40.00 feet to a point on the south right of way line of said U.S. Highway No. 
441, said point being the Point of Beginning for Parcel “A”; Thence run the following courses 
and distances along said south right of way line as shown on said FDOT right of way map: 
N89°57’02”E, a distance of 133.13 feet; Thence run S00°02’58”E, a distance of 5.00 feet 
to Point “A”; Thence departing said south right of way line run S89°57’02”W, a distance of 
103.40 feet; Thence run S44°57’43”W, a distance of 10.01 feet; Thence run S89°57’02”W, 
a distance of 41.00 feet to a point on the aforesaid south right of way line of said U.S. 
Highway No. 441; said point being a point on a non-tangent curve concave southeasterly 
having a radius of 20.00 feet and a chord bearing N56°37’06”E; Thence run northeasterly 
along the arc of said curve and said existing south right of way line through a central angle 
66°39’54”, an arc distance of 23.27 feet to the point of tangency of said curve and the Point 
of Beginning. 
 
Containing 1,011 square feet, more or less. 
 
 
PARCEL NO. 212      SECTION 7502-105 
 
 
 
Commence at said Point “A”; Thence run N89°57’02”E along aforesaid south right of way 
line of said U.S. Highway No. 441, a distance of 10.00 feet to the Point of Beginning for 
Parcel “B”; Thence run the following courses and distances along said south right of way 
line of said U.S. Highway No. 441: N00°02’58”W, a distance of 5.00 feet; Thence run 
N89°57’02”E, a distance of 105.00 feet; Thence run S00°02’58”E, a distance of 5.00 feet; 
Thence run N89°57’02”E, a distance of 10.00 feet; Thence run N00°02’58”W, a distance of 
5.00 feet; Thence run N89°57’02”E, a distance of 95.00 feet; Thence run S00°02’58”E, a 
distance of 5.00 feet; Thence run N89°55’45”E, a distance of 10.00 feet; Thence run 
S00°02’58”E, a distance of 10.00 feet; Thence run N89°57’02”E, a distance of 109.01 feet 
to a point on a curve concave southeasterly having a radius of 25.00 feet and a chord 
bearing S60°27’52”W; Thence run southwesterly along the arc of said curve through a 
central angle 58°58’21”, an arc distance of 25.73 feet; Thence departing said south right of 
way line run  
 
S88°58’47”W, a distance of 25.18 feet to a point on a non-tangent curve concave 
southwesterly having a radius of 42.00 feet and a chord bearing N70°35’57”W; Thence run 
northwesterly along the arc of said curve through a central angle 31°59’11”, an arc distance 
of 23.45 feet to the point of compound curvature of a curve concave south having a radius 
of 1,475.00; Thence run westerly along the arc of said curve through a central angle 
3°26’45”, an arc distance of 88.71 feet to the point of tangency; Thence run S89°57’43”W, 
a distance of 98.17 feet; Thence run N76°32’33”W, a distance of 51.92 feet; Thence run 
S89°57’02”W, a distance of 23.27 feet to the Point of Beginning. 
 
Containing 3,799 square feet, more or less. 
 
 
 
 382



PARCEL NO. 211.1, 212.1, 213.1 
SECTION  7502-105 
P.M. NO.  18-D14  
PAGE 4 
 

 
 
PARCEL NO. 213      SECTION 7502-105 
 
Commence at the Southwest corner of the Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 
10, Township 21 South, Range 28 East; thence run S89°46’33”E along the south line of the 
Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of said Section 10 a distance of 185.91 feet to a point 
on the southerly projection of the existing east right of way line of South McGee Avenue, a 
fifty foot wide right of way per Official Records Book 3183, Page 929 and Official Records 
Book 4144, Page 0013, all of the Public Records of Orange County, Florida; Thence 
departing said south line run N00°01’51”W along said southerly projection a distance of 
55.97 feet to a point on said existing east right of way line for a Point of Beginning for Parcel 
“C”; Thence departing said easterly projection run N00°01’51”W along said existing east 
right of way line a distance of 21.32 feet; thence departing said existing east right of way 
line run N89°58’09”E, a distance of 11.85 feet; Thence run S63°28’27”E, a distance of 22.36 
feet; Thence run N89°57’39”E, a distance of 79.27 feet; Thence run N00°02’21”W, a 
distance of 10.00 feet; Thence run N89°57’39”E, a distance of 150.94 feet to the point of 
curvature of a curve concave north having a radius of 7,569.44; Thence run easterly along 
the arc of said curve through a central angle 00°22’05”, an arc distance of 48.61 feet to the 
end of said curve; Thence run S76°57’31”E, a distance of 69.95 feet to a point on the 
existing north right of way line of aforesaid State Road No. 500 (U.S. 441), also known as 
East Main Street, as shown on Florida Department of Transportation Right of Way Map 
Section 75120-2506; Thence run S00°02’58”E along said existing north right of way line, a 
distance of 23.00 feet; Thence run N89°49’31”W continuing along said existing north right 
of way line a distance of 362.87 feet to the point of curvature of a curve concave 
northeasterly having a radius of 16.00 feet; Thence run northwesterly along the arc of said 
curve and said existing north right of way line through a central angle 89°47’40” a distance 
of 25.08 feet to the Point of Beginning; 
 
Containing 12,909 square feet, more or less. 

 
 

383



384



DOC# 20160402657troller 08/04/201611:37:14AM Page 1 of 28
Martha 0. Haynie, Comp

Rec Fee: $239.50Orange County FL
F APOPKA - SUSAN M Deed Doc Tax: $0.00MB - Ret To: ITY 0

DOR Admin Fee: $0.00mate 1 5
IntangibleTax: $8.00
Mortgage Stamp: $0.00

DEVELOPMENT AGREBMENT

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the "DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT") is made this

day of Tul ,2016,by and between the CITYOF APOPKA, FLORIDA,a

Floridamunicipalcorp ation(the"CITY")and TAURUS APOPKA CITY CENTER, LLC,a Florida

limitedliabilitycompany (the "DEVELOPER"), joined by the CITY OF APOPKA COMMUNITY

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY (the"AGENCY") for purposes of memorializingitsagreement and

consenthereto.

W ITN E SS ETH:

WHEREAS, CITY isthe owner of approximately34 acres of land located near the

intersectionof State Road 436 and U.S.Highway 441 as more particularlydescribedon the

attachedExhibit"A" (the"PROPERTY"); and

WHEREAS, adjacentto the PROPERTY, CITY isthe owner of the Downtown Regional

Stormwater StorageFacility(the"POND") containing14.71and 0.329acres,which POND ismore

particularlydescribedon the attachedExhibit"B";and

WHEREAS, the PROPERTY and POND are located within the CITY's Downtown

Development OverlayZoning District(the"OVERLAY DISTRICT")which containsoverlaydesign

standards,permittedusesand prohibiteduses,and heightlimitationsamong itsprovisions;and

WHEREAS, the CITYdesiresto integratethe PROPERTY, and POND, and potentiallyother

propertiesintoa common development sitefora CityCenteras describedinthe map attached

heretoand incorporatedas Exhibit"C" (the"CITYCENTER PROJECT"),and allowthe DEVELOPER

to developthe PROPERTY inaccordancewiththisDevelopment Agreement and the Master Plan

(ashereinafterdefined);and

WHEREAS, pursuantto Fla.Stat.& 163.380theCITY issuedand advertiseda Request for

Proposals(the"RFP)forthe CITYCENTER PROJECT for(i)a developerto design,permit,and plan

the portionofthe CITYCENTER PROJECT locatedon the PROPERTY, (ii)a developerto develop,

construct,own and operatethe PROPERTY and alldevelopment and improvements to be located

thereon,(iii)the CITY to grant,bargainand convey the PROPERTY to a developer,and (iv)the

CITYto develop and solelyfund certainpublicassemblyfeaturesand open space constructedon

the POND, with planningand constructionmanagement assistancefrom the developer;and

WHEREAS, the DEVELOPER submitted to the CITY the only response to the RFP (the

"PROPOSAL"); and

WHEREAS, the DEVELOPER, as Buyer,and the CITY,as Seller,have executedthatcertain

1

385



Agreement forSaleand Purchase of the PROPERTY dated February3,2016, as amended (the

"S&P Agreement"),which anticipatesthe executionof a development agreement, inorderto,

among otherthings,setforththe design,phases,terms and conditionsforthe development of

the PROPERTY; and

WHEREAS, itisthe intentionof the partiesthatthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT guide

the development ofthe PROPERTY as a mixed-use projectwhich incorporatesthe POND as a (i)

non-exclusivestormwater pond to servethe PROPERTY, while stillservingother propertiesin

the OVERLAY DISTRICT as setforthpreviouslyby CITY,and (ii)a publicassembly recreational

space located on the POND, subjectto the terms and conditionsof this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan referencedherein below (collectivelythe "CITY CENTER

PROJECT");and

WHEREAS, the CITYconfirmsthatthisDevelopment Agreement isconsistentwithand an

exerciseofthe City'spowers under the MunicipalHome RulePowers Act;ArticleVill,Section2(b)

of the Constitutionof the Stateof Florida;Chapter 166, FloridaStatutes;allCITY Rules;other

controllinglaw;and the City'spolicepowers, and isa non-statutoryDevelopment Agreement

which isnot subjectto or enacted pursuantto the provisionsof Sections163.3220-163.3243,

FloridaStatutes;and

WHEREAS, the CITY and the DEVELOPER desire to enter into this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT to memorialize certain promises, agreements, covenants and expectations

pertainingto the development ofthe PROPERTY, and othermattersas providedforhereinand

the AGENCY desirestojointhisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT to memorializeitsagreement and

consent hereto.

NOW THEREFORE, forand in considerationof the above premises,the promises and

provisionscontainedherein,and forother good and valuableconsideration,the receiptand

sufficiencyofwhich arehereby acknowledged,the DEVELOPER and the CITYagree asfollows:

1. Recitals.The above Recitalsaretrueand correctand are incorporatedhereinas

materialprovisionsofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

2. Costs.The term "Cost" or "Costs" when used as capitalizedterms in this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallmean the actualcost incurredby the DEVELOPER or its

affiliatedcontractoror constructionmanager, or the CITY,without any mark-up, overhead,

management feesor profitadded by the DEVELOPER or itsaffiliatedcontractoror construction

manager, orthe CITY. When used withoutcapitalization,the term "cost"or "costs"shallhave

itsordinaryand customary meaning.

3. Master Plan. The PROPERTY shallbe developed in accordance with this

2

386



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, the Master Plansettingforththe generallayout,phasingand uses

forthe PROPERTY, includingnarrativenotes,assetforthon theattachedcomposite Exhibit"D."

The Master Planmay be modifiedinaccordance with thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. The

areaofthe Master Planwhich encompasses the portionoftheSouth Magee Avenue right-of-way

south of U.S.Highway 441 and north of East6thStreetshallprovidefora reservationof land

sufficientto allow3 lanesof vehiculartraffic,with sidewalksand bikepaths and any required

portionsofthe Propertyoutsideofthethen existingpublicright-of-way(the"441/6thStreetROW

Area")shallbe dedicatedby the CITY,at no costto DEVELOPER, atthe time of the plattingor

approvalofthe FinalDevelopment Planforthe adjacentportionsofthe Property. The 441/6th

Street ROW Area shallbe excluded from any portion of the PROPERTY purchased by the

DEVELOPER and DEVELOPER shallnot be obligatedto pay anythingforsuch excluded441/6th

StreetROW Area and the CITY shalldedicatethe 441/6thStreetROW Area forthe foregoing

purpose. The CITY shallalsopay the costassociatedwith allrequiredplanning,engineering,

and constructionforthe foregoingpublicright-of-way,sidewalksand bikepaths.

a. By itsacceptance and approval of thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and the

Master Plan,the CITY has made a determination that the DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan are compatible,consistentand incompliance

withthe applicableprovisionsofthe CITYComprehensive Plan(the"Comp Plan"),

the CITYFutureLand Use Map (the"FLUM"), and applicableprovisionsofthe CITY

Land Development Code (the"CityCode") Regulations,OrdinancesorResolutions,

and any amendments or modificationthereto(the"CITY Rules"),and thatthe

development of the PROPERTY pursuant to the Master Plan in accordance

herewith,isallowed by the Comp Plan,FLUM and other CITY Rules. The

development ofthe PROPERTY shallbe subjectto the Comp Plan,FLUM and CITY

Rulesineffectas ofthe EffectiveDate,unlessotherwisepermittedby lawto carry

out the rights,interestsand intent of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

Furthermore,the executionof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallconstitute

the CITY'Sapproval of the Master Plan as a concept plan and a preliminary

development plan pursuantto the CITY Rules,with the DEVELOPER requiredto

submit and obtainapprovalof a finaldevelopment plan,as providedinthe CITY

Rules,priorto the development of any specifiedportion,phase or parcelof the

PROPERTY, and which finaldevelopment planshallonlybe requiredtoencompass

such specifiedportion,phase or parcel.

b. As furtherdescribedinthe Master Plan,the PROPERTY AND POND shallbe a

mixed-usedevelopment witha varietyofcomplimentary and integratedlanduses

and zoningcategories,including(i)those uses allowed inthe OVERLAY DISTRICT

asprovidedinSection3.03.00ofthe CityCode, (ii)thatincorporateand followthe

CityCenterProjectDevelopment Standardsand Designwhich areattachedhereto

and incorporatedhereinasExhibit"E",(iii)the additionalpermitteduseslistedon

3

387



the attachedasExhibit"F",and (iv)excludingthe prohibiteduseslistedinSection

3.03.00ofthe CityCode and theadditionalprohibiteduseslistedon the attached

Exhibit"G".

4. PropertyAdditionsto Master Plan.The Master Planmay be amended to include,

inadditionto the PROPERTY, otherlandssurroundingthe PROPERTY (the"AdditionalLand")the

owners of which may opt-into the Master Planas providedherein;providedsuch Additional

Landsareopted-into the Master Planon orbeforesixty(60)months afterthe completionby the

CITYofallroadway improvements atS.R.436 and Magee]. Notwithstandingtheforegoing,the

DEVELOPER shallonlybe responsibleforthe development ofthe PROPERTY and exceptforthe

designofthe initialMaster Planshallhave no otherobligationto any otherpropertyowner of

such AdditionalLand. Moreover, without the expresswrittenconsent of the DEVELOPER no

amendment or enlargement ofthe Master Planshalloccurwhich adverselyaffects,impedes or

devalues the development, construction,ownership, use, leasingand operation of the

improvements on the PROPERTY inaccordanceherewith. When any owner ofAdditionalLand

desiresto includeand develop such AdditionalLand as partofthe CITYCENTER PROJECT, such

landowner shallapplyto CITYto amend the Master Planas providedherein,which amendment

or enlargement of the Master Plan shallnot adversely affect,impede or devalue the

development, construction,ownership,use,leasingand operationofthe improvements on the

PROPERTY by the DEVELOPER.

5. Amendment to Master Plan.The Master Planmay be changed and amended as

follows:

a. The DEVELOPER may applytotheCITYtoadjustthe sizeand locationofthe phases

as depictedon the Master Plan and shallhave the rightto develop,improve,

market and/or sellphases or portionsof the PROPERTY in a singlephase or as

many separate phases,phasing plans,parcelsor portionsand in any order as

determined by the DEVELOPER and approved by the CITY. The foregoingmay be

reflectedinapplicationsor requestsforfinaldevelopment planssubmittedto the

CITY. Otherthanthe foregoing,the DEVELOPER and the CITYshallhave the right

to requestan amendment or modificationto the Master Planat any time and if

the DEVELOPER and the CITYagree on any such amendment or modification,it

shallbe reflectedina writtenamendment to thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

b. Upon requestand applicationof any owner of AdditionalLand who isnot the

DEVELOPER who requeststo be includedinthe Master Plan,which application

shallbe (i)atthe solecostofthe landowner, (ii)subjectto approvalat a public

hearingofCITY,(iii)onlyafternoticeunder Section22,below to DEVELOPER has

been provided60 days priorto any such publichearing,and (iv)whom shallbe

requiredto execute itsown development agreement with CITY to cover the

4

388



subjectmatter containedhereinand whatever additionalrequirementsCITY may

impose.

6. SiteSpecificDevelopment.

a. For each specifiedportion,phase or parcelof the PROPERTY designatedinthe

Master Plan,a finaldevelopment planmust be approved by CITYStaffpriortothe

issuanceofthe buildingpermit.

b. In developing any particularphase, portionor parcelof the PROPERTY, the

DEVELOPER shallbe obligatedto constructonlythe infrastructureand amenities

containedwithinthatphase,portionor parcelofthe PROPERTY, and shallnot be

requiredto constructinfrastructureand amenitiesextendingbeyond such phase,

portionor parcel.

c. Notwithstandingsubsection b. above, each phase, portion or parcelof the

PROPERTY incombination with previousphases must be ableto existon itsown

with respectto necessaryaccess,parking,signageand utilities.

d. The firstphase ofthe development ofthe PROPERTY shallincludeat leastone of

the requiredsit-down,stand alone restaurantsdescribedin Exhibit"E" to this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

7. Payment ofApplicableFees.The DEVELOPER shallbe requiredto pay any and all

impact fees, reservationutilityfees (ifany), infrastructureand subdivisionimprovement

guarantees,sureties,lettersof credit,etc.specificallyand directlyapplicableto uses on the

specificphase,portionor parcelofthe PROPERTY forwhich planapprovalsand sitedevelopment

and subdivisionimprovements permits are being issued,and only upon the issuanceof such

permitsand not priortosuch issuance. DEVELOPER shallpay impactfeesatthetime ofpermit

issuanceconsistentwiththe CITY Rulesand inany case notto exceed the then applicablerates.

DEVELOPER shallremain eligibleforany applicablecreditsas providedinthe CityCode.

8. DeveloperObligations.Inadditionto thoseobligationssetforthelsewhereinthis

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT:

a. The DEVELOPER shalldesign,obtainallnecessarypermitsfor,and manage the

constructionof:

i. the pedestrianwalkway, publicassembly areaand bikeway on the

bank(s)ofthe POND, allas shown on the Master Plan,forthe use

and benefitofthe generalpublic(theCostsofwhich shallbe paid

5

389



by the CITY);and

ii. the pedestrianwalkway(s)and bikeway(s)on the PROPERTY for

the useofthegeneralpublic,both ofwhich shallbe integratedwith

and connectedtothe POND property,asshown inthe Master Plan.

b. The timing,commencement and completion of the design,permittingand

constructionof the items inSection7.a.shallbe as reasonablydetermined by

DEVELOPER, but no laterthan twenty-four(24)months afterthe purchaseofthe

firstparcelpursuantto theS&P Agreement.

c. The parkinglotsshallbe constructedand locatedso as to allowfor ease of

pedestrianconnectionsto and from such parkinglotsand the POND propertyas

shown inthe Master Plan.

d. The DEVELOPER shalleitherpay the Costs,or reimburse the CITY or other

appropriatepartyforthe Costs,incurredin negotiatingand finalizingthe S&P

Agreement and this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, which payment and

reimbursement shallbe due atthe time ofthe purchaseofthefirstportionofthe

PROPERTY under the S&P Agreement.

e. From and afterthe EffectiveDate,the DEVELOPER shallperform periodicand

routine maintenance of the PROPERTY until the termination of this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT orthe finalclosingand saleofany parcelor portion

of the PROPERTY to a third party who shallthen take over DEVELOPER'S

maintenance obligationswith respect to such conveyed parcel or portion.

Provided,the Highland Manor and allassociated parking lots,driveways,

walkways, buildings,structuresand improvements (collectivelythe "Highland

Manor") shallcontinueto be maintainedby the CITYand notthe DEVELOPER.

f. DEVELOPER shallconvey at no cost to the CITY any reasonably necessary

easements forpublicutilitiesand publicpedestrianaccess(asdescribedinthe

Master Plan)as may be reasonablyrequiredby the CITY for any approvaland

consistentwith thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and the Master Plan,which

easements shallbe intheform mutuallyagreed upon by the CITYand DEVELOPER.

g. On or beforeeighteen(18)months from the EffectiveDate ofthisagreement,the

DEVELOPER shallhave acquiredthe firstparcelunder the S&P Agreement and

commenced constructionthereon. On or beforethirty-six(36)months afterthe

EffectiveDate commencement of constructionon the firstacquiredparcel,the

DEVELOPER shallhave acquiredthe second parcelunder the S&P Agreement and

6

390



commenced constructionthereon. Withinforty-eight(48)months followingthe

completion of the 436/Magee Roadway improvements (ashereinafterdefined)

the DEVELOPER shallhave acquiredand commenced constructionon a minimum

offiftypercent(50.00%)ofthe planned improvements withinthe portionofthe

PROPERTY bounded by U.S.Highway 441 on the north,6thStreeton the south,

and South Magee Avenue on the west.

h. Itisthe intentionofthe CITYand the DEVELOPER thatthe DEVELOPER acquirethe

PROPERTY withthe intentionofdevelopingand improvingthe PROPERTY forlease

or furtherresaleor sellingportionsof the PROPERTY without developingsuch

portionsto thirdpartieswho intendto develop such portionsthemselves,allin

accordance with the terms, obligationsand conditionsof the DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT. There shallbe no restrictionson the resaleof portionsof the

PROPERTY in accordance with the foregoingprovided a validfinalsiteplan

approvalhas been issuedforthe portionofthe propertyto be sold.

i. The DEVELOPER shallordera surveyofthe PROPERTY on or beforeten (10)days

afterthe EffectiveDate and must submittothe CITYa preliminarysubdivisionplan

forthe PROPERTY withinsixty(60)daysofthe DEVELOPER'S receiptofthe survey.

J. Notwithstandinganythingcontainedhereinto the contrary,the DEVELOPER shall

pay the Costs associatedwith the portionof the boardwalk and/or sidewalk

locatedimmediatelybehindthe restaurantsas shown on the Master Plan.

9. PropertyOwners Association.The DEVELOPER shallcreate,incorporateand fund

a propertyowners associationforany and allcommon elements ofany portionofthe PROPERTY

formaintenance,repair,the replacement of the parking,access,signage,walkways, drainage,

bike racksand bike paths,board walks,common elements and publicassembly area(s)or

parcel(s),allas more particularlyset forth in a declarationof covenants, conditionsand

restrictions(the"Declaration")which must comply withthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, be in

recordableform and shallbe recorded againstthe PROPERTY free and clearof any lien,

encumbrance, judgment or mortgage of recordpriorto the issuanceof the firstdevelopment

permitforthe PROPERTY. Each currentor subsequent owner ofa parcelwithinthe PROPERTY

shallbe and isa member of the propertyowners association.Untilsuch time as DEVELOPER

conveys or transfersany common areas, lands,and obligationsto the property owners

association,DEVELOPER shallremain responsibleforthe maintenance ofsuch areas.

10. PotableWater and SanitarySewer Lines.

a. Inconnectionwith itsdevelopment ofthe PROPERTY, the DEVELOPER shallcause

to be designed,permitted,installedand constructed,potablewater and sanitary

7

391



sewer lines(collectivelythe "Water and Sewer Lines"),commencing from the

pointof connectionforsuch linesat the pointnearestto the PROPERTY, allin

accordancewith the CITY Rulesand requirements,of sufficientsizeand capacity

to accommodate the anticipatedpotable water and sanitarysewer flow

requirementsforthe PROPERTY.

b. The DEVELOPER has requesteda totalflow forthe PROPERTY at 107,000 gallons

per day ofusage forwater and sewer capacity,which do not requirethe need to

oversizethe water or sewer linesforthe use ofthe PROPERTY.

c. Ifportionsofthe PROPERTY areapproved fordevelopment and requireadditional

capacity,the Developershallhave same installedatitscost,subjectto any credits

as providedinthe CityCode and subjectto reimbursement on a pro-ratabasisfor

shared use ofthe additionalcapacity.

d. The DEVELOPER shallcontrolallaspectsofthe constructionand installationofthe

Water and Sewer Linesand shallselectand hireany independent contractorsto

complete the work as itshalldetermine. Allwork subjectto permittingand

inspectionby the CITYsubjectto requirementsofthe CITYRules.

e. DEVELOPER shallbe responsibleto design,planand constructand dedicatetothe

CITY a liftstationand relatedimprovements (the "LiftStation")near the

intersectionof U.S.Highway 441 and East6thStreet.

f. The foregoingwork describedinsubsectionsa.through e.shallbe paidforby the

DEVELOPER (subjectto the creditand reimbursement provisionsofsubsectionc.

above).

g. All of the CITY Rules, requirements and specificationsconcerning utility

connectionsand solidwaste collectionapplyto the PROPERTY and development

thereof.

h. The DEVELOPER may obtain water and sewer capacitythrough the CITY's

establishedreservationprocedures,when applicable;provided,however,theCITY

shall provide written notificationto the DEVELOPER prior to accepting

reservationsfor or allocatingpotablewater and wastewater capacityto third

partieswhich would resultin an insufficientpotable water and wastewater

capacitybeingavailableforthe PROPERTY.

i. There shallbe no requirementthatreclaimed(reuse)water systems be connected

toorused by on the PROPERTY and itsimprovements and neitherthe DEVELOPER

8

392



noritssuccessorsand assignsshallbe requiredto pay forany such connectionand

use.

11. Drainage.

a. The POND serves as a nonexclusive retention/detentionpond for water

attenuationand storageforthe surrounding320.20 acre drainagebasinwhich

areaisdescribedinattachedExhibit"H" (the"DrainageBasin"),which includesall

ofthe PROPERTY.

b. CITY hereby confirms and agrees that attenuationsurface water drainage

requirementsforthe PROPERTY, as itmay be improved, developed,used,and

occupied,shallbe servicedby the POND up to 27.12 acre-feetofflow based on

SJRWMD Permit#20922-2,calculatedasa proportionateshareofthetotal234.71

acre-feetofstormwater runoffpermittedtoreachthe POND based on theacreage

of the PROPERTY versusthe totalacreage of the drainage basin(320.1acres)

contributingtothe POND.

c. Afterfive(5)years,the capacityofthe POND shallbe on a first-comefirst-served

basisand in the event the drainage flow intothe POND isat capacity,the

DEVELOPER shallbe requiredto engineerand constructon the PROPERTY on-site

retentionand detentionforwater qualityand attenuation.

d. The CITY shallkeep records of the cubic feet of surface and stormwater

attenuationdrainagegeneratedby DEVELOPER from the PROPERTY.

e. Upon approvalof any finaldevelopment plansby CITYforeach portionor phase

ofdevelopment withinthe PROPERTY, the DEVELOPER shallhave the right,subject

tothe requirementsofsubsectionsb.and c.above,totransmit,retainand detain,

allofthe surfaceand stormwater generated from the PROPERTY intoand within

the POND.

f. The POND shallalsoserveas a centralamenity ofthe CITYCENTER PROJECT and

shallbe incorporatedas a publicrecreationalelement and water featurethe

integrationand characteristicsof which willbe determined by the CITY,isnot

inconsistentwith the water levelsand carry capacity of the POND, and

incorporatesand does not preventthe existingand futuredrainageflows,surface

and stormwater sewer and relatedditchesor pipes flowingfrom the entire

drainagebasintothe POND.

12. Good Faith.

9

393



a. The CITY hereby agrees to timelyand expeditiouslyconsider,comment on and

approve (subjectto applicablerequirements) any required changes in the

allowableuseofthe PROPERTY, FLUM amendments, Comp Planamendments, and

thisMaster Planwhich affectlanduse or development standards,rezonings,and

specialexceptions,as may be required to conform to this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan,

b. The CITYagreesto timelyand expeditiouslyconsider,process,comment on and

approve (subjectto applicablerequirements)any and allsubmittals,applications,

decisions,determinations,preliminaryand finaldevelopment plans,development

orders,actions,consentsand approvals,includingany requestby the DEVELOPER

for a planned development ordinance ifconsistentwith thisDEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan,which arenecessaryor reasonablyrequiredto

allowthe DEVELOPER toobtainallnecessaryapprovals,and toconstruct,improve,

and developthe PROPERTY and itsphases,inaccordancewiththisDEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan.

c. Nothing in thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallconstituteor be deemed to

constitutea limitation,restrictionorany othertypeofwaiverofDEVELOPER right

or abilityto seek a rezoning,comprehensive planamendment, variance,special

exception,siteplan,preliminaryorfinaldevelopment plan,planned development

ordinanceor any otherlanduse or development approvalor development order.

13. HighlandManor,

a. The DEVELOPER shallmanage and directthe incorporation,demolitionand/or

relocationofthe historicportionof HighlandManor, includingallofitsassociated

parkinglots,driveways,walkways, buildings,structuresand improvements as

applicablein accordance with this Section 12 and other provisionsof this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT as providedherein:

i. Ifthe DEVELOPER incorporatesHighland Manor into the CITY

CENTER PROJECT, the DEVELOPER shallpay allthe costs of

incorporation,demolitionand/or relocation.

ii. Ifthe DEVELOPER electsnot to incorporateHighlandManor into

the CITYCENTER PROJECT on the PROPERTY, then the DEVELOPER

shallprovidethe noticetothe CITYinsubsection12.c.,below.

b. Untilthe use of HighlandManor must cease pursuantto subsection12.c.,below,

10

394



the CITYshall:

i. continueto maintain,use,and operateHighlandManor foritssole

use and profitsand revenues;and

ii. during such period,the property of Highland Manor shallbe

maintainedby the CITYor itstenantor designee.

c. The DEVELOPER shallprovidethe CITYa writtennotice(the"RelocationNotice")

thatHighlandManor must be demolished or moved within12 months ofthedate

the RelocationNotice isreceivedby the CITY (the"RelocationNotice Receipt

Date"). Within sixty(60)days of the RelocationNotice ReceiptDate,the CITY

shallconfirm inwritingto the DEVELOPER that itintendsto move the historic

portionof Highland Manor to an alternatelocation(the "RelocationSite"),as

determined by the CITYinitssolediscretion.

d. The CITY shallbe obligatedto complete the relocationand/or demolitionofthe

HighlandManor withintwelve(12)months ofthe RelocationNoticeReceiptDate,

but inno event earlierthan eighteen (18)months afterthe EffectiveDate (the

"RelocationDate"). Ifthe HighlandManor has not been eitherdemolished or

relocatedby the RelocationDate,then:(i)the CITYshallbe obligatedto pay tothe

DEVELOPER a dailypenaltyinthe amount of FiveHundred Dollars($500.00)for

each day beyond the RelocationDate thatthe HighlandManor isnot completely

demolished and/or removed from itspresentlocationto the RelocationSite,and

(ii)the DEVELOPER shallhave the rightto demolish and/or remove Highland

Manor from itspresentlocation,and the CITYshallbe obligatedto reimbursethe

DEVELOPER for allCosts associatedwith the DEVELOPER's demolitionand/or

removal of HighlandManor.

e. The CITYshallmanage and directthe relocationand/ordemolitionofthe Highland

Manor pursuanttothe RelocationNotice,and the CITYshallbe solelyresponsible

for allcostsand expenses associatedwith the planning,managing, directing,

engineering,services,work, labor,and materialsrequiredto demolish allofthe

HighlandManor or remove the historicportionof HighlandManor to the Agreed

RelocationSite.

14. Roadway Improvements. The DEVELOPER shallbe responsibleforthe design,

planning,engineering,permitting,and constructionof:

a. the roadway, sidewalk,buffer,trafficsignalization,turn lane and related

improvements at the intersectionof South Magee Avenue and StateRoad 436,

11

395



includinga rightturn decelerationlanewestbound at StateRoad 436 to South

Magee Avenue (the"436/Magee Roadway improvements");and

b. all roadway, sidewalk, buffer,trafficsignalization,turn lane and related

improvements at the intersectionof U.S.Highway 441 and East6thStreet(the

"441/6thRoadway Improvements").

While the DEVELOPER shallhave the responsibilityforthe foregoing,the CITY shallbe

solelyobligatedto pay and/or reimburse allCosts incurredby the DEVELOPER or

associatedwiththe roadway improvements specifiedinsubsectionsa.and b.above,and

any other requiredoff-site(i.e.,off-PROPERTY)improvements. To the extentallowed

pursuantto applicableCITY Rules,the CITY shallpay forthe foregoingfrom a funded

escrow account to be establishedin accordance with an agreement between the

DEVELOPER and the CITY which shallconsistof funds from the net purchase proceeds

receivedby the CITYinconnectionwiththe conveyance ofthe PROPERTY pursuanttothe

S&P Agreement and any impact fees paid in connection with the development and

improvement of the PROPERTY. The CITY may pursue reimbursement or payment of

such roadway improvements costsfrom the FloridaDepartment ofTransportation. In

addition,the CITYshallbe responsibleforthe design,planning,engineering,permitting,

constructionand allcostsassociatedwiththe planned East6thStreetimprovements west

ofthe intersectionof U.S.Highway 441 and East6thStreet,which shallbe considereda

partofthe 441/6thRoadway Improvements.

15. City FinancialObligations.Unless otherwise specificallylistedherein this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, nothingelsehereinshallbe construedor interpretedto:

a. Pledge the fullfaithand creditof the Cityor constitutea generalobligationor

indebtednessofthe CITY;

b. Constitutea pledgeoran agreement to pledgethetaxrevenues (excludingimpact

fees)ofthe CITYor mandate; or

c. Waive sovereignimmunity ofthe CITYexceptasspecificallylimitedfortortclaims

under Section768.28,FloridaStatutes.

16. Bankruptcy. Inthe event(a)an orderordecree isenteredappointinga receiver

forDeveloperoritsassetsor(b)a petitionisfiledby Developerforreliefunder federalbankruptcy

laws or any other similarlaw or statuteof the United States,which actionisnot dismissed,

vacatedordischargedwithinsixtydaysafterthefilingthereof,then DEVELOPER shallbe declared

to be in materialbreach of thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and Cityshallhave the rightto

terminateimmediatelythisAgreement and accelerate,making immediatelydue and payable,all

sums leviedagainstthe PROPERTY atthe time ofthe occurrenceof an event describedin(a)or

(b)above. The occurrenceofan eventdescribedin(a)or (b)above shallnot affordany person

12

396



the rightto refuse,discontinueor deferpayment ofsaidsums ortochallengetheirvalidity.

17. Breach.Inthe eventofa breach,default,orviolationofone or more ofthe provisionsof

thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT by eitherthe DEVELOPER or the CITY,the violatingpartyshall

be giventhirty(30)days to cure such violationupon receiptof writtennoticeof the violation

from a non-violatingparty. Inthe event such violationisnotcuredwithinsaidperiod,the CITY

orthe DEVELOPER, asthe casemay be,shallhave the rightto pursuethe remedies inSection18,

below; provided,however, ifthe defaultingparty'sviolationcannot reasonablybe cured within

the applicablecure period,then the cure periodshallnot be deemed to have lapsedand such

partyshallbe allowedadditionaltime as isreasonablynecessaryto curetheviolationso longas:

(i)the defaultingpartycommences to curethe violationwithinthe applicablecure period,and

(ii)the defaultingpartydiligentlypursuesa courseofactionthatwillcurethe violationand bring

the defaultingpartyback intocompliancewith thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

18. Remedies / LimitationsofAction.

a. The DEVELOPER and the CITY each agree the sole remedy for breach of this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbe to specificallyenforce the terms and

conditionshereof. Thisprovisionshallnot limitany otherrightsor remedies the

partieshave under the S&P Agreement.

b. The DEVELOPER and the CITYeach waive any and allclaimsor causesofactionfor

monetary damages such partyhasor may have currentlyor inthefutureasto any

claim related to, resultingfrom or stemming from this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT.

c. Neitherpartyshallbe entitledto damages based on lostprofits,lostrevenues,

direct,indirectorconsequentialdamages.

d. Notwithstandinganythingtothe contraryhereinthisDEVELOPMENT AGEEMENT,

inthe event of a breach,default,or violationof one or more of the provisions

hereinby the DEVELOPER orthe CITY,the violatingpartyshallbe giventhirty(30)

days to curesuch violationupon receiptofwrittennoticeofthe violationfrom a

non-violatingparty.

e. AdditionalRights of the CITY with Respect to DEVELOPER's Breach After

Conveyance of the PROPERTY. IfDEVELOPER acquiresthe PROPERTY or any

portionthereoffrom CITY before obtainingallnecessarypermitsto commence

verticalconstructionthereon,and thereafterDEVELOPER materiallybreachesany

oftheterms ofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and failsto curesame withinthe

time periodspecifiedherein,then CITY,upon writtendemand (CITY'sNotice)to

13

397



DEVELOPER, shallhave the additionalrightsbelow:

1. To requireDEVELOPER to re-convey the acquired PROPERTY or any

portionsthereof:(i)forwhich such necessarypermits have not been

obtained,(ii)on which verticalconstructionor development have not

been commenced (orthe remainingundeveloped and unsoldportion(s)

thereof,asthecasemay be)tothe CITYinaccordancewiththefollowing

terms and conditions:

i. The date on which the re-conveyanceclosingwilltake placeshall

be mutuallyagreed to by CITY and DEVELOPER, but in no event

laterthan sixty(60)days followingthe DEVELOPER's receiptof

CITY'sNotice.

ii.The re-conveyancepriceto be paidby CITYto DEVELOPER shallbe

the lesserof:(i)the amount the CITYwas paid by DEVELOPER for

the PROPERTY or any portionthereof(persquare foot)to be re-

conveyed,or (ii)the amount the CITYwas paid by DEVELOPER for

the PROPERTY or any portionthereof(persquare foot)to be re-

conveyed,lessthe amount ofany liensor mortgages thereon. If

the amount of any outstandinglien(s)or mortgage(s)exceed the

amount the CITYwas paidby DEVELOPER forthe PROPERTY or any

portionthereof(persquare foot)to be re-conveyedto CITY,the

balanceofsuch lien(s)or mortgage(s)shallbe paidby DEVELOPER

priorto or atclosingon the re-conveyance.

iii.Re-conveyanceshallbe by specialwarrantydeed,freeand clearof

any liensor encumbrances otherthan (a)those mattersof record

which existon the date of closingofthe DEVELOPER's acquisition

ofthe PROPERTY, (b)customary easements or serviceagreements

entered into between DEVELOPER and the providersof utility

services,includingbut not limitedto electric,water,sewer, and

telecommunicationsservices,and (c)such othermatterswhich do

not impairthe marketabilityoftitletothe property.

iv. DEVELOPER shall,at no expense to the CITY,convey allstudies,

reports,testand auditresults,engineeringwork, surveys,design

and constructionplans and working drawings, and allother

materialspertainingto development ofthe PROPERTY.

v. The CITY may demand payment from DEVELOPER to remove any

14

398



constructionliensencumbering the PROPERTY.

2.

The rightsand remedies under Section18(e)of thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT are entirely

optionaland shallbe exercisedby CITYonlyinitssolediscretionwithoutany obligationto do so.

The CITYshallbe obligated,withinten (10)daysfollowingthewrittenrequestofthe DEVELOPER,

to providean executedestoppelcertificateor letter,ina form reasonablyrequiredby any lender

or non-affiliatedthirdpartypurchaser,confirmingwhether therecurrentlyexistsany uncured

violationsby the DEVELOPER hereunder and whether the CITY'sreconveyancerightshave been

triggeredwith respecttothe PROPERTY or any specifiedportionthereof.

19. Authority.Each partyrepresentsand warrantsto the otherpartiesthatithas all

necessarypower and authorityto enterintoand consummate the terms and conditionsofthis

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, thatallacts,approvals,procedures,and similarmattersrequired

inorderto authorizethisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT have been taken,obtained,or followed,

as the case may be,and that,upon the executionof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT by all

parties,thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbe validand bindingupon the partiesheretoand

theirsuccessorsininterestand assigns.

20. EffectiveDate.This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbecome effectiveon the

date lastsignedby any ofthe parties(the"EffectiveDate")and shallexpireon thethirtieth(30th

anniversaryofthe EffectiveDate.

21. VA. Ifany portionofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT isdetermined by final

order or judgment by a court of competent jurisdictionto be invalid,unconstitutional,

unenforceableorvoid,the balanceofthe DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallcontinueinfullforce

and effect.

22. Notices. Any notices required or permitted under this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT, and copiesthereof,shallbe addressed to the CITY and the DEVELOPER at the

followingaddresses,or at such other addressesdesignatedinwritingby the partyto receive

notice.

CITY: HONORABLE Joe Kilsheimer,or hissuccessor

Mayor forthe CityofApopka

120 EastMain Street

PostOfficeDrawer 1229

Apopka, Florida32704-1229

Facsimile:407-703-1705;Email:girby@apopka.net

15

399



With a copy to: CITYADMINISTRATOR

CITYCLERK

120 EastMain Street

PostOfficeDrawer 1229

Apopka, Florida32704-1229

CITYLEGAL COUNSEL

CliffordB.Shepard,Esq.

Shepard,Smith and Cassady,P.A.

2300 MaitlandCenter Parkway

Suite100

Maitland,Florida32751

Facsimile:407-622-1884;E-mail:cshepard(alshepardfirm.com

DEVELOPER: DEVELOPER Apopka CityCenter, LLC, a Floridalimitedliability

company; Attn:JeffreyK.McFadden

610 North Wymore Road,Suite200

Maitland,Florida 32751

Facsimile:407-539-6181;Email:imcfadden@tiholdings.com

With a copy to: Keating& Schlitt,P.A.,Attn:John Kingman Keating

250 EastColonialDrive,Suite300

Orlando,Florida32801

Facsimile:407-425-6345;Email:jkk@keatIaw.com

Noticesshallbe either:(i)personallydelivered(includingdeliveryby FederalExpressor other

overnightcourierservice)to the addressessetforthabove,inwhich casethey shallbe deemed

deliveredon the date of delivery;(ii)sent by certifiedmail,returnreceiptrequested,inwhich

casethey shallbe deemed deliveredon the date shown on the receiptunlessdeliveryisrefused

or intentionallydelayedby the addressee,inwhich eventtheyshallbe deemed deliveredon the

date of depositinthe U.S.Mail;or (iii)transmittedviafacsimileor email usingthe facsimile

numbers or email addressesprovidedabove, ifany (orsuch other number or addressas the

receivingpartymay have designatedinwriting),inwhich casethe deliveryshallbe deemed to

have occurredon the day oftransmission,providedthe day oftransmissionisa normal business

day,or on the firstnormal businessday afterthe transmission. Inthe event a disputearises

concerningwhether a facsimileoremailtransmissionwas made and on what date,saidfacsimile

or emailtransmissionmust be verifiedby a print-outgenerated by the transmittingmachine or

emailaddress.

23. Entire Agreement. This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT embodies the entire

understandingofthe partieswith respecttothe mattersspecificallyenumerated herein,and all

16

400



negotiations,representations,warrantiesand agreements made between thepartiesaremerged

herein. The making,executionand deliveryofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT by allparties

has been induced by no representations,statements,warrantiesor agreements that are not

expressedherein. There areno furtherorotheragreements orunderstandings;writtenororal,

ineffectbetween or among the partiesrelatedtothe subjectmatter hereof.

24. Assignment. NeitherthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT nor any of the parties'

rightsand obligationshereundershallbe assignableorassignedby any partyheretowithoutprior

writtenconsent of the other party;provided however, that the DEVELOPER may assignthis

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTto any affiliatedorrelatedentityorany entityobtainingDEVELOPER

rightshereinthrough a merger or acquisition.The rightsgranted to DEVELOPER under this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT relatespecificallyto the PROPERTY and are not permittedto be

transferredto any otherproperty.

25. BindingEffectand Successors.ThisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallrunwiththe

Propertyand the rightsand theobligationsunder thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbenefit,

burden, and bind the successors,heirsand assignsof allpartiesto this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT. In the event of the assignment of thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, or the

conveyance or transferof the PROPERTY, the DEVELOPER shallbe and remain liablefor

performance of the obligationsunder thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT untilsuch time as a

writtenreleaseisobtainedfrom the CITY.

26. Amendment. Except as otherwise provided herein, this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT may be amended, modifiedorcancelledby mutual consentofthe partiesheretoas

representedby a writtendocument executed by the CITYand the DEVELOPER.

27. Governing Law,Venue and Jurisdiction.ThisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbe

governed by and construedinaccordancewiththe lawsoftheStateofFlorida. Exclusivevenue

inany actionto construeor enforcethe provisionsofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbe

inthe CircuitCourtinand forOrange County,Florida,and both partiesconsenttoand acquiesce

to the jurisdictionofthe StateCourtsforthe Stateof Floridaforany and allclaimsor dispute

concerning any legalor equitableactionarisingout of,stemming from or relatingto this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, any approval,actionorevent emanating therefrom inthe present

orthefutureand forany declaratoryactionunder Chapter86,FloridaStatutes(2015).

28. Time. Time ishereby declaredto be of the essence inthe performance of the

dutiesand obligationsof the respectivepartiesto thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT; provided

however,thatthe computationoftime forDEVELOPER'S obligationshereinshallbe tolledforany

delays caused by acts of God, strikes,localand nationalemergency, materialshortage,

transportationdelays,moratoriums, condemnations and other events beyond DEVELOPER'S

control.

17

401



29. Captions.The captionsor paragraphheadingsofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

are providedforconvenienceonlyand shallnot be deemed to explain,modify,amplifyor aidin

the interpretation,or meaning ofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

30. Recording.Within fourteen(14)days afterthe executionof thisDEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT by the parties,the CITY shallrecordthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT among the

PublicRecordsofOrange County,Florida,withthe costthereofto be borne by the DEVELOPER;

provided,however,thatany delayinrecordingshallnotaffectthevalidityofthisDEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT.

31. Independent Parties. CITY and DEVELOPER are not partners and this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT is not a jointventure and nothing in this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT shallbe construedto authorizethe CITYor DEVELOPER to representor bindtheany

otherpartyto mattersnot expresslyauthorizedor providedin
thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

32. No Third-PartyBeneficiaries.Nothing in this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT,

expressor implied,isintendedto or willbe construedto conferon any person,otherthan the

partiesof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, any right,remedy, or claimwith respectto this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the CITY Commission of the CITY of Apopka, Florida,a Florida

municipalcorporation,and DEVELOPER, Apopka CityCenter,LLC, a Floridalimitedliability

company, have caused thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT to be executed as ofthe date setforth

adjacent to their signaturesbelow, and the AGENCY, the City of Apopka Community

Redevelopment Agency,hereby joinsinand consentstothisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

WITNESSES: CITY

CITYOF P KA

By:

RE Honorab oe is elmer,Mayor

WITNESS ME PRINTED Date Executed:

WITNESS SIGN URE

WITNESS NAME PRINTED

AGENCY

18

402



THE CITYOF APOPK UNITY

REDEV OPME A Y

TdE

By:

Hon elmer,Chairman

WITNESS NAME PRINTED ecuted:

WITNESS SIGNATURE

WITNESS NAME PRINTED

WITNESSES: DEVELOPER

TAURUS APOPKA CITYCENTER, LLC,a

loridalimitedliabilitco

WITNIESSSIGNATURE JeffreyK.McFadden, Manager

IT SN RI Executed: TR ILo

T ATU

WITNESS NA PRINTED

19

403



EXHIBIT"A" -LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

Note: Has not been adjustedto accountforincreaseinPond acreage

1 10-21-28-0000-00-063 611 E Main St Apopka FL 32703 6.42

2 10-21-28-8652-03-020 604 E Main St Apopka FL 32703 11.41

3 10-21-28-8652-01-041 806 E6th Apopka FL 32703 0.33

4 10-21-28-0000-00-065 325 S MCGEE AVE Apopka FL 32703 1.12

5 10-21-28-0000-00-066 805 E6TH ST Apopka FL 32703 1.44

6 10-21-28-8652-04-020 506S MCGEE AVE Apopka FL 32703 0.82

7 10-21-28-8652-04-032 508S MCGEE AVE Apopka FL 32703 0.34

8 15-21-28-0000-00-001 461 E7thST Apopka FL 32703 10.01

9 15-21-28-6756-00-191 none Apopka FL 32703 2.81

34.70

1. BEG726.5FTEOF SW COR OF NW1/4OF SE1/4RUN E506FTN 638.5FTW 506FTS 638.5FTTO POB INSEC

10-21-28(LESS563FTFOR RD & LESSPTON STAKENFORR/W PER5515/2383CI98-2740)

2. LFTILDENSADDEON TO APOPKA A/140BEG256FTN OF SW COR OF LOT2 RUN N 173.88FTNELYALONG

CURVE31.34FTE207.08FTS211.38FTW 71FTN 17.18FTW 156FTTO POB BEINGPTOF LOTS1& 2 BLKC

& A PARCELOF LAND MEASURING160FTE& W BY95FTN & SINSW COR OF LOT3BLKC & THAT PARTOF

SE1/4DESCAS BEG71FTEOF NW COR LOT1 BLKC OF TILDENSADD TO APOPKA A/140RUN E154.9FTS 15

FTE290FTS120FTW 200FTS165FTE207.28FT5496.95FTW 520.11FTN 98FTE160FTN 500.34FTE156

FT517.89FTE70.89FTN 211.21FTTO POB (LESSLIFTSTATIONSITE)& (LESSPTTAKENON N FOR R/W PER

OR 5753/4449CI98-2847)INSEC10-21-28SEE1448/2093736/24905185/16075193/309& 30035246/775

5283/488& 4915326/1235

3. LFTILDENSADDEON TO APOPKA A/140LOT4 LYINGSOF STATERD BLKA

4. E243FTOF W 418FTOF S2581/2FTOF NW1/4 OF SE1/4(LESSRD ON W PER3138/402& LESSS40 FTFOR

RD)SEC10-21-28

5. E308.5FTOF W 726.5FTOF S258.5FTOF NW1/4OF SE1/4SEC10-21-28(LESSRD ON S)

6. LFTILDENSADDMON TO APOPKA A/140THES 127.58FTOF LOT2 & N 117FTOF LOT3 BLKD

7. LFTILDENSADDEON TO APOPKA A/140THES100FTOF N 217FTOF LOT3 BLKD

8. BEGSECOR OF SW 1/4OF SEC10-21-28TH S531.25FTTH W 252.04FTTO THEELYR/W OFALABAMA AVETH

N01-46-38W111.31FTALONG SAIDR/WTH N 420.41FTTH N89-54-29W3.51FTTH N00-13-28E21.67FTTH

S89-10-03E90.22FTTH N00-12-03E120.69FTN89-35-35W89.22FTTO ER/W LINEOF ALABAMA AVETH N00-

13-26E294.46FTTH 589-43-12E252.57FTTH N00-30-00W21.42FTTH N90E147FTSOO-30-00E13.74FTTH

90E299.39FTTH 5442.99FTTH N90W 442.53FTTO POB

9. COMM NE CORNER OF NW 1/4OF SEC15-21-28TH S 531.25FTTO POBTH S 141FTTH 590E160.95FTTH S

30FTTO A NON-TAN INTERSECTIONWITH A CURVECONC TO EWITH A RADIUSOF 85.62FTAND A CENT

ANGLEOF 72-23-29AND A CHORD BEARINGSO8-42-07W101.13FTTH 526-27-43W33.32FTTH 556-26-00E

150FTTH 533-34-00W140FTTH N56-26-00W294.89FTTO POC CONC NE W/RADIUSOF 407.15FTAND A

CENTANGLEOF 55-50-42AND A DISTOF 396.84FTTH N01-46-38W3.69FTTH N90E252.04FTTO POB

20

404



EXHIBIT"B"- POND LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Note: Has not been adjustedto accountforincreaseinPond acreage

Parcel110-R-part RoadSection7502-105

Parcel194-part,Parcell95 RoadSection75120-2502

A portionoflandlyingintheSoutheast%ofSection10,Township21South,Range28East,OrangeCounty,Florida,

beingmoreparticularlydescribedasfollows:

BEGINattheSouthwestcornerofLot3,Block"B",L.F.Tilden'sAdditiontoApopkaCity,asrecordedinPlatBook"A",

Page140,PublicRecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida,alsobeinga pointofintersectionoftheexistingRight-of-Way
lineofStateRoad500,U.S.Highway441asshownontheFloridaDepartmentofTransportationRight-of-WayMap
forStateRoad436,SectionNo.75120-2506,Sheet3of17,DatedJune1996;thenceNorth00*10'44"East,497.64feet

alongtheWest lineofsaidBlock"B"andtheEastlineofLot2,Townsend'sPlantationasrecordedinPlatBook

26,Page145,PublicRecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida,alsobeingtheexistingRight-of-WaylineofsaidStateRoad

500,U.S.Highway441toapointofintersectionontheEasterlylineofsaidLot2,alsobeingapointofintersectionof

saidexistingRight-of-WaylineofStateRoad500,U.S.Highway441;thencealongsaidLot2 Easterlylotlineandsaid

existingRight-of-WaylineofStateRoad500,U.S.Highway441thefollowingfour(4)coursesanddistances;South

89"57'19"West,207.30feet;thenceNorth00"O2'27"West,164.96feet;thenceNorth89"56'41"East,200.02feet;

thenceNorth00"O2'50"West,80.66feettoapointofintersectionofsaidEastlineofLot2,theexistingRight-of-Way

lineofsaidStateRoad500,U.S.441,witha pointon a non-tangentcurveconcaveSoutherly,havinga radiusof

2,053.48feet,acentralangleof14"51'20"andachordbearinganddistanceofSouth72*12'18"East,530.93feet;

thencealongsaidexistingRight-of-Waylinethefollowingfour(4)coursesanddistances;alongtheareofsaidcurve

532.42feet;thenceNorth25*13'22"East,10.00feettoapointonanon-tangentcurveconcaveSoutherly,havinga

radiusof2,063.48feet,acentralangleof12'56'18"andachordbearinganddistanceofSouth58"18'29"East,464.98

feet;thencealongthearcofsaidcurve465.97feettothepointoftangency;thenceSouth51"50'20"East,243.37

feettotheWestRight-of-WaylineofanUnnamedStreetbeingbetweenBlocks"A"and"B",alsobeingtheEastline

ofsaidLot4,Block"B",saidPlatBook"A",Page140;thenceSouth00"59'38"West,202.14feetalongsaidlineto

theSoutheastcornerofsaidLot4,Block"B";thencealongtheSouthlineofsaidLot4,alsobeingtheNorthRight-of-

Way lineof East6th StreetsaidPlatBook "A",Pagel40,North89*38'53"West,1,087.40feetto the POINT

OFBEGINNING.

Containing:617,295squarefeetor14.171acresmoreorless.

BeingaportionofthelandsdescribedandrecordedinOfficialRecordsBook1914,Pages332to333.Togetherwith

a portionofthelandsdescribedandrecordedinOfficialRecordsBook281,Pages55to57ofthePublicRecordsof

OrangeCounty,Florida.

AND

A portionoflandlyingintheSoutheast%ofSection10,Township21South,Range28East,OrangeCounty,Florida,

beingmoreparticularlydescribedasfollows:

BEGINattheSouthwestcornerofLot4,Block"A",L.F.Tilden'sAdditiontoApopkaCity,asrecordedinPlatBook"A",

Page140,PublicRecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida,saidpointbeingtheintersectionoftheNorthRightofWay line

ofEast6thStreetasrecordedinsaidPlatBook"A",Page140,andtheEastRightofWay lineofsaidUnnamedStreet

beingbetweenBlocks"A"and"B",alsobeingtheWestlineofsaidLot4,Block"A"ofsaidPlatBook"A",Page140;

thenceNorth00"59'38"East,136.23feetalongsaidlinetoapointofintersectionofsaidEastRight-of-Waylinewith

theexistingRight-of-WaylineofStateRoad 500,U.S.Highway441 as shown on theFloridaDepartmentof

TransportationRight-of-WayMap forStateRoad436,SectionNo.75120-2506;thencealongsaidexistingRight-of-

Way linethefollowingthree(3)coursesanddistances;South51'50'20"East,79.67feet;thenceSouth62'O2'34"

East,152.41feet;thenceSouth51"50'20"East,27.34feettoapointofintersectionwiththeNorthRight-of-Wayline

ofsaidEast6thStreetalsobeingtheSouthlineofsaidLot4andLot5,Block"A"saidPlatBook"A",Page140;thence

North89"38'53"West,221.13feetalongsaidlinetothePOINTOF BEGINNING.

Containing:14,355squarefeetor0.329acres,moreorless.

BeingthelandsdescribedinFinalJudgmentdatedNovember18th,1970,CivilActionNo.70-1115ofthePublic

RecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida.

405



EXHIBIT"C"- MAP OF THE CITYCENTER PROJECT

Cometary tilasonAve

8

IEntereApopka Church Of Th
gill]CityCenter ka TCa

StudyArea 1
***- - - - - 441 436

I
cody* ESernoran8d

on
Years1-10
CityOwned
Property Imdd or

nt) C Of

Years6-15 , RegionalLand
Asavailableor Sh<ppongRegional
requested Cnof a cent.' Shoppose

o 'Sr Cables
15St
a r
Years10-20 - 12e
Bypnateland E80St

uponrequest
am mmM

+e
SFrms

AgE10thSt h

no 51

Sandes
E120sSt : < CharlesE

406



I

0

11

INE
CF

NORTH

APOPKA

MASTER

DEVELOPMENT

PLAN-

ENLARGED

1"w200'

407



EXHIBIT"E"

CITYCENTER PROJECT

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS AND DESIGN CONDITIONS

1 Architecturaland Development Design Manual shallbe submittedtoand approved

by the Citypriorto the submittalof the firstbuildingpermit,and shallembrace

FloridaVernacular architecturaltheme unless otherwiseapproved by the City

Council. The manual shalladdressparkinggarages,Projectareaentrance\gateway

features,dumpsterpad and trashenclosurescreening,drive-throughfacilities,trash

receptacles,outdoorlightingstanchions,publicplazaand gatheringplaces,public

art,and appurtenancessuch asbenches,outdoorrailings,and trashdispensers.The

City's architecturaldesign consultantshall review all exteriorarchitectural

renderingsand make a determinationof consistencywith theArchitecturalDesign

Manual with an appealsreviewed by CityCouncil. The designmanual shallalso

addressbuildingmass and orientation.

2 Restaurants- A minimum of 30,000 squarefeetof floorareashallbe occupiedby

restaurantbusiness. A minimum of two (2)restaurantsshallprovide fulltable

service,sit-downdiningina stand-alonebuildingwithaminimum floorareaof6,500

squarefeet(exclusiveof outdoorseating)and shallofferatleastlunch and dinner

time fare. All restaurantsshallprovidecoveredoutdoorseatingunlessotherwise

determinedby theCommunity Development Directorthatthelocationisnotsuitable

foroutdoorseating.
3 All restaurantswith a drive-throughmust have in-storediningfacilities.No more

than threerestaurantsmay have drive-throughfacilities.Only one drive-through

laneallowed per restaurant(Tandem servicestationmay occur withinthe drive-

through lane).All drive-throughservicestationsand windows shallbe screened

from Main Streetand 6* Street.No restaurantswith drive-throughsmay be ofthe

fastfoodvarietythatdoesnottypicallypreparefoodtoorder. Examples includebut

arenot limitedto McDonalds, Burger King, Wendy's, Popeye's,KFC, Chic-Fil-A,

Taco Bell,etcetera.

4 Drive-throughfacilitiesatbanks orfinancialinstitutionsshallnotexceedtwo service

stations.

5 ParkingPlan. A parkingplan and studyshallbe providedpriorto constructionof

more than 20,000 squarefeetof non-residentialdevelopment. The parkingplan

shalldemonstratethatsufficienton-siteand on-streetparkingisavailablewithin500

feetoftheprojectboundary forProjectemployees and patrons.

6 No more than20,000squarefeetofofficespaceshallbe constructeduntila fulltable

service,sitdown restaurant(6,500sq.f.tmin.)isalsounder construction.

7 Building Mass: Any single-storycommercial retailbuildingshallnot exceed

65,000squarefeetfloorarea.

8 North of Sixth Streetand south of Main Street:Residentialdevelopment isnot

allowedon thefirstfloorofbuildings.

408



9 All residentialapartmentsor townhomes shallbe developed as luxuryor up-scale
rentalor condominium dwellingsand shallincludethefollowingfeatures:abilityto

accessWirelessHigh Speed InternetAccess intheunits,balconyorporch,walk-in

showers,energy-efficientappliances,full-sizewasher and dryermachines,walk-in

closets,and minimum 9-foothigh ceilings;and the complex shallincludebicycle

storageareas. No laundrycenterallowed. Enclosed garage or covered parking

spacesareencouraged.
10 Any hotelbe interiorroom accessonly and shallhave a minimum of 70 keyed

bedrooms and shallatminimum providea lobby,customer lounge,businesscenter,
and a meetingroom.

11 Office: A minimum of 25,000 squarefeetand a maximum of 100,000squarefeet

ofofficespaceisallowedwithintheProject.
12 BuildingOrientation.All buildingslocatednear Main Streetor streetsinternalto

theprojectshallbe orientedwiththefrontofthebuildingfacingthestreet.

409



EXHIBIT"F"- PERMITTED USES

1. ResidentialMulti-Family(non-subsidized,market rent)

2. AssistedLivingFacilities

3. ProfessionalOffice/Institutional

4. Commercial Neighborhood

5. RetailCommercial

6. GeneralCommercial,includingbut notlimitedto:

a. medical

b. entertainment

c. hotel

d. restaurantand barfacilities

7. Parksand Recreation

8. Mixed-Use

9. Planned UnitDevelopment

410



EXHIBIT"G" - NON-PERMITTED USES

1. DollarStore(s),

2. Tattooparlors;
3. Any stateorgovernmental office;

4. Plasma offices;

5. Adultmotel,AdultPerformance Establishment,AdultTheater,Adult

booths,Adultbookstore,adultvideostore,AdultEntertainment,Adult

EntertainmentEstablishment(s)Establishmentas definedinthe City

Code, Sec 10-98,asamended, oras definedinthe Orange County

Code, asamended, orany businessthatdisplays,sellsor providesAdult

MaterialorAdultModel servicesas definedinSec 10-98ofthe City

Cod e;

6. Billboardsor Outdoor Displayadvertisingboardsor polemounted

structures;

7. Celltowers (exceptroof-mounted);

8. Recycling,refuseorgarbage facilitiesor substations(excluding

individualtrashreceptacles);

9. Outdoor storageofequipment;

10. Automotive salesor service;

11. Automotive partssales;

12. Gas stations;

13. ReligiousFacilitiesor Churches;

14. RentalCarStorage,exceptfor10 spacesmay be designatedforuse ata

satelliteofficeatthe hotel.

15. Fastfood restaurants(definedasthosethatdo nottypicallyprepare

food to order).Examples includebut are not limitedto McDonalds,

BurgerKing,Wendy's, Popeye's,KFC,Chic-Fil-A,Taco Bell,etcetera.

411



rk

EXHIBIT"H" - DRAINAGE BASIN

DRAINAGE BASIN (320.20 ne) .4

1.

thtt.Ar

(42 1150.2.449:..Vi th

*...,t...5'. a*ads.WWe

412


	Top
	1. 12-05-18 - CC - APPROVAL OF MINUTES 11/7/18
	11-07-18.docx

	1. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - Appointment of PC Member
	PC Appointment 12.05.18.docx
	William Gusler PC Application and Resume.pdf

	2. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent - PD - To enter Firing Range Lead Maintenance Program
	MT2 Range Rehabilitation Contract - 12.05.18.docx
	MT2  Proposal Lead Maintenance Apopka 11.16.18.pdf

	3. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - PS - HOA Street light Agree Silver Oak Ph 1
	Streetlight HOA Silver Oak Phase 1 - 12.05.18.docx
	Silver Oak Ph1 HOA Street lights.pdf

	4. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - OCPS Concurrency Mitigation Agreement - Carriage Hill, Ph.2
	1 Carriage Hill Phase 2OCPS Concurrency Mitigation Agreement Staff Report 12-5-18 C.pdf

	5. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - Sewer &amp; Water Capacity Agreement - Carriage Hill, Ph. 2
	1 Carriage Hill Ph 2 Sewer &amp;amp; Water Cap grnsht.pdf
	2 Carriage Hill Ph 2 Sewer &amp;amp; Water Capacity Agreement.pdf

	6. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent - CA - Blanket Purchase Orders
	Blanket Purchase Orders - 12.05.18.docx

	7. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent - PD - Puchase of Police Vehicles
	Vehicle Purchase 2018-A - 12.05.18.docx

	8. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - PS - Sanitation Front Load Truck
	Sanitation Front End Loader - 12.05.18.docx

	9. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - PS Fleet Public Services Vehicles
	PS Vehicles (3) - 12.05.18.docx

	10. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent - PD - Donation of two Police surplus vehicles
	Vehicle Donation GS - 12.05.18.docx
	Vehicle Transfer Agreement.docx

	11. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent - Christmas Parade
	X-mas Parade Road Closures 12.05.18.docx
	Parade Staging Map.pdf

	12. 12-05-18 - CC - Consent - Festival of Trees
	Festival of Trees.docx
	Festival of Trees Brochure.pdf

	1. 12-05-18 - CC  - Business - Final Development Plan - Special Ops Tactical Site Plan
	1 Special Ops Tactical Lot 8 Lake Gem FDP - CC 12.5.18.pdf
	2 Special Ops Tactical - Lake Gem Lot 8 - FDP.pdf

	2. 12-05-18 - CC - Business - Joint Planning Agreement (JPA) 3rd Amendment
	1 Agenda - JPA 3rd Amendment Staff Report, CC12-5-18.pdf
	2 Third Amendment to Settlement Interlocal Agreement (JH)-clean.pdf

	1. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2645 - Second Read - Large Scale FLUM - Greer
	1 Greer FLU CC2 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2645.pdf
	3 Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Character Districts.pdf
	4 Future Land Use Element_Policy 18.pdf
	5 JPA 2nd Amend_Signed.pdf

	2. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2670 - First Read - Large Scale FLUM - Radam Investments LLC
	1 Radam FLU CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2670.pdf
	3 Radam Concept Master  Plan-09-12-18.pdf

	3. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2676 - First Read - Administration - Small Scale FLUM - Prasad
	1 Prasad FLU CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2676.pdf

	4. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2677 - First Read - Administrative - Change of Zoning - Prasad
	1 Prasad RZ CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2677.pdf

	5. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2682 - First Read - Administrative - Small Scale FLUM - Bankson
	1 Bankson FLU CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2682.pdf

	6. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2683 - First Read - Administrative - Change of Zoning - Bankson
	1 Bankson RZ CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2683.pdf

	7. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2684 - First Read - Administrative - Small Scale FLUM - Nelson
	1 Nelson FLU CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2684.pdf

	8. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2685 - First Read - Administrative Change of Zoning - Nelson
	1 Nelson RZ CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2685.pdf

	9. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2686 - First Read - Administrative - Small Scale FLUM - Cook
	1 Cook FLU CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2686.pdf

	10. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2687 - First Read - Administrative - Change of Zoning - Cook
	1 Cook RZ CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2687.pdf

	11. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2688 - First Read - Administrative - Small Scale - FLUM - Verduzco
	1 Verduzco FLU CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2688.pdf

	12. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2689 - First Read - Administrative - Change of Zoning - Verduzco
	1 Verduzco RZ CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2689.pdf

	13. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2690 - First Read - Large Scale FLUM - Hamirck
	1 Hamrick FLU CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2690.pdf

	14. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2691 - First Read - Large Scale - FLUM - Cantero Holdings, LLC
	1 Cantero FLU CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2691.pdf
	4 Future Land Use Element_Policy 18.pdf
	3 WPIVP Character Districts Description.pdf
	5 JPA 2nd Amend_Signed.pdf

	15. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #s 2692-2695 - 1st Read - Annexation - SR 429 Groups A through D
	429 West CC1 12-5-2018.pdf
	ORDINANCE NO 2692.pdf
	ORDINANCE NO 2693.pdf
	ORDINANCE NO 2694.pdf
	ORDINANCE NO 2695.pdf

	16. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2696 - First Read - Annexation - CHS Management Corporation
	1 CHS Management Corp -  Annex - Staff Report - CC 12.05.2018.pdf
	2 Ord 2696 - CHS Management Corp - Annexation.pdf

	17. 12-05-18 - CC - Ordinance - Code of Ordinances
	Recodification of Code 12.05.18.docx
	Ordinance 2698 - Recodification.doc

	18. 12-05-18 - CC - Resolution - Resolution No. 2018-25 - ROW transfer to FDOT
	1 City Center Property along US 441 Vacate Staff Report CC 12-5-18 C.pdf
	2 RESOLUTION 2018-25 CITY CENTER ROADWAY PROPERTY CONVEYANCE 11-28-2018.pdf
	3 EXHIBIT A TO RESOLUTION 2018-25 C I T Y   D E E D.pdf
	4 ROW MAP.pdf
	5 Development Agreement - Taurus Southern.pdf

	1. 12-05-18 - CC - Mayors Report - Attorney
	Bottom

